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- (Chairman’s Statement
EV &

The Hon TAI Tal
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Dear Shareholders,

During the year under review, the global economy faced ongoing
volatility, driven by escalating geopolitical tensions. The consumer
market remained under pressure while the operating environment was
challenging. The Group continued to be proactive, demonstrating
resilience and determination, while maintaining steady progress. By
capitalising on its strong brand, diverse strategies, and strong market
insights, the Group effectively navigated these challenges, ensured

stable growth, and positioned itself to seize future opportunities.

The Group is committed to expanding its business in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Japan, using the connectivity of these markets
to drive growth, synergy, efficiency and competitiveness. In Hong
Kong, flagship store “Seas of Flavour” leverages the Group’s strong
brand by blending physical shop, online platform, marketing venue,
and innovative products to fuel expansion. The Group’s relocation to
the Four Seas Group Centre sets a solid foundation for future success.
In Mainland China, beginning with the Greater Bay Area, the Group
taps into the vast domestic market through its online and offline
sales channels to introduce international snacks, set food trends, and
expand nationwide, while promoting Chinese food globally under the
Four Seas brand in parallel. In Japan, Miyata Co., Ltd. (“Miyata”)
contributes to the Group’s efforts in four areas, including products,
platforms, pricing, and market. The Group brings unique Japanese
products to Hong Kong and Greater Bay Area cities while exporting
Hong Kong and Mainland-made foods to Japan through Miyata’s

network, offering Japanese consumers fresh and exciting flavours.
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Chairman’s Statement
EV &

RESULTS

In the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group’s consolidated revenue was HKS$3,625,422,000 (2024:
HK$3,898,222,000). The profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company was HK$10,164,000 (2024: HK$34,657,000).

During the year under review, consumer markets in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, and Japan experienced a slowdown, leading to lower
turnover compared to the previous year. Consumer spending became
more cautious amid slower economic growth under the backdrop of
relatively high interest rates and ongoing geopolitical tension across

the Group’s operating regions.

Facing a weak consumer goods market, the Group proactively sold
products at more affordable prices. Although this led to a short-term
decrease in revenue, it successfully attracted more customers, brought
maximum benefits, and further strengthened the Group’s market
leadership. Additionally, the negative impacts above-mentioned were
partially mitigated by the Group’s proactive cost control initiatives,
which included measures such as streamlining operational processes,
negotiating better terms with suppliers, and optimizing labour costs
through workforce restructuring and scheduling efficiencies. Besides,
the weaker Renminbi and Japanese yen against the Hong Kong Dollar

supported the Group’s performance, keeping results in line with

market expectations.
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Chairman’s Statement
EV &

Hong Kong

Sales derived from the Hong Kong segment amounted to
HK$1,774,086,000 (2024: HK$1,851,052,000), accounting for 49%
of the Group’s total sales. The businesses in Hong Kong have been
affected by various factors, including elevated interest rates, slower
economic growth and a growing shift toward cross-border shopping
and dining. These dynamics have created a challenging outlook for the
consumer market. Nonetheless, the foundation of the Group remains
robust, with strong market support for food distribution, wholesale,

and retail operations.

Mainland China

Sales in Mainland China were HK$586,546,000 (2024:
HK$682,460,000), accounting for 16% of the Group’s total turnover.
In terms of Renminbi, sales in Mainland China were RMB543,299,000
(2024: RMB624,963,000). The slowdown in revenue from Mainland
China was partly due to consumers being relatively cautious about
their spending and having a strong desire to save, and also due to the
weak Renminbi during the review period, resulting in a corresponding

decrease when converted to Hong Kong dollars.

Japan

Sales in Japan were HK$1,264,790,000 (2024: HK$1,364,710,000),
accounting for 35% of the Group’s total turnover. In terms of Japanese
yen, revenue in Japan was JPY24,703 million (2024: JPY25,179
million). During the review period, the continuous rise in commodity
prices in Japan has led to a stronger tendency for consumers to
save and weak consumption growth. In addition, Japanese yen was
weakened generally, resulting in a corresponding decline in sales

revenue when converted to Hong Kong dollars.
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Chairman’s Statement
EV &

Distribution Business

Food distribution is the
core business of the
Group, underpinned by
long-term partnerships,
a robust distribution
network, and a diverse
range of products.
With a commitment
to innovation and
excellence, the Group
delivers high-quality
food to consumers.

The Group has an extensive distribution network, including
department stores, supermarkets, convenience stores, fast food chains,
wholesalers, retailers, restaurants, bars, hotels, airlines, as well as its
own “Okashi Land” Japanese snack stores, “YOKU MOKU” cookies
stores, “Japanese Ice Cream House” and the newly launched flagship
store “Seas of Flavour”, selling the products it covers comprehensively
to meet the diverse needs of Hong Kong consumers. The Group
establishes long-term partnerships with renowned food manufacturers
and acts as an agent for many food products from various countries
and regions worldwide. Food categories covered milk powder,
biscuits, cakes, candies, chocolates, chips, snacks, instant noodles,
beverages, alcohol, soy sauce, seasonings, ham, sausages, chicken,
beef, pork, seafood, and vegetables. These products satisfied various

needs of Hong Kong consumers.

The Group also focuses on the distribution of high-quality food
products related to people’s livelihood, including Japanese eggs,
Japanese dairy products, “Imuraya” tofu, and Japanese rice. Japanese
eggs, in particular, achieved outstanding sales performance and
became a stable income source for the Group.

Manufacturing Business

The Group believes that food safety is fundamental to building
consumer trust. It places great emphasis on food quality and hygiene
to safeguard consumer health, achieving the goal of “Safe and Happy
Eating”. The Group’s food quality meets international standards
and is highly praised, receiving multiple quality food certifications,
including “HACCP”, “ISO 9001, “ISO 220007, and “GMP” system
certifications, the “Q-Mark License” of the Hong Kong Q-Mark
Certification Scheme for over 30 years, and the “HKQAA Hong Kong
Registration — Oil” from the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency,

underscoring its unwavering commitment to food safety.
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The Group operates 17 food processing plants in Hong Kong and the
Mainland China, producing a range of speciality food, with a one-stop
production and flexible sales strategy, targeting different market needs
and consolidating its leading position in the industry. For example,
Calbee Four Seas Co., Ltd., has two food production plants — one in
Tseung Kwan O Industrial Estate in Hong Kong and the other one in
Shantou, Mainland China— producing popular snacks like potato chips,
shrimp strips and corn sticks, for which there is high demand in both

Hong Kong and Mainland China.

Retail and Catering Businesses

The Group’s Chinese and Japanese restaurants are highly regarded in
Guangdong and Hong Kong. During the year, the catering operations
in Hong Kong and the Mainland China continued to attract customers,
with brands including “Shiki ¢ Etsu” Japanese restaurant, “Kung Tak
Lam” Shanghai vegetarian restaurant, “Sushiyoshi” Japanese omakase
restaurant, Mainland China’s “Sushi Oh” revolving sushi restaurant
and the “Panxi” restaurant in Guangzhou — continuing to be loved by
diners. During the year under review, the Group launched the “Noble
Chiu Chow Restaurant” in Tsim Sha Tsui and “The CHOYA Ginza
BAR” in Causeway Bay, which specialises in umeshu tasting, further
invigorating the Group’s catering businesses. Additionally, Murray
Catering Company Limited, which focuses on providing lunchboxes
and tuck-shop services to Hong Kong schools, has achieved widely

recognised success in its operations.

In the retail market, the Group’s brands — such as “Okashi Land”
Japanese snack special stores, “Japanese Ice Cream House” Japanese
specialty ice cream and snack stores, “Miyata Store” and “YOKU
MOKU” cookie stores, have become iconic snacks destinations in
Hong Kong, attracting a large group of customer base. Recently, the
Group further expanded its presence by opening the 20,000-square-
foot “Seas of Flavour” in Causeway Bay and a 6,000-square-foot
flagship “Four Seas Okashi Land” store in Shenzhen’s Luohu District,
near Sungang Metro Station. These outlets showcase the Group’s
premium distributed and
self-produced food products.
The “Seas of Flavour”,

the Group’s largest retail

BEARERBRER
SEAS OF FLAVOUR

space in Hong Kong, offers
an immersive experience
with global delicacies
and innovative interactive
displays, delivering the
latest in snack indulgence to

consumers.

Chairman’s Statement
EVE &

A 45 1] A v I P R o R 1T R R >
TE 2R A [ R 5 G i > SR EAT — ol SN R
B 45 SR > DL 3G HE ST 5 ) B RR T oK > e — 2
A 4 1 g SR A o DAACSR BE T R TR 46B 1Y
WA R F 2Bl > 3% 2 5] H BT EEA A OK R A A
Fe > 43 AT A 9 F 5 B RS R A e (g Py
WSET > R E R SRR TR RPN R
ToF 8 B A > By 1 7 9 B v I 1 i o
F o

ZHERKED

AR T P~ H A B B B R B
PRIFRESE I o A4 I 16 75 9 B P o Y 8 R 2B 05
BEERR IR TR E . 5 H AR
B~ [oh 8 bk b3 K & ~ [ 7% % 7 Sushiyoshi | »
oo [ 7% ) 52 | H A e 5 ) N S B N Y [ e
B DIRHRE o ZAC 4 ) a] R AE B A AE 4R VP nEL PR
a3 [ 7 J ] N S i A B A A G R~ R S B
1 1 [ The CHOYA )% BAR| » BEREHKENS
JCAL IR B Ty o BEAb 5 A SR I P A A U B AR SR AL
A % R T /0N B R A W SR AR A IR B A PR ]

RGNS )i » REEREOITREN T ZETWaE
HAZEHME - [HARTRE | B ARGEARREE
BEHEHME - [HHEEID AT YOKU MOKU ] i #F
HERE > RN A FBEET MR > WAR S BE
T B o S 4R B T A O 3 A A S 6 5 B B A ol
20,000°F 75 JL A [ 1Y 90 £ 5 8 B o 1 » DL IR Yol 2
T [0 45 el B 3 3% 5 A H16,000°F 7 R T U 2 &9
RN s o SH B KRR AR SR E g R AR ELR B A AR
JE P BB A o v [ O B ) R AR 4
EFENEKRTE
o BRI K HE
RS I NS
M AT H B
B BHBEEWR
B R o

oY A AR A
“E_AFFER

1



12

Chairman’s Statement
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BRAND DEVELOPMENT

Established in 1971 and listed on the stock exchange in 1993,
the Group has grown alongside Hong Kong, with the city as its
headquarters. With over 50 years of dedicated operations, the Group
has expanded from wholesale distribution to retail business, from food
manufacturing to catering, achieving comprehensive diversification
while consistently pursuing innovation across the supply chain. The
Group stands as a leader in the local snack and food market, with its
brand being both well-known and reputable.

As one of the largest food enterprises in Hong Kong, the Group
adheres to the business philosophy of keeping pace with the times
and being innovative, serving Hong Kong consumers while playing
the important role of snack diplomat, and actively expanding into
the Mainland China and overseas markets. The acquisition five
years ago of Miyata, a business with over 90 years of history in
Japan, has enabled the Group to form a large sales network spanning
across Mainland China, Hong Kong, and Japan, while realising the

“interconnection” of food, introducing and promoting food from

various regions, and facilitating the exchange of food cultures.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group upholds the spirit of “Taking from Society, Giving Back
to Society”, actively contributing to Hong Kong’s social development
through welfare initiatives, volunteer efforts, and youth programmes.
By embedding sustainability into every facet of its operations, the
Group supports diverse causes, including beach clean-ups and the
annual Hong Kong Tree Planting Day. Under its “Four Seas with
Love” motto, the Group works with communities to build a sustainable
future for Hong Kong. During the year under review, Four Seas Group
received the “Super MD” title from the Employee Retraining Board
(EDB) for the year 2025 — 2030. Calbee Four Seas Co., Ltd. was
awarded the “Caring Company” by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service for 20 consecutive years and was recognised as a signatory
of the Labour Department’s “Good Employer Charter” for three
consecutive terms (2018, 2020 and 2024), earning the “Supportive
Family-friendly Good Employer” accreditation. Additionally, the
Group was honoured as a “10-Year Good MPF Employer” and a “Best
All-round MPF Employer” by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority.

The Group has also been acknowledged in multiple areas: “YOKU
MOKU” was recognised as a “Quality Tourism Services” merchant
by the Hong Kong Tourism Board; “Okashi Land” was awarded the
“Top Mark” and “The Hong Kong Q-Mark Service (Cyan) Scheme”
by the Hong Kong Brand Development Council and the Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong; “Sushiyoshi” was named
one of the “100 Top Tables 2025” by the South China Morning Post;
“LOTTE Ice Cream” was honoured as “Star Supermarket Brand
(Ice Cream)” at the PARKnSHOP Super Brand Awards 2024 and

“Outstanding Sales Performance Awards” from 7-Eleven.

Environmental responsibility is deeply embedded in the Group’s
values and business practices. It has dedicated resources towards
minimising environmental impact through various initiatives
and operational improvements. Further details of the Group’s
environmentally focused efforts are provided in our Environment,

Social and Governance Report 2025.
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Chairman’s Statement

T

PROSPECTS AND GROWTH

The Group’s business strategy is centred on “Rooted in Hong Kong,
Expanding to Mainland China, and Reaching Out to the World”.
In light of the prevailing global economic trends, the Group plans
proactively for the future. Despite economic uncertainties across the
globe, it remains confident in its future development. The Group will
continue to present new products, flavours, styles, and experiences to
the customers. This will fuel future growth and maintain the Group’s
leading position in the food industry. Hong Kong is a culinary paradise
that seamlessly blends local and international flavours. The Group is
committed to enhancing its role in international exchanges, facilitating
the introduction of food delights from Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Japan to the global stage.

Business in Hong Kong

The Group continues to drive the comprehensive development of the
“Seas of Flavour” in Causeway Bay. Spanning over 20,000 square
feet, the store serves as an integrated platform combining exhibitions,
marketing, and retail of gourmet specialities, offering local and
international food enthusiasts a unique experience. Customers can
indulge in the Group’s diverse culinary offerings while exploring a
dynamic and innovative environment. This initiative not only expands
the Group’s sales channels but also enhances the promotional impact
of its brand, supported by strong online sales. Furthermore, the
Group will collaborate with JD.com, a leading e-commerce platform
in Mainland China, to further strengthen its e-commerce presence in
Hong Kong. With the steady recovery of tourist arrivals and renewed
economic activities, the Group is confident that its distribution,
manufacturing, and catering businesses will sustain growth

momentum.

Business in Mainland China

Against the backdrop of a global economic downturn, the Mainland
China economy has performed relatively steadily. The Group has
built a strong reputation in Mainland China by offering a wide range
of high-quality food products and attentive services. Looking ahead,
the Group will align with national development initiatives to increase
the market share, especially in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area, creating more business opportunities. Additionally,
the Group continues to drive business development through both
online and offline channels, selling on major e-commerce platforms
such as Taobao, Tmall, and JD.com. By leveraging the momentum of
e-commerce and employing popular influencer marketing strategies,
the Group aims to boost sales and expand its market presence in
Mainland China. Furthermore, the Group will enhance its visibility
through offline initiatives, including the flagship store “Four Seas
Okashi Land”. Meanwhile, the Group is actively promoting Chinese

food globally, driving its international expansion.
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Business in Japan

The acquisition of Miyata lays a solid foundation for the growth of
Four Seas Group in the future. The Group will leverage Miyata’s
procurement network to introduce more high-quality Japanese food
products to Hong Kong and Mainland China. Furthermore, the Group
will utilise this platform to bring high-quality food from Hong Kong
and Mainland China to the Japanese market, enhancing its role in
international exchanges and fostering connectivity among the food
markets of Hong Kong, Mainland China, and Japan to achieve
synergistic benefits. The Group is confident that the business strategy
will enhance its performance, given Japan’s reputation for exceptional
snacks and the strong demand for Japanese cuisine in both Hong
Kong and Mainland China. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
expand the Japanese market, optimising and integrating its operations

to support the overall success of the Group.
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- Major Awards
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Continuous recognition & awards rece|ved during this year

MHEBAZBRARENRREX 2 — REXEHARBNSEEER
e UHHTEBDEAMERME  BEEREY  MAZKWMFENEER

HE e

Four Seas Group is one of the leading food enterprises in Hong Kong,
distributing various kinds of renowned food brands from around the world.
The Group has been developing its own premium brand successfully, and
has been highly recognised and accredited with various awards.

AEBIFEEHEEBEIRBUTRE

ATinAT

The following awards are granted to our Group’s Chairman, Dr. Stephen Tai:

RE/ B

Award/Recognition

REABE

Grand Bauhinia Medal (GBM)

TEHER

Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS)

JBREXE

Order of the Rising Sun, Gold and Silver Rays
BHIRRR

Industrialist of the Year Award

020FFBRLRAARE
2020 Hong Kong Distinguished Brand Leader Award

(B « FEAMAR
RRRRERLEEARELE

Honorary Certificate of “Distinguished Management Entrepreneur”

RRALEA DERER
2011E 7 » ZABERAEEANR
By LS PN

Top 10 Business Leader of Asia Brand

2012-20132 IREEH S A 22

Worldwide Prominent Chiu Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013

PEERSCEMR[RAYEN LD AREME]
“Most Influential Listed Company Leader” of

The China Securities Golden Bauhinia Awards

B ER 2

Outstanding Contribution Award
(teEELE A2 ENHEBEAHE]

BREE
Organiser
ERBATRERR
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
ERBRTHENR
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
AR
The Government of Japan
EAI¥ME
Federation of Hong Kong Industries
EEMERRR
Hong Kong Brand Development Council
ERNERBHAE
The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong
BRAMBTINZBHFA
TEERZ2FE
China Food Safety Annual Conference
SREME RS RPE R LR
BRREARUABBHLEREREHERS

DNREGE - (RREH) i D ERCERRGE  DNCERSY  BX
BYZhELEENRRY  EXRYZCBERERNRY  REEAHTE
RERSESUABATH
WRERTHELEES
TXCS Economic Conference 2013
ERAABHALR LR AANE  LETROAARGERERPEERSR
BEERBREERSHBNEEER AR TH

EXER
Capital
HELERRR

“Asian Social Caring Leadership Award” of Social Caring Pledge Scheme  Social Enterprise Research Institute
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Major Awards
ERIEIH

2 /5% FEELET R =
Award/Recognition Awardees Organiser
NEPUSHARER Bi&E et
20 Years Plus Caring Company Four Seas Group Hong Kong Council of Social Service
{Super MD)E 2025200 BA&E EEALIR
“Super MD" Titl for the year 2025-2030. Four Seas Group Employees Retraining Board
DEf P ER mHEE HELZHRA
Qutstanding Social Caring Organisation Award Four Seas Group Social Enterprise Research Institute
[ Em R AR 2028 BHEEERA an730 PRASIA EHAE
ListCo Excellence Awards 2023 Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Lid. EEHER
[EREERS |RBL%8 mi&E EREERTRE
Authenticated Member of Hong Kong Quality Brand Four Seas Group Association of Hong Kong Quality Brand
IS01ESERRET R BtRRR(IEERAT HEEERTA)
109001 Quality Management System Certficate CFSS Company Limited China Qualty Certfication Centre
150220008 R % 2 EBRATE B rARRIEERAT PG
15022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate CFSS Company Limited China Qualty Certfication Centre
NEPLSEREER FHBMAERLA EkieRREe
20 Years Plus Caring Company Calbeg Four Seas Company Limited Hong Kong Council of Social Service
NFREEH3E 2] Super MD 20232028 | &7 FEBRHRRAR EEELIR
“Super MD 2023-2028" of Manpower Developer Award Scheme Calbee Four Seas Company Limited Employees Retraining Board
GMPR AR &R R FHBMAERAA ERBRALR
GMP Certficate Calbee Four Seas Company Limited SGS Hong Kong Limited
HACCPR E A RERBHERSTR FHBMARRLA EERRLR
HACCP Certiicate Calbee Four Seas Company Limited SGS Hong Kong Limited
50220008 R % 2 EBRATE ~EBIAER AT ERBRANE
18022000 Food Safety Management System Certifcate (Calbee Four Seas Company Limited SGS Hong Kong Limited
HRIFRINEIRERRRRAITRIZIHELNER FEBMAER AR 31k
Signatory of “Good Employer Charter” and *Supportive Family-friendly Good  Calbee Four Seas Company Limited Labour Department
Employer” accreditation
[BEFEII0ERI2EREHEL] ~EBIAAR AT B4R
(Good MPF Employer 10 Years and Best All-tound MPF Employer Calbee Four Seas Company Limited Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
HACCPEE A REREHZBADRER (V10) FRDNARHRARAT REDE
HACCP Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point System Certifcation Intertek Certification Limited
Requirements (V1.0)
FSSC22000 VbR R 2 ERR AT 2R E FEBHAEHRERLA R#LE
FSSC 22000 v6 Food Safety System Cerifcation Intertek Certfication Limited
1509001:2015 EBR AT B E FEDNREHRRRLE PN
150 9001:2015 Quality Management System Certiicate Intertek Certification Limited
BiiiLE BEENFLEERAA ERANERIE
Tsun Fat (Huizhou) Biscuit Factory L. ERENNE
AFnBERERENER
A REARN5ZALER LEfAAEE B
“Best-Ever Japanese Cuisine” of Best-Ever Dining Awards 2015 Shii Etsu Japanese Restaurant Weekend Weekly Magazine
[BENERR 2THF HENLEER ERERRR
“QTS Merchant" of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Viegetarian Cuisine Hong Kong Tourism Board
100 Top Tables 2025 L5 BERg
Sushiyoshi South China Morning Post
15EPUSERESR EEUE EhieRiEe
15 Years Plus Caring Company Okashi Land Hong Kong Council of Social Service
ERLEEED 2803 hEER
The Most Popular Hong Kong and Macau Brand Okashi Land China Media
[BENERY ATHF EEUE BRI ERRR
“QTS Merchant" of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme Okashi Land Hong Kong Tourism Board
[EREERS |REL%48 2812 EREERTIE
Authenticated Member of Hong Kong Quality Brand Okashi Land Association of Hong Kong Quality Brand
[EAZEES (Topk) | 2RUE EERRERR
Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark) Okashi Land Hong Korg Brand Developmem Council
The Chinese Manutac urers” Association of Hong Kong
BBz nRABNG ERETRREZEAR)] £ iR
‘Star-grade Supermarket Brand (Breakfast Ham)” of PARKnSHOP Maid Brand PARKnSHOP Supermarket
Super Brands Award 2025
[ERLRE (Topk) | B RRERERAT EERRERR
Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark) Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited Hong Kor}% Brand Developmem Council
The Chinese Manutac turers” Association of Hong Kong
BfEREREAS052] iﬁﬁmuuwiﬁ) M EERfTE
“Star-grade Supermarket Brand (Snacks)” of Four Seas PARKnSHOP Supermarket
PARKnSHOP Super Brands Award 2025
EERGAREZIZARRR-2RRIRE B EE#fing
“Top Favourite Brand - Chips & Snacks” of Brand Champions Awards Four Seas Wellcome Supermarket
T-Hleven® h ke 85 2 HER LR AL 48 T-Eleven Al
“Outstanding Sales Performance Award of 7-Eleven, “Chips and Biscuits” ~ Calbee T-Eleven Convenience Store L 7
[EERRAE] 48 2ERfng FARNAA e W
“Supreme Brand Awards” Calbee Wellcome Supermarket
EEQETH 0E 2R SHENE EAREEER ,
HK Q-Mark Product Scheme for over 30 years - Q-Mark Licence Maid Ham Hong Kong Q-Mark Council /&, . 4 ) e
I F R QIR E T AT o [ sating e, e oS
Certain recognition/awards are only provided with official Chinese name. T e ke
U PN L AR A A
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Management Discussion and Analysis

B B kB a3 AT

S

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+—-HIL&EE

2025 2024 Change
SRR RN e
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M 7t BT o
Key items of consolidated statement of T AR KEH
profit or loss
Revenue WA 3,625,422 3,898,222 —7.0%
Gross Profit EH 868,285 912,186 —4.8%
EBITDA REtFE - s - e R
i & W v 1 144,656 161,383 -10.4%
Profit attributable to equity holders 5% BB O AR 2 E RE 25 B R A i )
of the Company 10,164 34,657 =70.7%
Key financial ratios F B e R
Gross profit margin EcYilE:S 23.9% 23.4%
Net profit margin Al 2 0.3% 0.9%
Inventory turnover days VL SN 3 40 37
Trade receivables turnover days JRE Wi B2 5 M ek R R 4 61 60
Trade payables turnover days JRE AT B 5 MR 2 ) o K 3 35 35
Notes: WETE
1. EBITDA refers to earnings before interest (other than interest on lease 1. REFFIE ~ iR - 8 K B 85 A v AR 38 R 51 R

liabilities), income tax, depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
depreciation of right-of-use assets relating to prepaid land lease payments
and leasehold land, and amortisation but exclude share of profits and
losses of associates and joint ventures.

B (HERATM BB ~ AR - 3% - W Kot
YT EE ~ AT L AL R )k B A 5 - b A B 6 T A
FAETTEE KRG AT A OF &5 AN 2 A 7 R a8
i S A K 4R) o

2. Net profit margin is calculated as profit attributable to equity holders of 2.
the Company divided by revenue.

IR SR 2 T 25 T A AR T B B DAL B

3. The calculation of inventory and trade payables turnover days is based on 3.
the average of the opening and closing balances divided by cost of sales
and multiplied by number of days for the year.

A7 B T B A S 5 DRk ) R W T A4 90 o R R
A P 1 32 e DL G A o DL T R G B o

JRE Wi BT o M i ] A W R R BT AR A ik v
- 34 W i DA A P 3R DA AR R T 5

4. The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the average 4.,
of the opening and closing balances divided by revenue and multiplied by
number of days for the year.

During the year, revenue of the Group was HK$3,625,422,000 (2024:
HK$3,898,222,000) representing a decrease of 7.0%. Gross profit
as a percentage of the revenue was 23.9% (2024: 23.4%) for the

ER > REEZ A K3,625,422,0009 70 (ZF Y
4F : 3,808,222,000% 58) > T K7.0% o A4 JEEF
BN Z el 2523.9% (R ZVU4E £ 23.4%) 6
Al 4 % 22 4 2.912,186,000 JC Il A B A JE 2
868,285,000 JC > 78 Bl I &> T43,901,000% JC > #H
BERWA4.8% o ARAFJEZ AREEARFF B - 3
B~ 7 85 T B B T i R 45 144,656,000 T (%
ZPY4E 2 161,383,0009 J6) > ff AS 4F B R JE i AR A
] B 25 BT A A £510,164,0008 70 (R Y4 ¢
34,657,000% L) °

year. Gross profit decreased from HK$912,186,000 in the previous
year to HK$868,285,000 in the year, representing a decrease of
HK$43,901,000 which is equivalent to a decrease of 4.8%. EBITDA of
the Group for the year was HK$144,656,000 (2024: HK$161,383,000)
and profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year
was HK$10,164,000 (2024: HK$34,657,000).

7O AR A R A
“ER_REFR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year under review, sales revenue of the major items of the

B B kB a3 AT

TP T LA B o AR B i 2 B AT

Group are:
Year ended 31 March
BREZA=Z1—HILAEE

2025 2024 Change
SRR R IE GE e

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT W o
Snack /N 1,454,699 1,536,522 -5%
Confectionery R 1,110,739 1,214,599 9%
Ham, sausage and other grocery food items JBE ~ N B A A 1R B S 386,457 416,996 7%
Beverage and dairy products OB B LB 156,420 158,304 -1%
Food materials/ingredients and alcoholic drinks £ fi J5 R /Tt Bk K i 48 Kk i 229,825 248,593 -8%

The Group experienced a decline in revenue for its major products
during the year, attributed to a slowdown in market consumption.
Consumer spending has become more cautious amid slower economic
growth, influenced by relatively high interest rates and ongoing

geopolitical tensions in the regions where the Group operates.

Snack items remain the Group’s primary offerings. Revenue from
snacks has declined as compared to that of last year, though products
such as potato chips, sticks, and prawn crackers continue to resonate
with customers in Hong Kong, Mainland China, and Japan. To meet the
evolving needs of its customers, the Group plans to leverage Miyata’s

sourcing network to expand its snack product portfolio.

Confectionery items remain as the second most popular category for
the Group, though this category has seen a revenue decline due to the
current economic climate.

Revenue from ham, sausage, and other grocery food items has
decreased in parallel with the overall decline in the Group’s revenue.
Despite this downturn, the “Maid” brand ham and sausage remain

popular among consumers due to their high quality.

Sales of beverages and dairy products remained relatively stable,
with a slight decline of about 1%. This stability suggests consistent

consumer demand for these items.

The trend for food materials, ingredients, and alcoholic drinks aligns
with the overall revenue trend of the Group. A slowdown in the
catering business in Hong Kong, the primary customer base for these

items, has contributed to the decreased demand in this category.

PR T 355 0 B AR o AN 55 I B BT AR
W o 2R S e PR R R B AR 5 ] A M I A
Ho A BUIR BR R BB R I 1 AR RPN R B Y
ERVANREE & ZE L o T A

ZINERE i R AN AR T R o AR/ R IR
AL T W > R~ RN % 00 & i A
AW - P B S ARG & 5 e o 2y
W% PR B S B T 5R > KSR R R
PRI > AN REMALS

B SR i A3 AR R A A T 5 K e 2 O Y E i S
A A R AT RSP BB B W RUE AR
P B

SR ~ 7 W B A A B b F9 WO B A % R R
W AT BT () 25 A o A ANt > 4 R KRR A
i VA g ik B 0PS  % 3 e o O -

ORE B FL B ah 1 8 B IR AN B R > T 2k
#1109 o 35 TR S M 5 WD 90 ¢ = 2B 55 v b P 5 R R

e

B JFORE O B i SRR i 1 34 S A 4 ) e ik
NS B o FW IR ICEB R A R E
FRE > T 7 B S 25 W % A B e B Y 7 OR
TR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital, liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers.
As at 31 March 2025, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of HK$631,977,000. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had banking
facilities of HK$2,709,158,000 of which 46% had been utilised. The
Group had a net debt gearing ratio of 52% as at 31 March 2025.
This is expressed as the total bank borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company. Bank borrowings of the Group, denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, Japanese yen and Renminbi, mainly comprise trust receipt
loans and bank loans (the “Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings”)
at prevailing market interest rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank
Borrowings which are classified as current liabilities are repayable on
demand or within one year. The Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings
which are classified as non-current liabilities are either repayable over

one year or the Group has the right to roll over for another year.

Charges on assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group pledged its land and buildings
of approximately HK$282,064,000 and investment properties of
approximately HK$16,245,000 to secure the banking facilities granted
to the Group.

Capital commitments

The Group had capital commitments in respect of property, plant and
equipment which were contracted but not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$1,155,000 as at 31 March 2025.

Foreign currency exposure

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly from sales
and purchases transactions in Japanese yen and Renminbi. The
appreciation or devaluation of Japanese yen or Renminbi against Hong

Kong dollar will have impact on the Group’s operating results.

The Group’s foreign exchange position is monitored on an ongoing
basis in order to minimise the impact from the unfavourable
fluctuation of foreign currencies. The Group currently does not

maintain a foreign currency hedging policy.

B B kB a3 AT

REAR ~ L B B 4 B WA 080 U

AR A8 T — i DL P ER R B B A I B AL AR R AT R
HZEBEAEREZME R-FLE=H
Et—H o AREEMBEAZHERISEMEEA R
631,977,000 6 - R —FE _HFE=HA=+—H >
A 42 B AT SRAT A5 B4 252,709,158,000% 06 > Ho
46%CBH - RAEEMPR _F_HE=ZH=1+—H
ZEFAMEA R E52% > I8 B SRAT A% K 48 48 ool 25
Bl 4 o Bl 4 K TE H & BR DA 2 W HE 2% BTl 5 HEAN
RE2E Z L] o ASSE I Z SRATAE sk DAV G ~ A IE K& A
PO R G 5RO > W R ERARIRE AT R
Z A7 FEMCHR AR SR AT AR ([ B A B 2 SRAT 1
K1) o 4% 2 I B BAR 2 ZE AT R B 2 SR AT SRR
WERRR—FERNEE - B AR AR HMY
TR B Z RT3k & — R AR » SR AR
A5 A ] = B — 4 o

B 7 A

MR-B_HEZHA=Z+—H > REBHCKNH
282,064,000%5 T Y 1 1 J 4852 K £716,245,000% JC
MEGEWE > DIREGRTAREINBITEE -

AR IS

MR-F-HE=ZA=Z+—H » KEEBRDE - KF
Bkt 2 O RT #H AR I 7 i i W AR Ry
1,155,000 JC ©

A 1 B BB

A AR [ 2 32 By £ W LB R A DL H IR R N RO
TTZHFRZ S o HESN R 560 THE 8 {1 #F
BIAE M Z BB RS R R -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B e a3 A

Staff employment and remuneration policies

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2025 was
approximately 2,600. Remuneration packages are generally structured
by reference to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries
and wages are normally reviewed annually based on performance
appraisals and other relevant factors.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises the importance of environmental conservation
and employs various environmental protection and energy saving
measures in the business operation. In general, employees are
encouraged to reduce paper consumption, recycle paper and toner
cartridges, use electronic communication and filing, and reduce
travelling by using conference calls. The Group also installs energy
saving lighting systems in the workplaces.

The factories of the Group continuously devote effort in the
improvement of the water usage management and sewage treatment,
atmospheric emissions and energy utilisation efficiency. The measures
include construction of sewage stations to process waste water
discharged from factories and enhancement of the water cooling
system in factories resulted in reduction of water usage; installation of
dust bag filters and fume extraction and filtration system to reduce air
emissions; and review of energy consumption level on regular basis to

control the usage and find out further energy saving methods.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure the compliance in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.

Relationships with key stakeholders
Employees

The Group recognises human resources as an important capital and
emphasises on retention and development of staff.

Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally
reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other relevant
factors. Staff performance is assessed annually under an objective
framework. Interim reviews are also conducted to remunerate
employees with outstanding performances. To motivate staff in
achieving the Group’s business goal, incentives like performance—

based bonuses are rewarded to staff.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

To recognise staff loyalty, prizes are awarded to long-serving
staff annually as an appreciation of their long term services and
commitment to the Group. The Group also launches model employee
campaign each year in order to recognise the dedicated staff for their
outstanding performance and contributions to the Group. The Group
provides to staff both training held in-house and conducted by external
organisation covering a variety of subjects on sales techniques,
management skills, technical topics and personal development.

Members of the Group are accredited “Good MPF Employer” award
for ten consecutive years and “Best All-round MPF Employer” award
by Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority and “Super MD
2025-2030” of Manpower Developer Award Scheme by Employees
Retraining Board.

Customers

The Group values customers’ satisfaction and trust on the products
and services provided by the Group. The Group endeavors to source
brand new products and produce various food products in good quality
for the enjoyments of consumers in Hong Kong, Mainland China and

Japan.

Understanding the preference and feedback of consumers is important
for improving the quality of the Group’s products and services.
Various communication channels including customer hotline, company
website and social media are in place to enhance communications with

our customers.

Suppliers and business partners

The Group distributes various internationally renowned brands of
quality food products from many areas. Therefore, the Group places
strong emphasis on relationships and communications with suppliers.
The Group believes that constructive interactions and effective
communications with suppliers can enhance the efficiency of the entire
supply chain process including products procurement and inventory

management.

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with major
suppliers. The Group invites key suppliers to strategy meetings,
arranges tours to the retail outlets and offices of the Group, invites
them in business events and parties, and shares information about local
sales performance, new products and personnel. Likewise, the Group
visits the suppliers’ factories and understands their production process
and products development. Personalising the relationship and getting
to know one another creates a solid partnership and builds up trust on
each other. Being a pioneer of importing food products from Japan
to Hong Kong, the Group received appreciation letters from various
Japanese business partners for the recognition of the Group’s effort in

distribution of their products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B e a3 A

Community

“Taken from Society and Give Back to Society” is always the belief of
the Group. The Group is participating actively in community services,
supporting the charity activities and youth programs. The Group
supports the community by sponsoring its food products to different
parties including Junior Police Call, schools, elderly and women’s care
organisations, youth organisations, kaifong welfare organisations and
federations of associations. People from different sectors can enjoy the
Group’s delicate products, and share its spirit of “Eating Happily”.

Principal risks
Operational risks
Socioeconomic change risk

There are many ongoing trends in society that can impact the demand
for a product. Customers have more choices nowadays and have raised
their expectations on food quality and variety. The Group keeps on
engaging in product reformulation that makes it conform more closely
to social trend. In addition, the Group keeps abreast of the current
trend in retailing and catering businesses and continues to introduce

brand new retailing and catering experience to the consumers.

Supply chain risk — inadequate supplier performance

The Group sources food materials and food products for production
and distribution. The stability of the supply and quality of the food
materials and products from vendors are critical to the business
operation of the Group. In order to mitigate the risk of possible
supply chain failure, the Group sources food materials and products
from a portfolio of suppliers. The Group also established a stringent
supplier selection process including the assessment of qualifications of

suppliers, inspection of the products, visit to suppliers’ factories etc.

Financial risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group

are shown in note 39 to the financial statements.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

a3

[ AL e > HZ A R AR A5 & o A%
R 2 B o R A5~ S R 5 B R A
A SR 775 0% B A I R S > A AR, - B2
B~ R ML AL~ AR R~ 1 5 R A KA
V0 0 7 5 > AN IV R R N b T D BE 32 A 4 ) S
B R RAH O RS

HEE B
B B
A A BB

EER A BB EMNTR - BSEPFAE
SRR DRI R B R BB o AR
A O A R R DA A R A o LA 5 ACSR
M-EEERERBEUCEHE BT > AR
EYRKF =3 RS VS 7€ 1

1 e 5 I i — 1 M Y € B K A PR AR

2SR [0 RS R b OB B BB AT A A B oy B o R
T 4 B B R BT 1 b i 3 S A A S
B B T o T K VT R B 3 B S ) R
JE I o A S I i R 2 6 R T R bRk B i
ACER [ IR S Y B AR T o LI RE A
36 M T A A i S 2 BB E T R A

S 5 BB

AN A [ 2 B 5 B B A Rk B SR U B A R 1 B
#E39 o



The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company present their
report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in

the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

A discussion and review on the business activities of the Group,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4
to 15 and pages 19 to 26 of this annual report, respectively. Certain
financial key performance indicators, a discussion on the Group’s
environment policies and performance and its compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations, and an account of the Group’s
relationship with its key stakeholders are included in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. These discussions form part of this Report
of the Directors. In light of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), a separate
Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be published on the

same day of the publication date of annual report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of

the Group are shown in note 39 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the Group’s
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 74 to 207.

An interim dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary share was paid
on 17 January 2025. The Board recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK6.5 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year
to shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 8
September 2025 and the record date will be on 8§ September 2025.
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e

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 9 5 % R B

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group 74 55 1] 48 2% A B B4 B 2 3 A N R R L B R
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited F L A 5 488 7 A% 1) B s P R IR ARSI

financial statements, is set out below:

Year ended 31 March
BRE=ZH=1—HIL4EE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
TR R R ONUE RO CRIDTE R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
BWTL HWTT BFToL  #WTr BFTC

RESULTS ES
REVENUE KA 3,625,422 3,898,222 4,150,886 4,729,976 4,579,837
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A 1 Y ) 8,789 33,296 43,358 19,812 31,648
Attributable to: BB .
Equity holders of the Company PN/
e 10,164 34,657 40,732 12,634 30,127
Non-controlling interests I 42 I E A (1,375) (1,361) 2,626 7,178 1,521

8,789 33,296 43,358 19,812 31,648

As at 31 March

WE=A=Z1+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
TR CHAE CERTE RS R R
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BWTIL  HWTor BT #EWTor BT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES WA KA

TOTAL ASSETS B 3,172,765 2,928,143 3,244,070 3,352,241 3,560,839
TOTAL LIABILITIES FE=Eiy (1,952,894) (1,678,391) (1,939,188) (1,981,552) (2,183,056)

1,219,871 1,249,752 1,304,882 1,370,689 1,377,783

The information set out above does not form part of the audited JPY T REE S R R0 A A B R A A — A e

financial statements.

28 FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025



SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year

are set out in notes 32 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company repurchased certain
of its shares on the Stock Exchange, details of which are set out as
follows:

Report of the Directors
o

JBe Ak
VI P2 ) 2 R A B 132 <
i%ﬁﬁﬂlﬁﬁ%ﬁ#éﬂﬁfi‘ﬂn§ﬁmﬁ

BECRHAEZAZ b HARE R AR TR
A2 P i 161 T ey > A B AR S

Number

of shares Aggregate
Month of repurchase repurchased Price per share consideration
i 1l By ik I )% B 8 H 5 I Y 1 R AR £ 48

Highest Lowest

B I A%
HK$ HK$ HK$°000
T T BT T
September 2024 TR A NLA 34,000 2.5 2.5 85
December 2024 ZERINg+ A 2,522,000 2.6 2.48 6,478
January 2025 “ETHHE—H 1,542,000 2.58 2.5 3,977
March 2025 e s X =y = 24,000 2.6 2.5 60
4,122,000 10,600

As of the date of this report, the Company repurchased a total of
4,122,000 shares and 4,098,000 shares were cancelled.

The repurchase of the Company’s shares during the year was effected
by the directors, pursuant to the mandates granted by shareholders at
the annual general meetings held on 29 August 2024, with a view to
benefiting shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net asset value

per share and earnings per share of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities (whether on the Stock Exchange or otherwise) for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (including sale of treasury shares (as defined
under the Listing Rules)). As at 31 March 2025, the Company did not

hold any treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to
HK$261,130,000, of which HK$24,706,000 has been proposed as a
final dividend for the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

WU Mei Yung, Quinly (Vice Chairman)

TAI Chun Kit (Managing Director)

WU Wing Biu

TSE Siu Wan (Appointed on 9 November 2024)

WONG Fu Hang, Derek (Resigned on 9 November 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter
Tsunao KIJIMA
CHEUNG Wing Choi

In accordance with article 119 of the articles of association of the
Company, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
and Mr. Tsunao Kijima shall retire and being eligible, will offer shall
retire and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with article 101 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Tse Siu Wan shall retire and being eligible, will offer

himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter, Mr. Tsunao Kijima and Mr. Cheung
Wing Choi pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and still

considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group, and reviewed by the
remuneration committee of the Company. Details of remuneration
of the directors are set out in note 9 of the financial statements.
Particulars of the duties and responsibilities of the remuneration
committee are set out in “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual

report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands,
every director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No director or a connected entity of a director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the

year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts relating to the
management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part
of any business of the Group were entered into or subsisted for the
year ended 31 March 2025.
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3

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

T

IR IN
Jbe i B fit
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REFRDHEZAZ—H s KA R EHE R T
BN B AR 2 ) sl AT A T 2 B (O 8 8 0% &%
W R (18 2% TR R ) SEXVER) Z B fr Je
B ey o o B A 2 DR O R 2 % Y B R 4 56 352
R WL E P A7 B 2 % i it i s % > O 9 b i 5 ) B
BRCIFTIRZ BT B AT N AT R SRR S MR
R (1 e B 1) 2800 7 A A ) % Mgk 28 e 2 e i J ¢
=g /N

JRAR 2y w3 BB By Z AT

Number of Approximate

ordinary shares percentage of

held/interested the Company’s
total issued shares
(Note (iii))
i A 2 5
AT B O A
Notes ¥4, A B&E I
Name of directors WA Mfit  Capacity 51 5 I BBy B H (M ##iii))
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen 3 i 4 (i) Interest of controlled 5l A Hl#E 28 216,528,000 56.96%
corporations
Interest of spouse i 4 A 25 18,000,000 4.73%
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly — #FEH Beneficial owner EREA N 18,000,000 4.73%
(ii) (a) Interest of controlled 54 vl # 35 33,050,000 8.69%
corporations
(i) (b) Interest of spouse {8 i 2% 183,478,000 48.27%
Tai Chun Kit W Beneficial owner Lt 2PN 11,600,000 3.05%
Notes: W2
(i)  Such shares comprise: (i) FARBEmaR:

(a) 70,000,000 shares, representing approximately 18.42% of the

Company’s total issued shares, are held by Careful Guide Limited
(“CGL”) which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen.
Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen is deemed to be interested
in the 70,000,000 shares of the Company held by CGL;
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

(i)

Such shares comprise: (continued)

(b)

(c)

(a)

(b)

33,050,000 shares, representing approximately 8.69% of the
Company’s total issued shares, are held by Special Access Limited
(“SAL”) which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be
interested in the 33,050,000 shares of the Company held by SAL;
and

113,478,000 shares, representing approximately 29.85% of
the Company’s total issued shares, are held by Capital Season
Investments Limited (“CSI”). CSI is wholly owned by Advance
Finance Investments Limited (“AFI”) which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(“HKFH”). Accordingly, HKFH is deemed to be interested in the
113,478,000 shares of the Company. HKFH is owned as to 0.07%
by the Company, 2.61% by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, 20.55% by
SAL, and 12.01% by CGL. As Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is the
spouse of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is
deemed to be interested in the shares of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
and vice versa. Therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are considered to have deemed
interests in the 113,478,000 shares of the Company by virtue of
their interests in HKFH.

As mentioned in note (i)(b) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly and
her spouse, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen are deemed to be interested
in the 33,050,000 shares of the Company held by SAL.

Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is deemed to be interested in 70,000,000
shares of the Company through the interests of her spouse, Mr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen, in CGL as mentioned in note (i)(a) above. In
addition, she is also deemed to be interested in 113,478,000 shares

of the Company as mentioned in note (i)(c).

(iii) The calculation is based on the total number of 380,123,640 shares in
issue as of 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) had been granted or exercised, any rights to subscribe
for shares of the Company required to be disclosed pursuant to the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any of the directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the following parties (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had interests
of 5% or more in the issued shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Report of the Directors
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Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary shares the Company’s

held/interested total issued shares

(Note (iv))

iR 2 H

CEEAT By A

Name of substantial Notes ¥hGif AH Ik

Shareholders FEBORSAW Wi Capacity -2 Wm0 ¥ H (K iEdv))

SAL Beneficial owner BREAA 33,050,000 8.69%

CGL Beneficial owner JEE-E TN 70,000,000 18.42%

CSI Beneficial owner BREAA 113,478,000 29.85%

AFI (i) Interest of controlled 5l A ®l#E 28 113,478,000 29.85%
corporation

HKFH RS (i)  Interest of controlled  #%%l/ wlHE 25 113,478,000 29.85%
corporation

Realord Group Holdings 4% 45 8] % Ji (ii)  Beneficial owner HRBEEA 23,332,000 6.13%

Limited HRAH

Manureen Holdings FEMREE R (ii) Interest of controlled P A w RS 23,332,000 6.13%
Limited AR corporation

Lin Xiaohui N (i) Interest of controlled %4 v # 25 23,332,000 6.13%
corporation

Su Jiaohua BRI 42 (iii)  Interest of spouse i 5% i 22 23,332,000 6.13%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)

Notes:

(i) The entire issued share capital of CSI is held by AFI which in turn is
wholly owned by HKFH. Accordingly, each of AFI and HKFH is deemed
to be interested in the same 113,478,000 shares of the Company held by
CSIL

(ii) Based on the disclosure of interest notices filed by Realord Group
Holdings Limited (“Realord”), Manureen Holdings Limited
(“Manureen”), Mr. Lin Xiaohui (“Mr. Lin”) on 29 February 2024,
23,332,000 shares, representing approximately 6.07% of the Company’s
total shares at that time, are held by Realord, which is owned as to
62.69% by Manureen which, in turn, is owned as to 70% by Mr. Lin.
Therefore, each of Manureen and Mr. Lin is deemed to be interested in
the shares of the Company in which Realord is interested under the SFO.

(iii) Based on the disclosure of interest notice filed by Ms. Su Jiaohua, being
the spouse of Mr. Lin, is deemed to be interested in 23,332,000 shares of
the Company through the interests of Mr. Lin, in Manureen by virtue of
the SFO.

(iv) The calculation is based on the total number of 380,123,640 shares in
issue as of 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2025, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
any associated corporation”) had any interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has no outstanding share options at the beginning and
at the end of the year under review. The share option scheme adopted
by the Company on 28 August 2012 (the “Scheme”) which had a term
of 10 years had expired on 27 August 2022. Since the expiration of the
Scheme, the Company has not adopted any new share option scheme,
resulting in no effective share option scheme during the year under

review.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. the Honourable TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS,
JP, PhD (honoris causa), aged 76, has been an executive director of
the Company since June 1993. Dr. Tai is the founder and chairman
of the Group, in charge of corporate and policy planning. He has
been awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal, Gold Bauhinia Star, Silver
Bauhinia Star and Justice of the Peace by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. He served as a member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC”) from 2003 to 2018, during which period he
was a standing committee member of the CPPCC from 2008 to 2018.
He also served as a member of the Guangdong Provincial Committee
of the CPPCC from 1998 to 2022, during which he was a standing
committee member of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the
CPPCC from 2003 to 2022. Dr. Tai was awarded the Order of the
Rising Sun, Gold and Silver Rays by the Japanese Emperor in 2017
and he was also awarded the 30th Food Industry Distinguished Service
Award of Japan and the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry
and Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food
by the Government of Japan, in recognition of his contributions
towards the promotion of Japanese food products in China. He is
currently a member of the Board of Trustees of Jinan University and
serves several public positions, including the president of the Hong
Kong Foodstuffs Association, the permanent honorary president of
Friends of Hong Kong Association, the founding chairman of the
Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members Association, the founding
chief president of the Association of the Hong Kong Members of
Guangdong’s CPPCC Committees, the chairman of the Hong Kong
Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors, and a special advisor to
China National Food Industry Association. He received a number
of awards including Hong Kong Distinguished Brand Leader Award
conferred by Hong Kong Brand Development Council and the Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong and Industrialist of the
Year Award conferred by Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Other
accolades include Asia’s Leading Food Entrepreneur of the Year 2020,
Certificate of Honor for Business Lifetime Achievement for Producing
Quality Food Products, the Worldwide Prominent Chiu Chow Business
Leader Award 2012-2013, the World Outstanding Chinese Award,
the Philanthropist Award of the Grand Charity Ceremony 2011, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”,
“Honourable Citizen of Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen
of Jilin City” in Mainland China. Dr. Tai is also a non-executive
director of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company. He is also a non-executive
director of The Sincere Company, Limited (“Sincere”). The shares
of HKFH and Sincere are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Dr. Tai is also a director of Careful Guide Limited and
Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. He is the spouse of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the
vice chairman and executive director of the Company, and the father
of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the managing director and executive director of
the Company. Dr. Tai is also a brother-in-law of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an
executive director of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WU Mei Yung, Quinly, PhD (honoris causa), aged 72, has been
an executive director of the Company since June 1993. Dr. Wu is
a co-founder and the vice chairman of the Group, responsible for
overseeing and coordinating the policy setting of the Group. She
has more than 40 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
business. Dr. Wu is also a director of Careful Guide Limited and
Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. She is the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company, and the mother
of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the managing director and an executive director
of the Company. Dr. Wu is also a sister of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an
executive director of the Company.

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 42, has been an executive director of the
Company since December 2017. Mr. Tai is the managing director
of the Group and is responsible for new business planning and the
development of the Group’s business associated with overseas brands.
He is also overseeing the Group’s operation policies and leading
the Group’s core business. Mr. Tai holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration (Hons) degree from the City University of Hong Kong,
he is a Fellow of CPA Australia. He has extensive experience in retail
management, brands development and marketing planning. He joined
the Group in 2004. Mr. Tai has contributed to various sectors of the
community, he currently holds positions as member of Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, director of China Overseas Friendship Association,
committee member of The Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies
General Committee, chairman of The 13th Military Summer Camp
For Hong Kong Youth, the non-official member of Hong Kong
Immigration Department Users’ Committee, executive vice chairman
of Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors, vice
chairman of Hong Kong Guangdong Youth Association, member of
Friends of Hong Kong Association Limited, committee member of
Concerted Efforts Resource Centre, member of the Association of
the Hong Kong Members of Guangdong’s Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Committees and committee member of
Hong Kong Trade Development Council Mainland Business Advisory
Committee. Mr. Tai was honored with a number of awards such as
being an awardee of the “Directors Of The Year Awards 2022” for
Executive Directors of the Listed Companies Categories conferred by
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the “2022 Guangdong-HK-
Macao Greater Bay Area Outstanding Young Entrepreneur Award”
given by the Guangdong-HK-Macao Greater Bay Area Entrepreneur
Union. He is also the chairman and an executive director of HKFH.
Mr. Tai is also an independent non-executive director of Niche-
Tech Semiconductor Materials Limited (formerly named Niche-Tech
Group Limited), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tai is a son of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and Dr. Wu
Mei Yung, Quinly, both are executive directors of the Company and
serve the position of the chairman and vice chairman of the Company,
respectively. Mr. Tai is the nephew of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive
director of the Company.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

o B w AT BN BRI 1 A (%)

PuATH P ()

W RAEML 72k REBELHEHME L A
—“NWNEZFEANARBERAFZHATEDR - I+
Ty A EE ) 2 I R AN SRR R R A KR
A B T 2 B SR T ET B SR W R ) o AR B BoRE R
SEHEA IR A0S LB o W T 1R I 5 % Careful Guide
Limited % Special Access LimitedZ # 2 o I [ A
Al B By AR w] 2 EEROR o A% 2 AR R AR AT
O L 2 A R 2 AR ) AR A B AR
TERBEBRAEZ R B RARAFPTERH
KBS Z s o

WORBEEA: > 4288 > H R~ LETZARBEAR
AT ZPATE SR BG4 T AR M 2 F A
LR T 26 B 2 SR B g A i ) SR B
WS AR M 2 B 7 8t~ GUERMZ AL 0% -
WA AT KRR TR (RE) 212
B s 48 % WU B DR I A o O R B E R
BB~ LR B i A SR KRB o WU FF
POAE I AACLE ) o B AR #ul 2 Bk g IR > Bl
22 S AL & A WAL A b BN BRIBCIR Hh 7 o o R
BEBEZH - PHEGIEE S - FE LT A
AMEHBEZEAALZE B2 EERE EESR
HABEN - HWBARIE A& W B 2R - T
BRGHFRERER  FHAEHETERGE -
ENEBFPOTH - B RS BB Z BB
THRABFEBHBRANMEEEANZHTRH - Wk
PG SRR > LA 7 o B o B AR 9202248
FEEWARPTESFANZ [HHEFE] > DS
TR A I A 3 W LR T T4 = M K
A SRR ERRE] o R ATERBZ TR
LTS > WA R EW AR AT Z 1
JBe R o S5 A B AR T S 1 b B AR A R ] (R
MR A S REMARAR) B ERTES > &
AT Z By B AE B GEMLE T o 3 e A 2 W B
Tl RIS b 2 S > S e R ey 2 A
AT ZPATESR > W BIEEAR AR Z B Rl 1
JRE W o WS T A O W) AT A R TR AR S A Z A
B o



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. WU Wing Biu, aged 65, has been an executive director of the
Company since June 1993. Mr. Wu is experienced in sales, marketing
and merchandising and is now responsible for the establishment of
close relationship with Mainland China and overseas suppliers. He
has more than 30 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
industry. Mr. Wu joined the Group in 1978. He is a brother-in-law of
Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the chairman and an executive director
of the Company, and a brother of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the vice
chairman and an executive director of the Company. Mr. Wu is an
uncle of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the managing director and an executive

director of the Company.

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 64, has been appointed as the executive
director of the Company since 9 November 2024. Mr. Tse is currently
the managing director of Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited (“HK
Ham”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He is also a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company. He joined HK Ham
in 1980. Mr. Tse has extensive experience in food manufacturing
and factory production management. He is also an executive director
of HKFH, since August 1992. He is responsible for the food quality
control of HKFH.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter, aged 79, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since July 2000. Mr. Chan was
the chairman of a company listed on the Stock Exchange until July
2002. He was a senior general manager of a local bank until November
1998. Mr. Chan was also an executive director of a joint Chinese
foreign bank in Shenzhen until 1995. He has more than 30 years’
experience in the banking and finance industry. Mr. Chan served as an
independent non-executive director for a number of listed companies
of Hong Kong including GOME Electrical Appliances Holding
Limited from May 2004 to June 2015 and FDB Holdings Limited
from January 2018 to September 2024 respectively, companies whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Tsunao KIJIMA, aged 77, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since July 2011. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Economics from Keio University in Japan. Mr. Kijima was
the executive vice president of Mitsubishi Corporation and also the
chief representative for China and Europe of Mitsubishi Corporation
during different periods of time. He was a managing executive officer
of Nissin Foods Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Tokyo
Stock Exchange. Mr. Kijima was also a non-executive director of
Premier Foods Plc, a company listed on the London Stock Exchange.
He has more than 45 years’ experience of worldwide trading of
processed foods, beverages, snack foods and other food products. Mr.
Kijima served as a non-executive director of Lianhua Supermarket
Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from 2001 to 2006. He was an independent non-executive
director of the Company from 1997 to 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Wing Choi, aged 70, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since April 2023. Mr. Cheung
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Postgraduate Diploma in
Information Processing from University of Queensland in Australia.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, an associate member of the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants in the United Kingdom and a Chartered
Global Management Accountant. He has over 30 years of professional
and commercial experience both in Hong Kong and Australia. He is
also an independent non-executive director of HKFH.

Senior Management

Ms. VONG Cheng I, Carmen, aged 61, is the director of the Group’s
human resources department, responsible for human resources
management and people strategy development. She holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration degree in Human Resources Management
from Simon Fraser University in Canada and a Master of Business
Administration degree from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Vong
has extensive experience in Hong Kong and China on human resources
management and strategic planning. Prior to joining the Group, she
was the general manager, human resources for Hong Kong and China
of an international FMCG firm. Ms. Vong joined the Group in 2017.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

o B w AT BN BRI 1 A (%)

3 Je AT A (A

AEHMERA > 775 > A ZF——4F L BHEAR
WARZBALIEBATE S o WA H AR R Z K
T SCERA BAAL » KB S AR R A = 28 v AR o AL I
A7 B AR 3 T AS [R) IR T M A = 28 1 o ik oK o Ak T
o R R U B AR o B R R B R S P
LA HEERERER W ERTES - R
B 5 A IR G 5 AT R A 30 27 28 5 it B T B Premier
Foods PlcZ IEHATHE F o PeAen T 5 ~ k5~ /b
B ROl 2 BB R 5 T R A S AR B o
ZREF-FBEZEFNEM 0 KR4 G ML
T A BRA R M IERATE > %A RN R B
EWRET o HAHAE R — LI LFEEZRRAFEL
ARAFZ B IEPITHEDE -

WA > 705 - H ZF =N A BB ERA
A Z B IEPATE S o IREEFARMB L ARE
T R 2 B2 A AR BE R0 SO - R W Rt
i & EREH - B F B AT &R
Fe 2 BRAG R LA LA > P W S BN B A B A8 30
AR BESEANTE SEACBR o IR R A U T B or R
TS -

W BEA B

EIEA L L 615 > AHE M A ) & I R AT B
o BRI B A BN B o DR R
P PR KB\ ) IR A B R T A BB B A A
WK TR EELRM e L LHAEENE
WA cp N Y U B SR % T ) RSB o AR SR
VBl Z o A0 A T R R e A R Z A A
N B AR - B LR FE—-LEMA
N



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Ms. YAM Wai Wah, Jenny, aged 54, is the Group’s finance director
and company secretary, responsible for accounting and finance
functions, and company secretarial affairs of the Group. Ms. Yam
holds a bachelor’s degree of Accounting and Financial Analysis from
The University of Warwick in the United Kingdom. She is a Fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom. Ms. Yam has extensive finance and accounting
experiences and had worked for several publicly listed companies. Ms.
Yam joined the Group in 2022.

Ms. TSE Lai Ho, Colour, aged 44, is the director of the Group’s
Hong Kong, Macau and overseas sales department, responsible for
strategic sales management. Ms. Tse holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. She has more than twenty years’ experience in sales,
marketing and brand management profession. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Tse held various management positions with Hong Kong
and multinational FMCG companies in the region. Ms. Tse joined the
Group in 2022.

Mr. TONG Kam Weng, Nelson, aged 51, is the Associate Director
of the Group’s Information Technology department, responsible for
formulating and implementing the Group’s IT and business solution
strategies. Mr. Tong holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied
Mathematics from The University of Hong Kong and a Master of
Information Technology degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Tong has extensive experience in setting strategic
direction of information technology to improve operation efficiency
and business performance. Prior to joining the Group, he was the
senior IT manager for a renowned Hong Kong FMCG firm. Mr. Tong
joined the Group in 2024.

Mr. YAU Siu Hong, Tony, aged 42, is the General Manager of the
Group’s logistics department, responsible for the logistics operations
and strategic planning function. Mr. Yau holds a degree of Bachelor
of Business Administration from the Lingnan University. Mr. Yau has
extensive experience in supply chain and logistics management. Prior
to joining the Group, he worked for various logistics management
positions in Hong Kong retail and services industries. Mr. Yau joined
the Group in 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued shares) had any

beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of

this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and the risk management and internal control
systems. The audit committee comprises the independent non-executive

directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and works of the audit committee is set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. There has been no change of auditor in the past three

years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Annual Report™).

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company has always regarded food hygiene, safety and
quality as the top priority. It strives to instil an overarching culture
of compliance, honesty, integrity and ethical behaviour with its
stakeholders to build trust and credibility. Such culture is consistent
and well aligned with the Company’s purpose to be a leading
corporation in the food industry, and the Company’s values of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all levels of the Company.
The spirit of “Eating Happily” provide the basis for the Company’s

philosophy and serve as the abiding values of its foundation.

To achieve the purpose and safeguard the long-term prospects of the
Company, the Board adopted and implemented a corporate strategy
with a view to maintain its leading position in food industry, sourcing
delicacies from all over the world and introducing more types of
food so that customers can enjoy overseas flavors anytime, anywhere
to increase market share. Also, the Board ensures these values are
embedded throughout all levels of the Company that shaping our
corporate culture and aligning our purpose. By so acting, the Board
believes that Shareholders’ wealth will be maximised in the long term
and that its employees, those with whom it does business and the

communities in which it operates will all benefit.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintaining
a good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’
value. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development of corporate
governance. Throughout the year under review, the Company has
applied the principles of corporate governance and complied with the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix Cl of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), details will be set out below.
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The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company

are summarized as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board

and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risks (including but not limited
to business, operation as well as environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) risks) to be assessed and managed; delegate authorities to the
management to manage and supervise the business of the Group; and
ensure the management monitor performance against objectives being

set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to the
management which include the day-to-day business operation of the
Group, execution of corporate strategies, business and financial plans
and budgets approved by the Board; and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decision
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; and approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.

All directors of the Company have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s

expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Company has established mechanisms which will ensure that there
are channels (in addition to independent non-executive directors of the
Company) where independent views are available, including the access
by directors of the Company to external independent professional

advice to assist their performance of duties.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2025, the Board of the Company comprises eight
directors consisting of five executive directors and three independent

non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board

and Board Committees as at 31 March 2025:

H PR (A1)

HREAS

o

REFZHE=ZA=Z+TH > EREALRERTEY
FA 2R Sk B BB A€

WA

Executive directors

BATHF

WES ()

WIS (A T)

Wu Wing Biu
1] 7K A

Tse Siu Wan
o %

B TP AT HF

[ R

Tsunao Kijima

K B A 4

Cheung Wing Choi
R

Board of Directors

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Vice Chairman)

Tai Chun Kit (Managing Director)
O B (AT

Independent non-executive directors

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

The biographical information of the directors of the Company
is set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report. The relationships between
the directors of the Company are disclosed in the respective
directors under the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed above, there
is no relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) between the Board members and in

particular, between the Chairman and the Managing Director.

Notes:

1. Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, ceased to be the chairman and a member of
the Nomination Committee with effect from 27 June 2025.

2. Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, has been appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 27 June 2025.

3. Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter, has been re-designated from a member to the
chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect from 27 June 2025.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as
other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2025 and the attendance record of each director at the said

board meetings and general meetings of the Company is set out below:
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Number of meetings

attended/held
(I P ZPR-F 1/ ¢
Regular Board General

Meetings Meeting
Name of directors WA o s ) JBe 3K &
Executive directors iy g
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) W () 4/4 1/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Vice Chairman) WIER (AL 4/4 1/1
Tai Chun Kit (Managing Director) Wt (FEF AL PE) 4/4 1/1
Wu Wing Biu il 4/4 1/1
Wong Fu Hang, Derek* il g 2/2 1/1
Tse Siu Wan** A Fwr 2/2 N/A
Independent non-executive directors TRV R
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Bt & 4 4/4 1/1
Tsunao Kijima AR 5 4 A 4/4 1/1
Cheung Wing Choi RZE A 4/4 1/1
*  Mr. Wong Fu Hang, Derek resigned as executive director of the Company * HEREAR —FNE T —ALHBEAAFZ

on 9 November 2024.

*#%  Mr. Tse Siu Wan has been appointed as executive director of the

Company on 9 November 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms

of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally sent to directors
or committee members for their comments within a reasonable period
of time after each meeting and final version is open for directors’

inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal
with the matter.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an additional member of the Board. Appointments are first
considered by the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the
Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details
in respect of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance

Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, such that
every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

three years.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code in relation to continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an
annual training session on the new development of the Listing Rules
and statutory updates for the Board during the year. In addition, some
directors have attended seminars and workshops on topics which
are relevant to their work and responsibilities so as to update their
technical knowledge and professional skills during the year ended 31
March 2025. Relevant reading materials on corporate governance,
regulatory developments and changes of accounting standards and
other topics relevant to the Company’s business and director’s duties
and responsibilities have been given to the directors of the Company
from time to time during the year under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development (continued)

Participation by individual directors in continuous professional
development during the year under review is summarised below:

A (5)
0 2 U TR (D)

%[BT A JBE P 22 B A S8 S 3 e 2 A8 i) 5 o 19 R
A

Types of training

Name of directors WA LT B
Executive directors Yo

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) WA () B, C
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Vice Chairman) W (I FEH) B,C
Tai Chun Kit (Managing Director) WO (3 F A AE) A, B, C
Wu Wing Biu 1 K AR B, C
Wong Fu Hang, Derek* W il 5L+ B,C
Tse Siu Wan** it A Fex B,C
Independent non-executive directors B S Jk AT R

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter [ S A,B,C
Tsunao Kijima A s 4 A B,C
Cheung Wing Choi REA A, B, C

A — Attending briefings/seminars/conferences/forums
B — Attending in-house annual training session
C — Reading updates on relevant topics including corporate governance and

regulatory update

* Mr. Wong Fu Hang, Derek resigned as executive director of the Company
on 9 November 2024.
#%  Mr. Tse Siu Wan has been appointed as executive director of the

Company on 9 November 2024.

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Tai Chun Kit hold
the positions of Chairman and Managing Director respectively. Their

respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for new business planning and the development of
the Group’s business associated with overseas brands. He is also
overseeing the Group’s operation policies and leading the Group’s

core business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors, representing one
third of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of
his/her independence and the Company is of the view that the existing
independent non-executive directors are independent under the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to
the date of this Annual Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the Executive
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which are available
to shareholders upon request. The terms of reference of the Board
committees, except those of Executive Committee, are also available

for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established with specific written terms

of reference and all of its members are executive directors.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee include approval and
execution of the corporate guarantees to be provided by the Company
to individual bankers in respect of the banking facilities granted to
any company of the Group, including wholly-owned subsidiaries, non
wholly-owned subsidiaries and associates within the meaning of the

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The Executive Committee has held seventeen meetings during the
year for the purposes of approving, inter alia, to give guarantees for
banking facilities granted to companies of the Group and to provide
guarantees and/or indemnities with respect to the obligations of a

wholly-owned subsidiary in tenancy agreements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Executive Committee during the year are
set out below:

wREZHE ()
WA I (8D

PUAT & H B A A B A SRS R

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Executive Committee members I ZBGRBA4R W BT fr kB
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of Executive Committee) WEY (BT EE G T 17/17
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WER 17/17
Tai Chun Kit A 17/17
Wu Wing Biu W] K A 17/17

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Choi (Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao Kijima.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, to monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements and review significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them, to maintain an appropriate
relationship with the Company’s external auditor and to oversee the

audit process.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2025 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2024 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 of the Group. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2025 of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set
out below:

Corporate Governance Report
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ERZERG (5

H#EZAT (5)
W H A A A B A SRS R

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Audit Committee members HEEZEGRBAH MR BTk
Cheung Wing Choi (Chairman of Audit Committee) REA(FEEZEAGTLNE) 2/2
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B 4 2/2
Tsunao Kijima N =i 2/2
Remuneration Committee HMER S

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and is currently constituted by two independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Cheung Wing Choi and an

executive director, namely Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for the remuneration of all directors and senior management
and the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior

management.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting during the year
ended 31 March 2025 to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration
policy and structure, the remuneration packages of all directors and
senior management by reference to the individual performance,
skills and knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities, and
performance and profitability of the Group, and the service contracts
of the directors for the year under review. Details of the remuneration
of each director of the Company are set out in note 9 to the financial

statements.

% B E AL > 3 DL T T R B Y R
B o BRI BB 45 W 4 S IR AT B R B A e
GBI Z B & 20 RRRA ek > UK — B RATE
FWRALAL -

Ay VR AR I 22 B A AT o e A
BN B 22 55 T 757 288 1 30 o 07 402 ) e 2 ME K o 7 T
ZETZ EREW TR A A T 4 8 9 R A A B
N B Z A )57 T BOR B A > DL A 3 o %
A TN B Z 35 I A 208 1 o o P R

FMZEGNBRE_Z_HE=ZH =14 —HILEE
W ERAT Rk o DL CHerp 3 ) o B A 4 ) 1
T SR 2 5 2% R ) B~ BORE S~ BT A
H A I ) S BT DA R AR MR B A BE T > DLFR
Bl R A BN B Z B8 s AR B
1o LA B N S IR B A o A ) % 1 S T
GREE Sy e

T YA AR A
“E_REER

93



94

Corporate Governance Report
o SRR &

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the

year are set out below:

wREZHE ()
CLESAC T

Wi 2 H A B R A SRS R

Number of meeting

attended/held
Name of Remuneration Committee members HZE E el B H MR BTk
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (Chairman of Remuneration Committee) BE Bk (B Z A & /) 1/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WIER 1/1
Cheung Wing Choi R 1/1

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the remuneration of the members
of the senior management, not being the directors of the Company, by
band is set out below:

BEERAFE=ZH=Z1—HIREEIEEBEAA F
HRZEAEHABZHMALNWT «

Remuneration band 57 14 41 0 Number of persons
(HKS$) (#7z) AN
Nil to 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000

Over 1,000,000

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules are set out in

notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference. During the year under review, it comprised an
executive director, namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman
of the Nomination Committee) and two independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Cheung Wing
Choi.

On 27 June 2025, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen has ceased to be the
chairman and a member of the Nomination Committee; Ms. Wu
Mei Yung, Quinly, the vice chairman and an executive director of
the Company, has been appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee; and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter, has been re-designated
from a member to the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
Board composition, to develop and formulate the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors, to monitor the
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee will also identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships when
there are vacancies on the Board. All appointments will be made based
on merits and against objective criteria with due regard to the Board

diversity policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during the year
to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive directors
of the Company.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year

are set out below:
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Number of meeting

attended/held
Name of Nomination Committee members REZHGRBEH W BRATRR Y
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of Nomination Committee) WIES (#EERTLE) 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B = A4 1/1
Cheung Wing Choi R 1/1
Nomination Policy XY
1. Purpose 1. H©

This nomination policy of the Company (“Nomination Policy”)
sets out the approach and procedures which are adopted by
the Company for the nomination and selection of directors of
the Company (the “Director(s)”), including the appointment of
additional Directors, replacement of Directors, and re-election of

Directors.

2. Policy Statement

To ensure that the Board consists of Directors with qualities and
range of skills and experience which sustain the success and
growth of Group in a way that the interests of the shareholders

and stakeholders of the Company are promoted and protected.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)
3. Selection Criteria

When selecting a candidate to be nominated for directorship,
considerations will be given to a variety of factors including
without limitation the following in assessing the suitability of the
proposed candidate:

3.1 Be an individual of highest character and integrity.

3.2 The potential contribution that the candidate is expected
to bring in sustaining the success and growth of the Group
and monitoring the management team of the Company to
implement its corporate objectives.

3.3 Be an individual possessing attributes which are
complementary to the other current Directors and in line
with the board diversity policy of the Company. Attributes
to be consider shall include professional experience, skills,
knowledge, cultural and educational background, gender,

age and other personal qualities of the candidate.

3.4 The candidate to be nominated as an Independent non-
executive director (“INED”) shall satisfy the independence
requirements as listed in the Listing Rules. The INED
candidate shall also possess the necessary qualification and
appropriate expertise, where applicable.

3.5 Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time as
appropriate.

4. Nomination Process
4.1 Appointment of New and Replacement Director

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association,
if the Board determines that an additional or replacement
Director is required, the following procedures shall be
adopted:

(i) The Nomination Committee, with or without assistance
from Human Resources Department of the Company,
deploy multiple channels for identifying suitable
director candidates.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

4.

Nomination Process (continued)

4.1

4.2

Appointment of New and Replacement Director (continued)

(ii) The Nomination Committee shall evaluate the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate to assess the suitability of the candidate in
becoming a Director of the Company in accordance
with the selection criteria set out above in this

Nomination Policy.

(iii) If an appropriate candidate is identified by
the Nomination Committee, it shall then make
recommendation to the Board for the directorship

appointment.

(iv) The Board shall decide the appointment based on the

recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

Re-election of Director

A retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself/herself for
re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company,
shall follow the requirements of the Articles of Association
and the Listing Rules with a circular containing the
requisite information of the retiring Director be sent to the
shareholders of the Company prior to the annual general
meeting in which the retiring Director is to be re-elected.

Review and Monitoring

5.1

5.2

The Nomination Committee shall monitor the

implementation of this Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee shall from time to time review
this Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the

effectiveness of this Nomination Policy.

Disclosure of Policy

A summary of this Nomination Policy will be disclosed in the

Corporate Governance Report to be included in the Company’s

Annual Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the
Company. Under the Policy, the Nomination Committee will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service in reviewing and assessing the Board
composition. The Nomination Committee has assessed the composition
of the Board against these aspects and has come to the conclusion that

it is a balanced board of directors.

An analysis of the Board’s composition for the year ended 31 March

2025 based on the measurable objectives is set out below:

Gender
Male: 7 Directors

Age Group

41-50: 1 Director
61-70: 3 Directors
71-80: 4 Directors

Female: 1 Director

Gender Diversity

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
page 21.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance

functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this

Corporate Governance Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
the employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Code by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2025.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Ernst
& Young (“EY”), are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of
this Annual Report.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

External Auditors’ Remuneration

EY has been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by
shareholders at the 2024 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

An analysis of the remuneration of EY for the year ended 31 March

2025 is set out as follows:

W R ()

A W5 A ek i VO

ZK B T F TV AR R R AR OR B B R R A I
Ry A T Z AN O > AR Y E R IR OR A AR R
Tk o KK EHABRRPERKEF_HHFE=A
= H kAR S AL IR

BECRCDFE=ZAZ - HIRF LR Z M40
HrinF

Fee paid/payable

B /AT 2 W

HK$’000

Services rendered P ik 2 i 5 T T
Audit services B 5 IR B 8,300
Non-audit services FEE 5 IR 789

Auditors’ remuneration (including underprovision of prior year)
of HK$9,409,000 as set out in note 6 to the financial statements
comprises of remuneration for audit services provided by (i) EY of
HK$8,300,000; and (ii) auditors other than EY of HK$1,109,000 for
acting as auditors to certain subsidiaries of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibilities for maintaining
adequate risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems, including the strategies, policies and
expectations on the oversight, have been designed to manage rather
than to eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s business
objectives. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

Risk management and internal control systems are designed and put
in place with a view to safeguard the Group’s assets and business
operations. In order to successfully implement, support and sustain the
risk management process, the Group has taken into account the factors
including risk-aware culture, risk prioritisation, as well as allocation
of roles and responsibilities. The systems are featured with defined
organisational and management structure with authorities properly
delegated to qualified personnel from different management levels

within the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

The regular monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems is mainly conducted by the delegated executive directors
and senior management. With the oversight of the Audit Committee,
the delegated executive directors lead the senior management in
overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk

management and internal control systems.

Executive directors of the Company determine the business strategies
and objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks (including but not limited to business, operation as well
as ESG risks) the Group is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and therefore are accountable for the effectiveness

of the risk management.

Senior management from different departments identifies and
evaluates the risks (including but not limited to business, operation
as well as ESG risks) which may potentially impact the major
business processes, including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security, monitors the risks and

takes measures to mitigate risks in daily operations.

Periodic meetings are held between the delegated executive directors
and senior management. Standing instructions have been provided to
management of the Group that if any material issue relating to risk
management and internal control systems that may have or have had
a material impact on the business of the Group arise, it should be

reported on a timely basis.

Internal control procedures are designed to protect the Group’s assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used for business decision or publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement. The internal audit function
reviews the major operational, financial and compliance controls and
risk management function on a continuing basis to cover the major

operations of the Group.

The delegated executive directors and senior management has reported
to the Board the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year under review. The Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the systems including the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting functions and considers that the risk management

and internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling inside information, monitoring

information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yam Wai Wah, Jenny is the company secretary of the Company.
During the year under review, she undertook at least 15 hours of

relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 73 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of shareholders holding at the date of deposit not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right to
vote deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

If the Board does not within 30 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene the general meeting, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s

website at http://www.fourseasgroup.com.hk.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at 31/F., Four Seas Group Centre, No. 41
King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally

deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: 31/F., Four Seas Group Centre, No. 41 King Yip Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: info @fourseasgroup.com.hk
For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.

Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy
reflecting mostly current practices of the Company for communication
with its shareholders. Such policy aims at disseminating information
in relation to the Group to shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, and is reviewed regularly by the Board

to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.fourseasgroup.com.hk
as a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public

access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The chairmen
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the shareholders at least 21
days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings including the annual general meeting will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after each

shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

1.

Purpose

This dividend policy of the Company (“Dividend Policy”) sets
out the principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of the Company’s distributable reserves

as dividends to its shareholders.

Principles

2.1 Tt is the goal of the Company to maintain a balance between
meeting expectations of shareholders of the Company and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.

2.2 In considering the payment of dividends of the Company,
shareholders of the Company shall be eligible to participate
in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s

liquidity to capture future growth opportunities.

Guidelines

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board of the Company shall take into

account, inter alia:

3.1 the general financial condition and the liquidity position of
the Group;

3.2 the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group;

3.3 corporate development plans of the Group;

3.4 the Group’s expected working capital requirements and

capital expenditure;

3.5 the retained profits and other distributable reserves of the
Company and other member companies of the Group;

3.6 the requirements and restrictions under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company;

3.7 general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and

position of the Group; and

3.8 any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

4.

Review of the Dividend Policy

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise at its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and

necessary.

Form of Dividend Payment

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

This Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Ernst & Young R BB Tel &35 +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EBHIZAREEI7TIN Fax HE: +852 2868 4432
ﬁ* 979 King’s Road REdh—E27# ey.com
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
To the shareholders of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited S 0g P 4 A A ) A B R

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 207, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS I St % it o3 3
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 2 e 3 T TR AR R AT 0 S A SRk AR

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated BAMBHMENEN RS EENRIE ERFEHE
financial statements of the current period. These matters were TE B 47 A BB R B AT R T R B R A

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial FFETERA > AN A B 8 2 0 48 BUm Y
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we B0 FRAM B F 2t — 5 IE AL A P A RE A g
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter PSR L =i

below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is

provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s B CRBIBAT T AR5 BB 7 Al AR G B R
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements FR I HY AT 43 W i BAE o (4 S S B S St
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. P B FAE o MR > AT TSR
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures AT % I S8 T A P 5 B 765 S 3 R K s R A L B i
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material RETER R c RMBITHENRIPHER > O
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of JE 35T e B 7 R o BT AT AR T > M AR S
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address W R TR IR TR .

the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B kA i 30 WA i T o S 1Y

Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had goodwill of HK$101,871,000, We performed the following procedures in relation
intangible assets of HK$39,249,000 and property, plant and equipment to impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and
of HK$896,547,000, including right-of-use assets of HK$399,372,000. property, plant and equipment:

The Group is required to perform impairment test for goodwill at FA TR MY A D R~ MR B TR
least on an annual basis, and intangible assets and property, plant and HESTTIETE :

equipment where an indicator of impairment of these assets exists.

The impairment test is based on the recoverable amounts of cash- . evaluating management’s impairment assessments
generating units to which the goodwill, intangible assets and property, based on the Group’s accounting policies and
plant and equipment are associated with. During the year, impairment procedures, and our understanding of the Group’s
losses of HK$2,239,000 have been recorded to reduce the carrying business;

amounts of certain property, plant and equipment, including right-of- o M BHEHZEIHBEEERURZME &
use assets, to their estimated recoverable amounts. 48 18 S < PR A4S LR < RAE A

R-BZHFEZEAZ=Z+—H > HEEZE®E25101,871,0009 70
L & 7 #539,249,000% 70 DL Je 4 3 ~ W B £4896,547,000%
JG > A HE A5 FH R E £5399,372,00085 0 o £ 4 M I b R AR JH R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
B S e

bl 3t it o o (5)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T BUFE A v M 3

Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (continued)

P8~ JETE B UL R~ B Bk g v 1 (A7)

When performing the impairment tests, management determined the
recoverable amounts of the relevant cash-generating units as at 31
March 2025 based on the higher of fair value less cost of disposal
and value-in-use calculations using the discounted cash flow method.
Management has estimated the fair value less cost of disposal of
certain cash-generating units with the assistance of independent
professional valuers. For the value-in-use calculations, management’s
assessment process involves significant judgements and assumptions,
including the expected future cash flow forecasts, associated
growth rates and the discount rate applied, which were sensitive for
expected future market conditions and cash-generating units’ actual
performance.

T HEAT WA B A > 4 B R TR A 1 B £ A S A T B
PGB A A R B (VAR R 3 A R ) 7R A B B
AR R DHEZAZS B2 S o R E AR L
S Al AF B 15 B R A R T B A A A LA 2 AP R B R o
R P AR o A LR YRR AN R R R B R TR AR L
T B 45 78 A B B B AR B 5E B 2 W OROA) B B ARk o AL U R R
B PTER ~ H B 0 R R P B 2 B B o

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 14, 17 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FH B 452 8 R SO A% £ S 85 A B RES ~ 140 1718 0
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examining management’s methodology in the
determination of the recoverable amounts based
on higher of fair value less cost of disposal
and discounted cash flow projections for the
determination of value-in-use and assessing
key assumptions such as the budgeted gross
margin and growth rates by comparison to recent
historical financial performance of the cash-
generating units;

8 A0 A L LR L DR A A s 7
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performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions and discounted cash flow
projections; and

3 AR B W BB i LA A TR B AT 5
R

involving our internal valuation experts to
assist us with our assessment of the fair value
less cost of disposal of cash-generating units
and our assessment of the discount rates by
making reference to market data and comparable
companies in the industry for the discount rates
used and the methodology in determining the
value-in-use calculations of the cash-generating
units.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

B S e
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ol 3t it o ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

W PR v M 3

Recoverability of trade receivables

HE W 57 5 B sk Z AT WK [ P

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had gross trade receivables of
HK$597,426,000 before impairment of HK$5,022,000. The Group’s
accounting for impairment on trade receivables was based on a
forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach, and the
measurement on the Group’s trade receivables under such approach
was estimated by management through the application of judgements
and use of highly subjective assumptions. The impact of economic
factors, both current and future, and forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors were also considered in management’s assessment of the
likelihood of recovery from customers.
MROFDHE=ZA=Z4T—H BEEZEEHE S RFKEER
597,426,0009 7C (11 Bx I 145,022,0008 TC 1) o 348 MWK 5
R Uk L ot B R R T B U AR AR R (RIS B4R
K)o MLRAT BT R R B R A R B A B
B FE ) B A A T R s R B B o A B R R W A A % P W fml
T REPE A 5% I8 I R A AR AL R R % A B N A A I o R R
R

Due to the significance of trade receivables and the uncertainty
inherent in such estimates, we considered this as a key audit matter.
FhT R W B 5 MR ok ) R P e % A A R A S e > R AN R
Ry UL T B E EHF O o

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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We performed the following procedures in relation to
recoverability of trade receivables:

FAM T HE e BT g MRk T e e e AT R SRR S

. evaluating management’s expected credit loss
provisioning methodology, key data input and
the assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine
the expected credit losses by checking to the
payment history, ageing of the trade receivables
and other relevant information on a sampling
basis;

o fTBRAEAZAT KL BR - MR B MR R e S A
FH B EORE > REAG A B 7% o TR A7 A 4E 2K B
5 FH B TR0 A7 S R R A8 O 9 - R o A\ R
Fe A i o 645 4 A K% iy B 1k R

. testing the ageing classification of receivables on
a sampling basis; and

o BRI A RE WK B R e s K

. evaluating loss allowance rates based on the
current economic conditions and forward-looking
information.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
P8 3 A% BB Tl e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Lai Ho Yin (practicing certificate number: P06765).

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 June 2025

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

A B 1H R

Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

2025 2024
ZEB AR RIS
Notes HK$’000 HKS$’000
Mt T Vot rn
REVENUE WA 5 3,625,422 3,898,222
Cost of sales 9 8 AR (2,757,137) (2,986,036)
Gross profit EcVi 868,285 912,186
Other income and gains/(losses), net HAb M A Rz~
(E#]|) » FH 5 15,717 (1,415)
Selling and distribution expenses s Koy e M (444,065) (459,497)
Administrative expenses AT BB X (349,928) (347,365)
Other operating expenses, net HAh & B % » A 6 (13,778) (18,638)
Finance costs & AR 7 (58,103) (48,646)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures WA 68 A 3 i P 2 s 4E (610) (2,299)
Share of profits and losses of associates R A B 5 2 ) i ) I s 4R 6,932 12,606
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B3 B Wi ik A 8 24,450 46,932
Income tax expense Fifr 45 B8 B 52 11 (15,661) (13,636)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AF A e A 8,789 33,296
Attributable to: A
Equity holders of the Company KRAFRERITE #H 10,164 34,657
Non-controlling interests Ik SR 2 (1,375) (1,361)
8,789 33,296
HK cents HK cents
Bl A
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 7k 2w 3% % B 32 o 45 %
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF M A 4 It 7 )
THE COMPANY
— Basic and diluted — HEA R 13 2.7 9.0

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

N L TS

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HI4EE

2025 2024
et X 3 RN
HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT BT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A i A 8,789 33,296
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Fofb 2wt O #)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be AL 7 A ] o] GE B 40 B E
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: His 2z H M mi s, (E#H) :
Exchange differences: e 50, 75 48
Exchange differences on translation of foreign WA EB Z R ER
operations 10,677 (52,790)
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve for BB REANEEZ
voluntary liquidation of foreign operations e 5, 58 Bl £t A4 [ 48 (6,577) (138)
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates R A Y 7 2 R MG At 2 THI S 4R (456) (2,102)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be AF I 1Y 7] 7T BE T AT 4 £ 16 7
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods ZHAM 2R (1) A 3,644 (55,030)
Other comprehensive income that will not be AFAS G A Y o] A 4 R
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: A7 Z H M2 K ws -
Financial assets at fair value through other F2 O P AE 75 388 I Atk 2 i W 2R
comprehensive income: ANBR &l B 2 -
Changes in fair value AR 9,664 6,545
Income tax effect EETA-2 (3,311) (2,242)
Defined benefit obligations: R R AR
Gains on remeasurement EH R EZ W2 286 459
Income tax effect Jt 45 i 5 28 (98) (157)
Net other comprehensive income that will not be AFAS B 1 ) 7R 5 B
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 18 7% Z H A 2 16 W 7 77 AT 6,541 4,605
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) AR N il 2w 2 (5 )
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX BBt 10,185 (50,425)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) CACE-E3 L E- 0 3]
FOR THE YEAR 18,974 (17,129)
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company RATFRESITA H 20,551 (15,120)
Non-controlling interests I i JBe E 25 (1,577) (2,009)
18,974 (17,129)

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Ak A 55K LAk

31 March 2025 2 _HAE=HA=1+—H

2025 2024
R AR R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M aE BT BT T
(Restated)
(EF)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FER B A
Property, plant and equipment LI E NN & ] 14 896,547 740,905
Investment properties wEWE 16 33,957 34,445
Goodwill R 17 101,871 101,740
Other intangible assets oAt ST 18 39,249 42,976
Investments in joint ventures NEBLEZHRE 19 12,362 4,558
Investments in associates NEE AT ZHE 20 186,995 181,046
Financial assets at fair value through A BB EEARNY
profit or loss EREE 25 16,964 22,361
Financial assets at fair value through other RN PAE 725 40 HoAth 2 4R 25
comprehensive income A HR 1 4 & 21 24,877 16,515
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEAT #KIE ~ 3T 4 B 3t E ik
AR I 24 28,132 28,281
Tax recoverable ] W o] A T 20,743 25,936
Deferred tax assets 7 S0 o JE 31 10,810 9,413
Total non-current assets Fh i B B A 1,372,507 1,208,176
CURRENT ASSETS i ) ¥
Inventories wE 22 330,127 269,280
Trade receivables JE W B 5 MRk 23 592,404 625,047
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEATSRIE ~ 5T 4 B G R i
RIE 24 159,568 128,087
Tax recoverable w) W el A TE 2,571 563
Financial assets at fair value through NP AE 2 IR 4E 25 AR 1Y 4 i
profit or loss Jogs 25 83,611 58,608
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBE&SMEEH 26 631,977 625,940
1,800,258 1,707,525
Non-current assets classified as held for sale B EFEREZIERBIE E 27 — 12,442
Total current assets A A 1,800,258 1,719,967
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B £1 %
Trade payables, other payables and accruals JE AT’ B MR ek ~ oAt B A) 3Kk 0H
N EwH A AR 28 461,790 489,748
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z RIT &% 29 979,841 663,591
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 111,943 114,656
Tax payable B ASF B8 1 5,325 15,558
Total current liabilities B A A 1,558,899 1,283,553
NET CURRENT ASSETS Ui Bl R 241,359 436,414
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B8 7 RO ) 11 4%
LIABILITIES 1,613,866 1,644,590

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A M BIR DLk

31 March 2025 R _HAE=HA=+—H

2025 2024
“R AR TR LR
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M i BT BT T
(Restated)
(EF)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES B RER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT R B Z RIT &% 29 271,231 235,634
Lease liabilities ME AR 15 104,938 140,455
Other payables and accruals JC At £°F 3k 8 M JE AL 28 2,182 2,129
Defined benefit obligations B8 18 A & i 30 5,881 5,759
Deferred tax liabilities A8 S I A £ 31 9,763 10,861
Total non-current liabilities I B £ A 393,995 394,838
Net assets BEFHE 1,219,871 1,249,752
EQUITY HE £
Equity attributable to equity holders BB AN RER A HM
of the Company BE 22
Issued capital BT IR AR 32 38,012 38,422
Reserves it 5 33 1,159,117 1,185,196
1,197,129 1,223,618
Non-controlling interests EIX23% ¥ 22,742 26,134
Total equity RE 25 J8ME 1,219,871 1,249,752
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ %! WU Wing Biu W &
Director #HH Director #HF

LEE R PN
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RBIVR AR A
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assefs at
fair value
Share through other Capital Exchange Non-
Issued premium Reserve Capital ~ comprehensive  Remeasurement ~ redemption ~ fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account funds Teserve income Teserve Teserve reserve profits Total interests equity
KATH
i R
Ml Aty
AL i Wk X
CHARA  TefridlR fife  whEE  AVERE  GHIRR MERR YRR REEA Bt REREE  REE
Note HES'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HES 000 HKS'000 HKS'000
B TR T M #EE BT BT BT BETE B BT BT BEER
(note 32) (note 33) (note 33) (note 33) (note 33)
Wv) ) W WA (itz)
At1 April 2003 REFZZERA-H 3842 19212 18,606 491 978 1370 1,534 15% 1,008,209 1275216 29,666 1304882
Profitoss) for the year R/ (BB - - - - - - - - 34657 34657 (1,361) B2%
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Efthamls/ (B
for the year:
Exchange differences on trnslation of BEBAERNERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - (54382 - (54382) (048) (55,030)
Changes in fair value of financial BATEERN2ELE
asset a fair valu through other comprehensive NEHEBEEZATH
income, net of tax 8 NRAE - - - - 4303 - - - - 430 - 4303
Remeasurement o defined benefi B R ERARE
obligations, net of tax NERE - - - - - 0N - - - 30 - 0
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERELTHER - - - - 4303 in - (34.38) 4657 (15,120 (2,009) (17,129
Derecognition of a subsidiary 3 il U - - - - - - - - % % (M) -
Dividends pad to non-controlling ENTHERRERA
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (1,499) (1,499)
Final 2023 ivdend declared ER-FZZEAHRE [} - - - - - - - - (91 (497 - (24974)
Tnterim 2024 dividend CECWERRE 1 - - - - - - - - (11,58 (11,528) - (11,528)
At31 March 2024 REFZMEZA=4-H 3842 199.212¢ 18,606* 4291 5281 1672¢ 1534 (51788 1006.388* 1223618 26,14 1249752

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity =

Car DL L4
FRARERR B B R
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HI4EE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
BERAATERAH

Fair value
reserve of
financial
assefs at
fair value
Share through other Capital Exchange Non-
Issued premium Reserve Capital ~ comprehensive ~ Remeasurement ~ redemption ~ fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account funds Teserve income Teserve Teserve reserve profts Total inferests equity
KT
i R
M ARy
i 1172 i Wk X
CHARA  TefridlR fife  whEE  AVERE  GHIRR MERR YRR REEA Bt REREE  REE
Notes HES 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HES 000 HKS'000 HKS'000
B TR T M #EE BT BT BT BETE B BT BT BEER

(note 32) (note 33) (note 33) (note 33) (note 33)
W) KE) W) () Hit)
AL Al 0 RoBmEmA R B 1866 481 581 16 G 06N LGS 6 LR
Profi(loss) for the year EnikHl/ (B8 - - - - - - - - 10,164 10,164 (13%) 8789
Other comprehensive incomef(loss) ERipAmng/ (B8
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation BASAERNER £H
of foreign operations - - - - - - - 3846 - 3846 (202) 364
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value —~ FAFHBRAE M2
through other compehensiv income, et of tax NENEBAEL AT
28 IRRE = - - - 6353 - - - - 6353 - 6,353
Remeasurement of defined beneft BHRRERAAE
obligations, net of tax NERE = = = - - 18 - - - 188 - 188
Total comprehensive incomel(loss) EREAElL/ (BR)
for the year - - - - 6353 188 - 3846 10,164 20351 (157 1894
Repurchase ofshares R A ki) (410) (10,130) - - - - 30 - (410) (10,600) S (10,600)
Transferof fair value reserve upon disposal of financial  t} EHA BB MR
asset a fair value through other comprehensive Wi ARHAREREE
income MR - - - - (8,967) - - - 8967 - - -
Captal contribution by non-controling shareholders e BBk - - - - - - - - - - $ 4
Dividends paid to non-controlling sharcholders ENFEEREGRA - - - - - - - - - = (1,860) (1.860)
Finel 2004 dividend declared BRCRZIERARE [} - - - - - - - - (2 T - (4974
Tnterim 2025 dividend ok e 12 - - - - - - - - (11,466) (11,466) - (11,466)
At31 March 2025 REFZREZA=4-H 1012 189,082¢ 18,606* 491 2,667 1.860% 1,884 (47942)% 988609¢ 1,197,129 0 1209871
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * % S AR R BB B R DR P B A
HKS$1,159,117,000 (2024: HK$1,185,196,000) in the consolidated #41,159,117,0009 J& (= F ZPU4F : 1,185,196,000%
statement of financial position. JG) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBRESREER

Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

2025 2024
e S K R
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Wt BT W oo
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BEBEHZB &R
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax I 56 i ¥4 24,450 46,932
Adjustments for: R B & TE A R
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures JEAG &8 A S R P K i 1B 610 2,299
Share of profits and losses of associates R A Yk 7 2 ] i ) B e 4R (6,932) (12,6006)
Bank interest income AT B WA 5 (4,572) (6,612)
Interest income B WA 5 - (1,490)
Dividend income BB A 5 (1,569) (1,039)
Net fair value losses on investment properties HEWHEZ AR T 5 483 383
Net fair value losses on financial assets at WA FEE BB R AR 4
fair value through profit or loss & 2 2 A 18 5 536 20,869
Finance costs (5292 %S 7 58,103 48,646
Loss/(gain) on voluntary liquidation of Bk Jig§ 2 ) DR A 2 1R
subsidiaries (W) 6 (6,577) 143
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of WE e - e K&k
property, plant and equipment, net WIEHE ZWEHE - FH 6 1,334 2,202
Depreciation of items of property, plant and W WELRMEIE R 2
equipment, except right-of-use assets > i FHRE A E PR Ab 8 70,813 75,514
Depreciation of right-of-use assets MR E2 P 8 140,749 130,539
Defined benefit expenses FLE A5 ) B 2 8 691 887
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets, B TR AR RS E 2 K
net o 8 (224) (726)
Amortisation of other intangible assets J At I TR A 2 B 8 3,840 4,065
Impairment of items of property, plant and LUE B G & YA
equipment, except right-of-use assets 8 > {5 B R & 2 R AP 6 593 1,641
Impairment of right-of-use assets i F W % 2 2 WA 6 1,646 1,550
Impairment of trade receivables JRE W B 5 TR ok = Wk 6 3,068 1,625
Write-down of slow-moving inventories s 8 1F 15 e 8 2,955 2,921
289,997 317,743




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

OBl

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HI4EE

2025 2024
e S K R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 7t BT W oo

Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEZWA (W) (59,170) 54,840
Decrease in trade receivables JE W B 5 ek Z Wk A 45,149 14,395
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and THAFZRIH ~ &) 4 S o Ath JE e 3k

other receivables HZ WA, (Bm) (29,246) 9,574
Settlement of defined benefit obligations 18 A 5 2 A8 P A& I 307) (572)
Decrease in trade payables, other payables and WA B2 55 MRk ~ At B A+ k0

accruals B EFH AR Z WA (36,543) (24,311)
Cash generated from operations REEBEMEZE L 209,880 371,669
Interest portion of lease payments G A 3k 2 A BER 4 34(b) (12,029) (7,553)
Hong Kong profits tax paid EAT B W R 1 B (18,893) (20,223)
Overseas taxes paid O A5 L At 5 I (10,050) (5,822)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBZBERMNANTH 168,908 338,071
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RUXHZBERE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received BRI DS 4,572 8,102
Dividends received from listed investments W H b 3% i B 1,569 1,039
Dividends received from associates W BRI % 4 =) i B 69 125
Purchases of items of property, plant and AP~ BE I EE &

equipment and leasehold land HE 14(a), (b) (271,108) (54,758)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, WEwE - WEAEHEEH

plant and equipment B 4% 5K I8 2,078 188
Capital contributions in joint ventures RS o <y (8,414) (6,857)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale HEREREEREZ S HE 12,442 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERAFHEBEBESARZ

fair value through profit or loss A RlE EZ IS E0E 8,955 674
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at H B 45 0 O {8 75 408 3 il 2 T

fair value through other comprehensive Wtk AJR 2 4 & a2 i i

income FRIE 18,090 55
Purchases of financial assets at fair value WE AR AN FEZE IR E R AR Z

through profit or loss 4l E (29,074) (18,240)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value W N O 1A 25 908 G Al 2 1T

through other comprehensive income We g5 A MR B 4 il R (16,832) (595)
Capital return from an associate — [ I 2 A R 2 R A IR i - 3,509
Net cash flows used in investing activities WEEH B e W EFH (277,653) (66,758)

LEEY PN
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

WA BlamEg

Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

2025 2024
et X 3 R
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
i3 BT BWT T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 0 3 B B A A

ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans R AT R R ER W 2,004,195 1,273,164
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans RAITERREFTRIBERZ

=K (1,653,623) (1,429,730)
Interest paid oA FE (46,074) (41,093)
Repurchase of shares i Dl B A3 32 (10,600) -
Principal portion of lease payments MEMNRZAR S 34(b) (140,487) (128,097)
Dividends paid [ERRY S (36,440) (36,502)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders .4} ¥ JE 5 B % Ik B (1,860) (1,499)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities BEIHEIZBHEWRA (R H)

b 115,111 (363,757)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BeERRESMHEAR M,

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (WA) 5% 6,366 (92,444)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4EHIZH & ABHLSEMEIEH 625,940 735,180
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net T RS B 5% B > W (329) (16,796)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SERZBER

AT END OF YEAR Be%MEH 631,977 625,940
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BeRAESMHIEH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Bz b
Cash and bank balances Bl KRATHAF 26 522,000 497,597
Time deposits E W A7 26 109,977 128,343
Cash and cash equivalents Ble K B4 FHIE H 631,977 625,940

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025




Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 it o B

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office of the Company is located at the office
of JTC (Cayman) Limited, with the address being 94 Solaris
Avenue, 2nd Floor, Camana Bay, P.O. Box 30745, Grand
Cayman KY1-1203, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in
investment holding, manufacturing and trading of snack foods,
confectionery, beverages, frozen food products, noodles, ham and

ham-related products, and the operations of restaurants.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

1.

2wl B 45 MRk

VU N AR A A R (AR F] 1) 2 —F B & 7
By R L 2 A BRA W] o AR ) Z RE R
AL JTC (Cayman) Limited Z ¥ 2 % > Huhik 23
94 Solaris Avenue, 2nd Floor, Camana Bay, P.O.
Box 30745, Grand Cayman KY1-1203, Cayman
Islands °

FN o AR Z BEEB BB WX
BIEEE MR OB R AR MR X
OB B K TR A I 7 ity o DA B AR R R o

A7 B B 0 A W) 2 TR
AT Z EZEHE AR R

follows:
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
Place of registered and  attributable to the Company
incorporation/ fully paid-up AR BN R
registration and capital
business o

Name G AV YR Direct Indirect Principal activities
#i Bl R BB R R B A Hik 23 ER 3
Ascent Land Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Property investment
T 24 i 10,0003 7¢ MR %
Champ Business Development Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 - 70.0 Investment holding
RAERRARAT ik 20,000,000% 75 RE LM
Cowboy Food Company Limited Hong Kong HKS$6,000,000 - 85.0 Manufacturing
A A RA ik 6,000,000 ¢ of snack foods
MR
Crowne Profits Limited British Virgin Islands USS1 - 100.0 Investment holding
KR IE LR 1%7E REVR
E-Options Technology Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100.0 Property holding
KRR LR 1% B2
Elegant Town Investments Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
HEWAE A R A H it 171 i gcgadle
Ever Media Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
3 10,000,000% 7 B
Fancy Talent Ecommerce Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100.0  Sales of confectionery and
ZRMBEFHBEARA ik 10,000,000 & food products

SR R

T YA AR A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1o 2] B MR (5)

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT ()

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity

Place of registered and  attributable to the Company
incorporation/ fully paid-up AN BRI
registration and capital
business 3% ¢

Name FE gL/ @ Direct Indirect Principal activities
i3 X B R 3997 H % ER S 4
Fancy Talent Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 - 100.0 Marketing
ZRMFAMATH i 100,000,000% 7c of snack foods
M2
Four Seas (Guangzhou) Food Import and Export PRC/Mainland China RMB29,000,000 - 100.0  Trading in confectionery
Trading Company Limited’ R PE AR AR29,000,0007 and
PO (RN g i T A A R food products
BWREBERZE S
Four Seas (Hebei) Food Company Limited" PRC/Mainland China HK$24,000,000 - 100.0 Processing of chestnuts
PO (W) # A A R /o K B 24,000,000 7 T
Four Seas (Japan) Holdings Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investing holding
PO (A B I A A i 10,0003 76 idcgadle
Four Seas (Qingyuan) Tourism PRC/Mainland China HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding and
Development Company Limited* g K B 20,000,000 ¢ restaurant operations
VU (6 3 ) i ¢ JR A R ) MR R R ERE
Four Seas (Shantou) Foods Industrial Park PRC/Mainland China HK$30,500,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Management Co., Ltd." R/ Ok B 30,500,000% 7C WERR

P9 ol ) £ B TS A A A R
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China 1US$20,800,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing of
T (M) & A RA R R/ K B 20,800,000 75 beverages
i B
Four Seas (Yang Shan) Development Company PRC/Mainland China HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Limited" LV PN 20,000,000 7 VESEYe

VY (7L ) 5 A T )

Four Seas Candy (Shantou) Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China HK$50,203,380 - 100.0 Manufacturing
O A R B ) A PR R LV PN 50,203,380 7¢ of candies
BRI
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2 BB BEE R ()
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT ()

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity

Place of registered and  attributable to the Company
incorporation/ fully paid-up AN MR T I
registration and capital
business 1T

Name S/ S YR Direct Indirect Principal activities

#i B R EB N B R B A H# I £ FERH

Four Seas Candy Company Limited Hong Kong HK$50,550,000 - 100.0 Investment holding

P4 R A A Bl 50,550,003 7 B

Four Seas Catering Enterprises Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding

TR A RA T 3 10,0003 7¢ B

Four Seas China Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding

O o g A A RBELTEE 1,000,000% 7 RE L

Four Seas Confectionery (Shantou) PRC/Mainland China HK$33,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing

Company Limited" R/ K B 33,320,000 7C of cakes

5 SRR AT R A B

Four Seas Ecommerce Company Limited Hong Kong HK$2,900,000 - 100.0 E-commerce retailing

TY I T A A iy 2,900,000% 7 of confectionery

and food products

WRAREHZ

BFHHEE

Four Seas Enterprises (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$20,000 100.0 - Investment holding

KRR LI 20,000% 78 RERER

Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China HK$96,000,000 - 100.0  Trading in confectionery

PO 5 (5 A7 PR ) iV PN 96,000,000 7t and

food products

BRERMZHES

Four Seas Greater Bay Area Headquarter Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding

Limited 3 10,000,000% 7C & I
VG K O A A R )

Four Seas Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100.0 - Investment holding

9 o 7 B R i 50,000,000% 76 R

T YA AR A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1o 2] B MR (5)

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT ()

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity

Place of registered and  attributable to the Company
incorporation/ fully paid-up AN MR T I

registration and capital

business 1T
Name S/ S YR Direct Indirect Principal activities
# Xl B B8R B A Hik 23 TEEH
Four Seas Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100.0  Provision of transportation
Y Y A R ) i 200,000% 7T services
i P
Four Seas Mercantile Limited Hong Kong (i) Ordinary HK$200 - 100.0 Trading in snack foods,
JUNE 5 A RATR A (i) Non-voting deferred confectionery and
HK$20,000,000 beverages
(i) % H I 2009 7c MBS BER K
(i) S 1 Bz 5

BRI A

20,000,000% 7
Four Seas Property Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
T A R (R 50,000,000% 76 & I
FS-Sushiyoshi Company Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 - 55.0 Restaurant operations
i 2,000,000% ¢ RELE
Guang Dong Fourseas Frozen Food PRC/Mainland China RMB&§3,300,000 - 100.0 Trading in frozen
Products Co., Ltd." WEPE AR ARM83,300,0007 food products and
TR U % A A A R snack foods
BREMINEZHS
Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China HK$6,000,000 - 33.2% Restaurant operations
BMERA 2R EHRAF /o K B 6,000,000% G REAR
Homeright Properties Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100.0 Holding of trademarks
RUERAMAH KRIE LR 1% RN
Hong Kong Biscuit (International) Limited Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 99.3 Investment holding
Frs O (BIH) A RA LR 40,000,000 7 B I
Hong Kong Confectionery Company Limited Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
R RARA R 7,000,000% ¢ B I
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2 BB BEE R ()
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT ()

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity

Place of registered and  attributable to the Company
incorporation/ fully paid-up AN MR T I
registration and capital
business 1T

Name S/ S YR Direct Indirect Principal activities

#i B R EB N B R B A H# I £ FERH

Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Manufacturing and

T Ut KB R I R A ) ik 20% 7T packaging of ham and

ham-related products

B R BB

B I K B

IFSCO Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$57,200,000 100.0 - Investment holding

ik 57,200,000 7 fraseid

J. P. Inglis Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in

FR LT AR A il 1,000,003 ¢ food materials

R R R %

KTC Corporation Japan JPY 10,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in cakes

R EHEHRA2A A& 10,000,000 & EHEH A

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Hong Kong HK$3,660,000 - 99.0 Restaurant operations

Cuisine Limited Bl 3,660.000% 7T RERE
DK LR BHRAR

Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China US$5,220,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing

ME(ER) BhERAR" R/ K B 5,220,00035 € of noodles

B E

Men Taishou Co., Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Restaurant operations

XA R A i 171 RELR

Miyata Co., Ltd. (“MYC”) Japan JPY50,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in snack foods

HHHkA 2 (MYC)) HA& 50,000,000 H [H and confectionery

IMERBERE 5

Miyata (Tianjin) International Trading Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China US$400,000 - 100.0 Trading in snack foods

T A (Re) AR ) i VPN 400,0003 70 and confectionery

M BAER

T YA AR A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1o 2] B MR (5)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

Percentage of equity

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT ()

Place of registered and  attributable to the Company
incorporation/ fully paid-up A BEARE R 2 b
registration and capital
business 3% ¢
Name VgL @ Direct Indirect Principal activities
% Bk BELS BB B AR H 3 TEEH
Murray Catering Company Limited Hong Kong HKS$1,000,000 - 70.0 Provision of lunch box
FER B M A RA R B 1,000,000% ¢ and tuck shop services
Retma R
ANEL R IS
Namtien Noodle Limited Hong Kong HKS$1,000 - 51.0  Manufacturing of noodles
RS A i 1,000% 72 TR
New Kondo Trading Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in Japanese
LR AHRAH i 1,000,000% 7t food materials
HAR &SRB 5
Nico Four Seas (Shantou) Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China HK$28,000,000 - 60.0 Manufacturing of seaweed
TR T il ) A7 B G VA PN 28,000,000 7t products
XA
Nico-Nico Four Seas Company Limited Hong Kong HK$28,000,000 - 60.0 Investment holding
T A B 6] i 28,000,000% ¢ RH M
Okashi Land (Macau) Company Limited Macau MOP500,000 - 100.0 Retailer of snack foods
By (RMARAR W 500,0008 M [ IMNEZRETR
Restaurant Shiki Limited Hong Kong HKS$3,200,000 - 100.0 Restaurant operations
i 3,200,000% 7G RERE
Tsun Fat (Huizhou) Biscuit Factory Limited" PRC/Mainland China HK$73,000,000 - 99.3  Manufacturing of biscuits
B8 GEM) BHo o A 7 G VPN 73,000,0003 7 B g
T & M Advertising Company Limited Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Advertising agency
EEEEARAR Bl 2075 i
Vast Assets Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Property investment
BEBAMRAH i 10,0003 76 LESI§c
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INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
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1o 2] B MR (5)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT ()

Percentage of equity

Place of registered and  attributable to the Company
incorporation/ fully paid-up AN MR T I

registration and capital

business 1T
Name S/ S YR Direct Indirect Principal activities
# Xl B R B A Hik 23 TEEH
LA mE A A RAT PRC/Mainland China RMB3,500,000 - 100.0  Trading in confectionery
e AR ARM3500,0007 and food products
BRREMHZH S
56 T A R A R PRC/Mainland China HK$37,000,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing and
LV PN 37,000,000% 7 packaging of ham and
ham-related products
B T B4 B
T BB E
REEHAEINHR A PRC/Mainland China HK$5,600,000 - 100.0 Trading in
/K B 5,600,000% ¢ food materials
BMERZH S
YN 5 A RAR" PRC/Mainland China HK$67,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in snacks
K B 67,000,000% 7c and confectionery
MERERZEY
BT HEBEARAF" PRC/Mainland China RMB73,959,210 - 99.0* Restaurant operations
(“GZ Panxi”) ([ BEM P ) TEREkRE ARW739592107 RERE
TY BB F A R A PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - 100.0 Sales of snacks
R K A B#500,00078 and confectionery

HENRRER

T YA AR A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

* Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, accordingly, is
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control

over it.

n These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned

enterprises under PRC law.

AN This subsidiary is registered as a Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and

domestic joint venture under PRC law.

Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement entered into by the
Group and M T 7 ¥ [ N\ BB B A & A BB BR (the
“Vendor”) for the acquisition of GZ Panxi, the Vendor retains a
1% shareholding in GZ Panxi and is not entitled to any share of
the profit or loss in GZ Panxi nor has the right to participate in the
operation or management of GZ Panxi but has the veto right in the

following:

- the alteration of the tax registration of GZ Panxi in Liwan
District, Guangzhou, the PRC;

- the alteration of the use of the building occupied by GZ Panxi

other than the Cantonese style restaurant operation; and

- the use of the trademark of GZ Panxi.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 AL HE ()

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has

power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to

be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of

control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as

appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting

Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1

Current or Non-current (the

“2020 Amendments”)
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022

Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting

Standards are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no
sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments

did not have any impact on the financial position or

performance of the Group.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2.2 €l WOR Ko e 2 2 0 (57)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for

classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within

12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 April 2023 and 2024 upon initial
application of the amendments. As at 1 April 2024, the
Group had an interest-bearing bank loan with carrying
amounts of HK$195,250,000, which was repayable within
12 months. The loan was drawn down from a 3-year banking
facility expiring on 31 July 2026 and the Group has the right
to roll over the loan for another year. Prior to the initial
application of the amendments, the interest-bearing bank
loan was classified as a current liability as the Group did
not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement for
at least 12 months after the reporting period. Upon initial
application of the amendments, the loan was reclassified
as a non-current liability since the Group has the right to
roll over the interest-bearing bank loan for at least twelve

months after 1 April 2024 under its existing loan facility.

As at 1 April 2023, the classification of the Group’s
liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged
because the Group did not have the right to roll over its
loans for another year, and therefore, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position of the Group
as at 1 April 2023. Accordingly, the consolidated statement
of financial position as of 1 April 2023 is not presented

upon initial application of the amendments.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(©)

94

2.2 €l WOR Ko e 2 2 0 (57)

(continued) (b) (%)
The quantitative impact on the consolidated statements of EAEMBRNEZ L2 RN T
financial position is summarised below.
Increase/(decrease)
Bim,/ (W&)
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
BRI /A 111 f2 3
=i == =H=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T 3o
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B 11 4%
Interest-bearing bank borrowings RS Z SRAT B (242,581) (195,250)
Total current liabilities R R (242,581) (195,250)
NET CURRENT ASSETS i ) ¥ i 242,581 195,250
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B 7 DR UR ) £ 45
LIABILITIES 242,581 195,250
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES T Ui B £ 0
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ZH BT R S Z SRAT B 242,581 195,250
Total non-current liabilities FE B A AAE 242,581 195,250
The adoption of the amendments did not have any impact B ZEETHBEE _F_1FE_F
on the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to TWEZH=Z=+—HILFEERREA R SIS
ordinary equity holders of the parent, profit or loss, other WA NEAGERERREBEERN - 3
comprehensive income and the consolidated statements of £~ H A4 T AR K A B A T R R I
cash flows for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. R A R
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the (c) Tk 5l e R 55758 S 75 ok B 265 i 45 e 7|

characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not

have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS

Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet

effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to

apply these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if

applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendment to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 72

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial

Instruments®

Contracts Referencing Nature-

dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability'

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

) Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027

i No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

1)
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O AH R A 3 2 7% s B B A

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes
and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as
HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting
period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for
public use which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards.
Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of
the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the application of

HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O AH R A 3 2 7% s B B A

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through
an electronic payment system before the settlement date if
specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess
the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets
with environmental, social and governance and other similar
contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment
to opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at
the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time
or only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the
“own-use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the
designation requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow
hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The amendments
also include additional disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to understand the effects these contracts have on
an entity’s financial performance and future cash flows. The
amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be applied
retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. The
amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied
prospectively to new hedging relationships designated n or after
the date of initial application. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at
the same time. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the

amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of
translation differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on

the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs 1G1, 1G14 and 1G20B
of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the
purpose of simplification or achieving consistency with
other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts
and terminology used in other standards. In addition, the
amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant

impact on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9
and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In
addition, the amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS
9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37
and HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition
of “cost method”. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over

those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the

unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of
the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income
of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates and joint ventures is included as part of

the Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or

loss.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

2.4 ¥R € it B B

RBEAGARSBERZHE

gt 28 2 ) 5 A 45 T R Y A A 2 B S R —
AHR20% K EUEHEREENZHE - |
KEGE )16 2 LA B 5 0 B A8 U SR v
T3> AB e fae ] o 0 5 42 ) % S BORE o

frE AR RS Lk > B I R
BT A B A SRR R o SR R R
A A0 b o2 36 52 L AR R I RE o B LR IR B R
SRR REIE P I 25 05 — B R BB UL T O
FAAE -

ACER R I A F M R AR S B T AL R
BT Ak AR G T T A A R AT T A
HEE SR M BR DL AR o AR B PT84 A 7
B 8 A SR MBI A 2 S 268 o L At 2 i WAL 4 4 )
Al A B 4R R A B A Al 2T 2R o B
i L P T A ) e A S 2 B A AT B
SR > RIS B DU A SR A B R
T 0 FC Al o 28 5B o A 5 D BB 0 4 A W]
B A SRR B Z AR S B WA B i RS DAAC SR
RBE ARG EEEZRE R RE > M
RS B M 18 P T A TR o WA B
BT B B A S R TR A R A A
BEATR REGEEEIRE M AIIE -

MRBE A ZRERE RN GEREIELE
BN BB AR BRE RN AR ZRE
PREGHESE A BT - RZ > REIFBA L
BESE LR o AEFTA AL BT » 75 % B
LS OS2 VD E Ry Lk
BEAR > ACHR 35 M w5 % e AT A R B 4%
B o R F TRy ol W) e R AR T A
A B A A 3R R T E SR B A K
B T Pk S ] B4 A 2 55 % R R e R o



Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 it o B

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 K€l BOR W ()

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are

expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the

ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition fair value and
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other

comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - Dbased on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

each reporting period.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, investment properties and non-current assets
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,

otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired

asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of

profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

()

(i1)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

()

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of

the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same

third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);

and

(viii)the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to

its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them

accordingly.

Land and buildings, which are classified as right-of-use assets
and owned assets, are measured at cost less any subsequent

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The

principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Owned assets

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings 2% — 33'3%
Leasehold improvements 4% — 33'/3%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5% — 50%
Plant and machinery 10% — 50%
Motor vehicles 15% - 30%
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 K€l BOR W ()

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful

lives of the assets as follows:

Right-of-use assets

Leasehold land
Buildings

Over the lease terms
Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment Over the lease terms
Plant and machinery Over the lease terms
Motor vehicles Over the lease terms
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life

of the asset.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and building (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,

investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects

market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of

investment properties are included in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment

property are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the

amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful

life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships are stated at cost less any impairment

losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

Customer relationships

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to

use the underlying assets.

(a) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment

occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the

underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the

commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).

When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either

an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease term and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period
in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee are

accounted for as finance leases.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

2.4 MK €t BOR B (5

M ()
AP EZ AR (5)
(b) HFIHIRE RN 18 5 R

A 45 0k 0 I A (B A PR 4R R T
24 H B PA T » 3 H A 4 0 B s
WEZ FHE) ME R A B fEsR iRt o

A A 55 T G B T L AL R > AR
VB S35 L IR R
1t -

e 1 REL A £ L 2 AL B S i
LB YT 19 92 L AR 3 Tl Ry PR 3

AL Y 1 7 AL

HAGE AT AN C R AR B A i (S
H B B O ) A LA % A B AR A
Bk g -

AR M 36 A S R O R A O 4y
JE B R I R B B - AR
8 R R IR AR Ay o A 42 AR 9 A 8
B A I O AR B B A A o HRIL
PR AR o AT S IR AR A
WRaf st AR AR R T Z AR N o R BETE S & HE
R AL N AR Z WA LR A B B
i MR AT AR - Sl R R YT P A ) e e R
RN o BARAH 4 775 77 o e JUI [] P e 58 2
W gt o

R A e A R O O 2 4 AT 4 L e B 1]
THBEARMAZIMEIARSMEHE -



Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 it o B

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 K€l BOR W ()

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other

comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Company initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified

and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the

asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss

when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument

basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are

not subject to impairment assessment.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments are
also recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when:

D the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there has been a
significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are

more than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables

which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and

borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.
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(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease
liabilities.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (trade and other payables, and (borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. In the case of work in progress and self-produced
finished goods, cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of

meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s

cash management.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the

countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,

except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 K€l BOR W ()

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are

expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects

to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with

the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the assets is transferred to the customer,

generally on delivery of the goods.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period

in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the

Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 K€l BOR W ()

(continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees'
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 13% to 21% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable

in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit obligations

The Group has unfunded defined benefit retirement plans which
cover all its qualifying employees and executive officers in
Japan, depending on their length of service, salary in the final

years leading up to retirement and the retirement factor.

The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is
the present value of the defined benefit obligation. The defined
benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuary
using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension
obligation. If there is no deep market in such bonds, the market

rates on government bonds are used.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit obligations (continued)

Remeasurements of the defined benefit liability which include
actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they arise and will not be
reclassified to profit or loss. Service costs and interest on the
defined benefit liability are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Interest on the defined benefit liability is determined by
multiplying the defined benefit liability by the discount rate used
to measure defined benefit obligation at the start of the annual
reporting period, taking account of any changes in the defined
benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and

benefit payments.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model or the Black-Scholes
model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the

beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 K€l BOR W ()

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed
as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are

also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of

funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final

dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a

liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 K€l BOR W ()

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
consolidated statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those

prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at

the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax

planning strategies.
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3. BEErE A A ()

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of

contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating
whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate
the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create
an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses
the lease term if there is a significant event or change in
circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate the

lease (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss

patterns (i.e., by geographic region and customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 23 to the financial
statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and

equipment

The Group determines whether intangible assets with definite
useful lives, property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets are impaired when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying values of these assets exceed their recoverable
amounts, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair values
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Further details are given in notes 14 and 18 to the financial

statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Changes
to these key judgement and estimates could materially affect
the determination of whether there is an impairment and the
related amounts. If there are significant adverse changes in the
aforementioned judgement and estimates, it may be necessary
to record significant additional impairment charge in future
periods. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2025 was
HK$101,871,000 (2024: HK$101,740,000). Further details are

given in note 17 to the financial statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on geographical areas and has three reportable

operating segments as follows:

(i) the Hong Kong segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, ham and ham-related products, noodles,
the retailing of snack foods, confectionery and beverages,
provision of catering services, and the operations of

restaurants;

(ii)) the Mainland China segment is engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of snack foods, confectionery,
beverages, frozen food products, ham and ham-related

products, noodles, and the operations of restaurants; and

(iii) the Japan segment is engaged in the wholesaling and

distribution of snack foods and confectionery.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit before tax except that interest income, dividend
income and unallocated gains/losses, non-lease-related finance
costs, share of profits and losses of joint ventures and associates
and corporate and other unallocated expenses are excluded from

such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
investments in joint ventures and associates, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income and cash and cash

equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments

Year ended 31 March 2025

4. BRI WER (B)

H W 53

BREZHEZA=Z1T—HIRAEE

Mainland
Hong Kong China Japan Total
Hk K B HA At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
wH T wH T BHTIL BHTIL
Segment revenue: (note 5) MIWA ¢ (HfiEs)
Sales to external customers* HEFIRE R 1,774,086 586,546 1,264,790 3,625,422
Intersegment sales PR 4 B 42,433 191,931 38,606 272,970
Total segment revenue A EBA 1,816,519 778,477 1,303,396 3,898,392
Reconciliation: -
Elimination of intersegment sales 7R 3 B R B (272,970)
Total revenue Bl A 3,625,422
Segment results Vi E X 89,682 (10,570) 13,866 92,978
Reconciliation: B
Interest income FBWA 4,572
Dividend income and unallocated gains, net % B AR A4 B > 1,033
Finance costs (other than interest on lease A AR (LS BB B BRA)
liabilities) (46,074)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures JEAN 8 4 S A T s 4 (610)
Share of profits and losses of associates JEEAN Wik 8 2~ ] 36 ) R s 4R 6,932
Corporate and other unallocated expenses N ER Y (34,381)
Profit before tax B B 6 e A1 24,450

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025



Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 it o B

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BENWER (H)
INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical segments (continued) k3 ()
Year ended 31 March 2024 BRE _Z WE=ZH=1+—HILEE
Mainland
Hong Kong China Japan Total
B il PN A& it
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

W T T W T W T

Segment revenue: (note 5) MIBA (K iEs)
Sales to external customers* BETIRER 1,851,052 682,460 1,364,710 3,898,222
Intersegment sales RE 49,134 193,734 46,156 289,024
Total segment revenue AT WA 1,900,186 876,194 1,410,866 4,187,246
Reconciliation: e -
Elimination of intersegment sales TN T (289,024)
Total revenue HBA 3,898,222
Segment results I ELL 107,278 15,055 4,670 127,003
Reconciliation: HIE :
Interest income FEBBA 8,102
Dividend income and unallocated losses, net B B A4 B 48 5 (19,830)
Finance costs (other than interest on lease T A (R & A B BRAL)

liabilities) (41,093)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures WE Al 8 4 3 A T s 48 (2.299)
Share of profits and losses of associates R £ W 2 ) ¥ ) % s 1 12,606
Corporate and other unallocated expenses 23 ) Tl A 43 T B (37,557)
Profit before tax i 0 3 46,932

P £ AR 2
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

4. BRI WER (B)

Geographical segments (continued) Wb I 2y B ()
Year ended 31 March 2025 BRE_Z HAEZA=Z+—HIL4EPE
Mainland
Hong Kong China Japan Total
&t K B HA At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
#W T #W T EW T EW T
Segment assets Vi %:9 1,399,619 667,855 479,423 2,546,897
Reconciliation: HiE -
Elimination of intersegment receivables T 8 M S B (365,042)
Investments in joint ventures REBAEZRE 12,362
Investments in associates REEARZEE 186,995
Corporate and other unallocated assets 2 R AR 4 BB 791,553
Total assets B 3,172,765
Segment liabilities g 3y 480,528 276,168 295,080 1,051,776
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment payables 1) 70 B A8 O 1 (365,042)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities NG &R =L 1,266,160
Total liabilities fAE 1,952,894
Other segment information: KRR HWEH
Impairment of trade receivables JEE W 52 53 R ok £ 944 2,118 6 3,068
Write-down of slow-moving inventories R R 7 2,800 148 2,955
Depreciation and amortisation, except P78 T B
for right-of-use assets (R ELSEHE R ) 24,510 41,150 8,993 74,653
Depreciation of right-of-use assets MG 116,119 17,409 7,221 140,749
Impairment of items of property, plant and W¥E- B REEEAZ
equipment, except right-of-use assets WA (O B 56 A REE ) 593 - - 593
Impairment of right-of-use assets T4 W 1,646 = - 1,646
Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off of items of HE/WMEmE - BERk
property, plant and equipment REHAEZEH () (313) 8 1,639 1,334
Fair value loss on investment properties WEWEZ A VHER - 432 51 483
Capital expenditure®* AR A 249,146 21,618 344 271,108
Non-current assets*** FeE B e 498,398 355,157 218,069 1,071,624
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4. BRI WER (B)

INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024

Hb Ik

5y (41)

REZ WA= =1 —HILSE

Mainland
Hong Kong China Japan Total
B R ok e H A& At
HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT BIHFIT
Segment assets IE E 1,172,523 671,100 490,082 2,333,705
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment receivables A] 0 WGk K (350,502)
Investments in joint ventures REBREZRE 4,558
Investments in associates R E AR ZRE 181,046
Corporate and other unallocated assets AT R FEAb A S L 759,336
Total assets B A 2,928,143
Segment liabilities A 536,954 264,116 302,179 1,103,249
Reconciliation: i -
Elimination of intersegment payables TA] 0 M A 2k (350,502)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities AT R AR A E 925,644
Total liabilities BB 1,678,391
Other segment information: Jefb 2 B ER
Impairment of trade receivables JE Wi B 5 W R A 715 280 630 1,625
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of T B A/ (R B e 8¢
slow-moving inventories (115) 3,466 (430) 2,921
Depreciation and amortisation, e T e (N QAR )
except for right-of-use assets 22,168 45,920 11,491 79,579
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i B A 106,204 17,031 7,304 130,539
Impairment of items of property, plant and WE - BEREFEEEZ
equipment, except right-of-use assets WA (A sEfE ARG ) 250 - 1,391 1,641
Impairment of right-of-use assets 5 PR M 1,550 - - 1,550
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, — H#& /MEMWE ~ BE Kk
plant and equipment R H 2 B H 542 1,459 201 2,202
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties REWEZAFEER,/ (i) - 437 (54) 383
Capital expenditure** BEAR P 3+ 13,953 39,740 1,065 54,758
Non-current assets*** e L By e e 303,849 384,889 231,328 920,066
N The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

ok

ok sk

customers, except for a subsidiary within the Japan segment
whose sales to external customers of HK$69,821,000 (2024:
HK$73,158,000) arising from Mainland China.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment, excluding right-of-use assets arising from leased
buildings, furniture, fixtures and equipment, plant and machinery,
and motor vehicles.

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of
the assets, except for a subsidiary within the Japan segment whose
non-current assets of HK$46,000 (2024: HK$54,000) is based
in Mainland China, and excludes financial instruments, deferred
tax assets, tax recoverable and investments in joint ventures and
associates.

ok
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

BA -3

LA BN Be 2,
GAINS/(LOSSES), NET ) - T
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA :
2025 2024
e S [ RIS
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Revenue from contracts with customers REAEFGHZEA 3,625,422 3,898,222
Revenue from contracts with customers RKAZEPESH2ZWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WMASHEH
2025 2024
ZR AR R4
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Primary geographical markets: T HE S i T
Hong Kong s 1,774,086 1,851,052
Mainland China o g ok 586,546 682,460
Japan* H A 1,264,790 1,364,710
Total revenue Mg A 3,625,422 3,898,222
Timing of revenue recognition: T ZB W 25 IF T <
At a point in time FE LA 0 R 3,625,422 3,898,222
* Including revenue from contracts with customers of * WEEAR E B KR F A AT E A

approximately HK$69,821,000 (2024: HK$73,158,000)

arising from Mainland China.

The amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting

B W A #969,821,0009 76 (=& - PY4E ¢

73,158,000 JC) °

TP S B0 i A A 46 5B 2 I S T

period that were included in the contract liabilities at the CiERZ2WERLSHEWT
beginning of the reporting period are as follows:
2025 2024
ZRTAAR ZR Y4
HKS$°000 HK$°000
BT T
Sale of goods SHEER A 2,118 2,090

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA > oA Bk
GAINS/(LOSSES), NET (continued) OE#) > 5% (5)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) KHAZEPEHZBA ()
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BRI AT
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is HFRALEEBLHE L ZERMEARN T ¢

summarised below:

Sale of goods B ER

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of BRI BARN M AR R AT > Ak — %
the goods and payment is generally due within one to three MR —FZ=MHRNBH > MEEEF
months, extending up to four to five months for major ma > TERENERMA - EHFHEF—
customers, from delivery, except for new customers, where T EIHE AT o

payment in advance is normally required.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining RE=A=Z+—H X G&HSHERHE
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) B (REREHMARER BT :

as at 31 March are as follows:

2025 2024
ZZ TR - Sy 11 = 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT
Amounts expected to be recognised PR - N
as revenue: ZAEH
Within one year —4EN 2,583 2,118
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining ST BRI E A LR 5 E S HTE
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as B —E N EREE AW -

revenue within one year.

P £ AR 2
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS/(LOSSES), NET (continued)

An analysis of other income and gains/(losses), net is as follows:

5. WA - JCABBCA K BesE

O #1) - &80 (8)

HABWRA KW 2, (1) » FHE W :

2025 2024
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T

Other income B fl B A
Bank interest income AT B WA 4,572 6,612
Dividend income B B WA 1,569 1,039
Rental income from investment properties REMEREYHEZ

operating leases: HEWA -

Other lease payments, including fixed FCA AR B Ah k> AL 1 E

payments 3% 2,959 3,037

Other interest income oA AT B A - 1,490
Others Hoflo 7,636 7,659
Total other income BN YN L 16,736 19,837
Gains/(losses), net W2k Ok > HH
Net fair value losses on investment BEWEZ A FE

properties Js 15 B A (483) (383)
Net fair value losses on financial assets at A PAEE B 1E A A TR

fair value through profit or loss & RE B 2 T S 18 A (536) (20,869)
Total losses, net HEE > FH (1,019) (21,252)
Total other income and gains/(losses), net ML W A R Wtk (4R >

R 15,717 (1,415)
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6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES, NET 6. ALK PIX - HH
An analysis of other operating expenses, net is as follows: HALK B L - FHEASHWTF :
2025 2024
ZR AR e S 1t S
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
A BT T Vidiaan

Auditors’ remuneration % B il T 4 9,409 9,429
Bank charges AT EH 2,698 2,161
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of W& W - ME

property, plant and equipment, net Mk WIEHE Z R -

T 1,334 2,202

Impairment of items of property, plant and ¥ BE K HEE

equipment, except right-of-use assets WAL (A &5 81

MEH ) 14(a) 593 1,641

Impairment of right-of-use assets i FH W & 2 AR 14(b) 1,646 1,550
Impairment of trade receivables JE W B 5 B 3k AT 3,068 1,625
Loss/(gain) on voluntary liquidation of Fit JEg A W) B B 2

subsidiaries M5 48, (e 2k ) (6,577) 143
Others FC At 1,607 (113)
Total sk 13,778 18,638

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: B RAR ST
2025 2024
R4 —R Y4
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT Vodioa an

Interest on bank and trust receipt loans SRAT Bk B AE Re iR B R B 46,074 41,093
Interest on lease liabilities =g =g [P 12,029 7,553
Total 4=t 58,103 48,646

P £ AR 2
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

8. BB i &k A

ASR M 2 BrBLET R R TR (BEA) ¢

(crediting):
2025 2024
ZRTIAR TR
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt ik BT BT o

Cost of inventories sold EEFEZ A 2,754,182 2,983,115
Depreciation of items of property, W~ WE Rk EIEE

plant and equipment, except ZPE o NS RE

right-of-use assets Vag: 14(a) 70,813 75,514
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ok M e W 14(b) 140,749 130,539
Amortisation of other intangible assets Al TE & A 2 18 3,840 4,065
Lease payments not included in the R w A B AR I O A

measurement of lease liabilities: FFAZH BN -

Lease rental for short-term leases HHE S 32,781 46,365

Contingent rent AR 4 7,163 13,073
Employee benefit expense (excluding B B A& A BH 32 OF B 4%

directors' and chief executive’s HERBEETBAA

remuneration (note 9)): 4 (HfE9)) -

Wages, salaries, allowances and T&E - %4 iR

benefits in kind T 391,991 385,364

Pension scheme contributions” RN 1 15,385 16,621

Defined benefit expenses FLE 15 A B 3 30 691 887

Total At 408,067 402,872
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use HILERE RS EZ

assets, net q&fﬁ ’ {%%ﬁ (224) (726)
Foreign exchange differences, net BEE 56 25 %H > AR 599 (3,774)
Direct operating expenses (including WA G a2

repairs and maintenance) arising from HERBEHX

rental-earning investment properties (95 At AR %) 1,000 1,450
Write-down of slow-moving inventories* ¥ 8 17 £t 81 * 2,955 2,921

2 At 31 March 2025, there are no forfeited contributions that may be

used by the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of

contributions (2024: Nil).

e The write-down of slow-moving inventories is included in “Cost of

sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors' and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 it o B

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

g R w AT BN B4

FNHEREREHEITEAN B E&% LT A F
WA F GBI 45383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () B (DB KA
W (PBERER AR HAI 22 HENT

2025 2024

TR RIS

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Fees A4 1,108 1,108
Other emoluments: AT 4 -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fid o HI R EYA 11,887 11,986

Discretionary bonus (R AN 338 306

Pension scheme contributions RAR AT 8 2Z fhak 83 63

Subtotal /NaE 12,308 12,355

Total sk 13,416 13,463

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

(a) MR
ERNDATBILIERTEREZ RSN T

2025 2024

TR ZRIA

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter R E A 120 120
Tsunao Kijima A A M 468 468
Cheung Wing Choi A A 120 120
Total B 708 708

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2024: Nil).

AF P9 I S0 It T <2 B A T R SRR LT
(ZF U4 : 4) -

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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9. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive

9. A Fedw W4T BN HMH 4 (4)

(b) BATH S BB AT H

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonus  contributions remuneration
Wid s WK Y |

M4 LI E A6 4L Z % 33 T 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HHT T V.3 o T Vi3 T Vi o T T

2025 - X 2
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Wl 80 3,973! = = 4,053
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WER 80 2,002 177 = 2,259
Tai Chun Kit i 80 3,217 = 27 3,324
Wu Wing Biu W KA 80 1,588 135 9 1,812
Wong Fu Hang, Derek* I R 49 719 - 12 780
Tse Siu Wan* A= 31 388 26 35 480
Total F 400 11,887 338 83 12,708

2024 R
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen B 80 3,840! - - 3,920
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WEE 80 1,912 171 - 2,163
Tai Chun Kit HUE B 80 3,7102 - 27 3,817
Wu Wing Biu W K 80 1,341 135 18 1,574
Wong Fu Hang, Derek T i 9% 80 1,183 - 18 1,281
Total Gt 400 11,986 306 63 12,755
* Mr. Wong Fu Hang, Derek resigned as executive director of * S A e+ — H L H BHE

the Company with effect from 9 November 2024.

Mr. Tse Siu Wan was appointed as executive director of the

Company with effect from 9 November 2024.

Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
is an estimated rental of HK$2,773,000 (2024: HK$3,840,000)

for a director’s quarter owned by the Group.

2 Including the rental expenses of HK$1,967,000 (2024:
HK$2,460,000) paid for a director’s quarter.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2024: Nil).
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
(2024: four) directors which included the chief executive, details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2024: one)
highest paid employee who was neither a director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

10.

o %55 I e v D R

AR s T AL I B R H LA Y fr (B
BRETBANER) (SR ) > ZE#ES
Z P U SCHERES o HAR—fr (2 Y
s L) B w0 B (S R A4 R o g e Bt
FATBN ) AR B2 BRI F

2025 2024

TR R

HKS$°000 HK$’000

BT T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind s B REYN 1,300 1,300

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of the
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2024: HK$2,000,000)
of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2024:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

11.

P45 8t

B V) A58 He A7 O A T BT B A A R
B A 3%16.5% (ZF U4 : 16.5%) X FLRAE
> MR — B A B A R &
e LS Z B 2y W] BR A o W% B A W) HE SR A
F Z H2,000,000% 75 (ZF Z P94 : 2,000,000
WIT) ZBEERB8.25% (B IU4E : 8.25%) >
TP Z BT 16.5% (ZF Y4 -
16.5%) o Hofth M 5 2 JRE SRR 385 1) = B0 ) AR 95
AL BB R R R BT

2025 2024

TR R4

HKS$°000 HK$’000

BT T T

Current — Hong Kong - A 11,265 18,314
Current — Elsewhere H ) — I At b 5 7,774 7,828
Deferred (note 31) P (M it31) (3,378) (12,506)
Total tax charge for the year AR BE 2 A B TE 7 HY 15,661 13,636

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

11. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
and/or operate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a
reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rate)

to the effective tax rate, are as follows:

11. P88 (4)

AR Aoy ) T Je 2 T A W) M A
BRAE R R4 2 o B LB
FR I B i i ) 2 I 52 Y e DA R A < B
ZBEIE S R > DK B (B 32 Bl 3% )
HEEB R HIRMT ¢

2025 2024
SR A RN
HKS$’000 % HK$°000 %
W T T T
Profit before tax ¥ 58 i ¥ ) 24,450 46,932
Tax at the applicable tax rates R LA 2 LR 1,945 8.0 6,599 141
Profits and losses attributable to joint ventures JEAG 28 A 3 T i 8 A ) i A
and associates Y3 30 (1,043) 4.3) (1,701) (3.6)
Income not subject to tax BEBBZ A (3,725) (15.2) (1,732) (3.7
Expenses not deductible for tax AW AR Z 5 th 7,897 323 5,367 114
Effect of withholding tax of 5%-10% FMBES%-10% (ZFZJY4 :
(2024: 5%-10%) on distributable profits of 5%-10%) HAEEZ H
the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China K e I A ) 22 T Uk iR
Mzy® 14 0.1 241 0.5
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B TR A 0 1] 2 BT s 48 (759) (3.1) (1,658) (3.5)
Deferred tax assets not recognised RIERZIRERIEG & 9,180 37.5 6,469 13.8
Others HAty 2,152 8.8 51 0.1
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate WAEEEBRR R EZ
BRI B % 15,661 64.1 13,636 29.1

The share of tax attributable to joint ventures and associates
amounting to Nil (2024: Nil) and HK$952,000 (2024:
HK$1,652,000) are included in “Share of profits and losses of

joint ventures” and “Share of profits and losses of associates” in

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, respectively.
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DIVIDENDS 12. JB B
2025 2024
ZRTHAE B Sy 11 S
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BWEF o
Interim — HK3.0 cents (2024: HK3.0 cents) v — e B A 3. 08Il
per ordinary share (ZF Y4 g5 m
3.0l 11,466 11,528
Proposed final — HK6.5 cents ORI — 5 R 3 e 6. S Al
(2024: HK6.5 cents) per ordinary share (ZFTPUAE « 4953
6.5 Alll) 24,706 24,974
36,172 36,502

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company repurchased
a total of 4,122,000 ordinary shares (2024: Nil) and 4,098,000
ordinary shares (2024: Nil) were cancelled on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). As of
31 March 2025, the remaining 24,000 repurchased shares were
yet to be cancelled but would be cancelled subsequently. All the
repurchased but not yet cancelled shares will not be entitled to

receive the final dividend for this financial year.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary

shares outstanding during the year.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share are based

13.

AR B St kR M S 2RI i e R R 4 K
b A B A A 7 T AR BT o

BEZIHHE=HA=Z=+—H1L4E KA
"R B AR5 A BRA E (TH 22 i)
Wl 34,122,000/ % 8 B (& 04 - ) K
4,098,000 % 4 Bt (=& U4« i) Tk -
WZF_AE=ZH=+—H > i 24,000/ i
el JBe 4% B R M Al - IR B RS - TR B
S T L 5 AR e B % JBE 473 19 S0 R AU B B 4
PR A e B o

7 2% il 3 0 R A P A S RE A B
#A

15 A LR 7 AR BB ARAR A 26 D 35
78 B A1 R SR P9 BT 1 5 RO IR 2 I
Sy W 5 o

T e B A K V0 R T MR T B R A A

on:
2025 2024
R ZFR UL
HKS$°000 HK$°000
BT BT
Earnings A
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders &% & % B A K% # 9 2 A1)
of the Company, used in the basic and A il =2 A 2 ) 3% 8 A 2%
diluted earnings per share calculation F A 5 A i A1) 10,164 34,657

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 7 2 wi) 3% R A 42 i A7 5 HEAN 49 08¢
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY A (&)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Number of shares
Bty ¥ H
2025 2024
R RIS
Shares I8t 4y
Weighted average number of ordinary S e BE AR R i A
shares outstanding during the year used ZAREBAT AN I Z
in the basic and diluted earnings TR - ¥ 8%
per share calculation 383,081,059 384,221,640

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
8 i

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y3 ~ Wi 5 B i

HRAREERRE R AR R INE=
H=ZA+— H IR 3 4 L ) 2 T8 AT

2025 2024

—E R TR

Notes HK$°000 HK$’000

Mt 7t BT BT

Owned assets HE%E (a) 497,175 410,417
Right-of-use assets 1 R G & (b) 399,372 330,488
Total M 896,547 740,905
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14. Yo 3& ~ Wi b5 B e i (410

(continued)
(a) Owned assets a) HE®RE
Furniture,
Land and Leasehold  fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings  improvements equipment machinery vehicles Total
R R
THAMT RENTES Rl BRRRE i st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
# T # T # T T T T
31 March 2025 ZRTHEZAEH
At 1 April 2024: RZZZMENA—H
Cost WA 436,470 346,463 186,410 281,950 42,553 1,293,846
Accumulated depreciation Rt R
and impairment (191,011) (271,190) (169,486) (215,360) (36,382) (883,429)
Net carrying amount R 245,459 75,073 16,924 66,590 6,171 410417
At 1 April 2024, net of accumulated REZZZMENA—H
depreciation and impairment SR R34 Rk 1 245459 15,073 16,924 06,590 6,171 410,417
Additions #E 105,551 39314 5892 7,891 3,449 162,097
Disposals/write-off e /s - (1,225) (881) (1,171) (135) (3412)
Depreciation provided during the year ENOBHEZE (11,399) (37,493) (7,890) (11,421) (2,610) (70,813)
Tmpairment WA - (37) (117) (103) - (593)
Exchange realignment T 5t (55) (82) (194) (181) ) (521)
At31 March 2025, net of accumulated ~ BRZFZHEZA=ZF—H
depreciation and impairment e S Yt 339,556 75,416 13,734 61,603 6,866 497,175
At 31 March 2025: REBZHE=ZA=F—H:
Cost WA 541,181 383,640 187,682 284,710 39,505 1,436,718
Accumulated depreciation RAHTE R
and impairment (201,625) (308,224) (173,948) (223,107) (32,639) (939,543)
Net carrying amount R E 339,556 75,416 13,734 61,603 6,860 497,175

T YA AR A
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Yo 3& ~ Wi b5 B e i (410

(continued)
(a) Owned assets (continued) (a) HE®RE(H)
Furniture,
Land and Leasehold  fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings ~ improvements equipment machinery vehicles Total
fRff - B
TRy HERTEE R RRERES F it
HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000
#HFT EWTo #FTx ElFTc #WFTo #NTx
31 March 2024 CEROWEZRZT-N
At 1 April 2023: RZZZZENMA—H
Cost Jﬁjlli 488,588 321,883 197,352 301,024 44,136 1,352,983
Accumulated depreciation Rt R
and impairment (197,194) (249,011) (171,715) (219,761) (37,235) (874,916)
Net carrying amount i 291,394 7,872 25,637 81,263 6,901 478,067
At 1 April 2023, net of accumulated REFZZENA—H
depreciation and impairment BTH W A4 Rk 291,394 72872 25,631 81,263 6,901 478,067
Additions N - 43,905 4385 4,008 2,400 54,758
Disposals/write-off e /g - (351) (840) (809) (390) (2,390)
Transfer to non-current assets classified  H# E M A HERER
as held for sale (note 27) FRBERE W it27) (11,765) (677) - - (12,442)
Depreciation provided during the year ERDBEZIE (11,520) (36,932) (11,123) (13,325) (2,614) (75.514)
Impairment WA (1315) (76) (10) (240) - (1,641)
Exchange realignment TE 5678 % (21,335) (3,468) (1,125) (4367) (126) (30.421)
At31 March 2024, net of accumulated R ZFZNEZA=F—H »
depreciation and impairment REIEEE Y 245459 75,2713 16,924 66,590 6,171 410417
At 31 March 2024: REZZNE=A=+—H:
Cost A 436,470 346,463 186,410 281,950 42,553 1,293,846
Accumulated depreciation EER YT
and impairment (191,011) (271,190) (169,486) (215,360) (36,382) (883,429)
Net carrying amount W 245,459 75,073 16924 66,590 6,171 410417
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Owned assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s management identified
certain restaurants in Hong Kong (2024: certain restaurants
in Hong Kong) which were underperformed during the year
and an impairment loss of HK$593,000 (2024: HK$250,000)
was made on owned assets. Further details are disclosed in
note 14(b) below.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group determined to dispose of
certain property, plant and equipment of HK$12,442,000,
which were reclassified as “non-current assets classified as
held for sale”, with an impairment loss of HK$1,391,000
recognised based on the sales and purchase agreement
entered into subsequent to 31 March 2024.

At 31 March 2025, certain of the Group’s land and buildings
in Japan with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$71,034,000 (2024: HK$72,158,000) were pledged to
secure general bank facilities granted to the Group (note
29(c)).

At 31 March 2025, certain of the Group’s land and
buildings in Hong Kong with a net carrying amount of
HK$103,899,000 were pledged to secure bank facilities
granted to the Group (note 29(d)).

Right-of-use assets

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
properties used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners
with lease periods of 10 to 20 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Leases of properties generally have lease terms
between 2 and 10 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside
the Group. There are several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options and variable lease

payments, which are further discussed below.

14. Yo 3& ~ Wi b5 B e i (410

(a)

(b)

H B ¥R (A1)

MR HEZAZT—H » ARG E S
JEHER A TR (SR A
TR EE) AR ERBIRE > Wk BB EE
A H oA s $E1593,0009 50 (& U4 ¢
250,000%75) o A B FEE R R SCHEE14(b)
Wi o

MOBDPAEZAZ—H o AREEPE
8 T~ W m T wk #512,442,0009
TC o EEWE - M KRB ER R
[ R R e & Ry B e ] » WARYE
RERPEZH = BB L E
Tk e e R U M 4R 1,391,000 85 5T ©

WEZFZHEZA=+—H s REEPH
N B T SEE A0 571,034,000 00 (=& Y
4 172,158,000 7)) 2 F T L RHF T
LA R AR A L — SR AT R 2 s R
(B 5E29(c))

MN-RZHEZA=Z1T—H » REEET
AVE 7 7 ¥ HR T ¥ (L %% 103,899,000% 7 2 +-
Hb R A LR B A B BRI — ML SRAT
Al Z IR (B 3E29(d)) ©

4 JHI e

AR T A R I X 2 I ET
SLRLE A o T B — WA KL
SE B WO B i > B % 105204 > 1M
WIS LR S0 s IR BE X
RT3 - P 2 Z B A P2E 10
Ao — IR T > ARSI R i) A 4R [ DL Ab
ALEGERSHMELEE - HTHESH
AL F T ] % 4 1k P RE e T SRR A R
AR SCHE— 2B e

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

(b) 6 J 4 e (70)
AR s A 0 P BE R R T B B )

14. Yo 3& ~ Wi b5 B e i (410

the movements during the year are as follows: AW TE .
Prepaid Furniture,
land lease  Leasehold Leased fixturesand  Plant and Motor
payments land  buildings equipment machinery vehicles Total
BiRF L B
REKE BRI RUEREY RERSH R RER il it
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000  HKS$'000
BWTL  EWTL  EFTT #WTT #WFTr BRI BN
At 1 April 2023 R-ZF_ZHNH—H 75,389 32,563 231,725 1,417 1,362 3,143 345,599
Additions 8 m - - 53,321 691 - 780 54,792
Depreciation (note 8) Wit (Hats) (2,709) (1,377)  (123,694) (513) (886) (1,360)  (130,539)
Impairment (note 6) WA (K ite) - - (1,550) - - - (1,550)
Lease modification HEBL - - 73,083 2 3 478 73,566
Disposals hik - - (4,216) (146) - (24) (4,386)
Exchange realignment [ SR (3,871) - (2,427) (178) (130) (388) (6,994)
Asat3l March2024and  R-F_NE=ZH=1+—H
1 April 2024 KZZZMWENH—H 68,809 31,186 226,242 1,273 349 2,629 330,488
Additions by - 109,011 66,326 462 - 751 176,550
Depreciation (note 8) W (Hits) (2,544) (3,257)  (132,867) (535) (281) (1,265)  (140,749)
Impairment (note 6) WA (M ike) = = (1,646) = = = (1,646)
Lease modification HEBL - - 41,133 4 2 291 41430
Disposals ik - - (6,339) - - - (6,339)
Exchange realignment EE 32, 7l 2 (255) = (116) 4 ) 7 (362)
At 31 March 2025 REBZHFEZAZ1+—H 66,010 136,940 192,733 1,208 68 2,413 399,372
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. B~ B ket (48)

(continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b) £ HREE A ()

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s management
identified certain restaurants in Hong Kong which
were underperformed during the year and estimated
the corresponding recoverable amounts based on their
respective cash-generating units. Based on these estimates,
impairment losses of HK$593,000, as disclosed in note
14(a) above, and HK$1,646,000 were recognised to write
down the carrying amounts of owned assets and right-of-
use assets, respectively, to their aggregate recoverable
amounts of HK$8,715,000 as at 31 March 2025. The
recoverable amounts of the respective cash-generating units
are determined based on value-in-use calculations using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a period of the remaining lease terms. The pre-tax discount

rate applied for the cash flow projections was 11.2%.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s management
identified certain restaurants in Hong Kong which
were underperformed during the year and estimated
the corresponding recoverable amounts based on their
respective cash-generating units. Based on these estimates,
impairment losses of HK$250,000, as disclosed in note
14(a) above, and HK$1,550,000 were recognised to write
down the carrying amounts of owned assets and right-of-
use assets, respectively, to their aggregate recoverable
amounts of HK$1,032,000 as at 31 March 2024. The
recoverable amounts of the respective cash-generating units
are determined based on value-in-use calculations using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a period of the remaining lease terms. The pre-tax discount

rate applied for the cash flow projections was 14.0%.

As 31 March 2025, certain of the Group’s leasehold land in
Hong Kong with a net carrying amount of HK$107,131,000
were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group
(note 29(d)).

R_BHFEEZAZ+—H o REES
JE R T WS TR BN ENRIXE > I
FRUROE S5 45 B Z Bl 4 i A WAL A 5T AH B el
Welel 4% o MR SEAGE DR 22T
AEZH =4 H R AL $H593,0008 70
(O ESCHERE14() 88 ) 12 1,646,000% 78 DL
4y AN BB A K T RE A MR
IR, 220 2 2wl i el 4 A 368,715,000
JG o 45 B 4 e 2k WAL Z W A U AR 8
o B AG =Y - ST 5507 5 4R T R R AL
WM BEA B AR EN - Bl E
WTER M Z B BLAT A B R A5 11.2% ©

MBI WE=H=+—H > REES L
JE R W TR BN R N R B AE » W
FR IR0 % B 2 Bl 4 e A A A SR 1 AT
Weml 45 o MIZEME > CR_FZIW
FZH = H MR R #250,00095 70
O ESCHERE14(a) 88 ) 121,550,000% 58 DA
4y AN BB A K TR A MR A
IR, 220 2 2wl i el 4 A 361,032,000
JG o 45 B 4 e 2k WAL Z W A U AR 8
o B AG =Y » ST 5E07 5 4R T R R AL
WM B AN BLE R EEN - BeREH
W R ) Z B BT G B R 45 14.0% ©

MBZHEZAZ+—H o REEET
AVE 7 7 ¥ H T (L %5 107,131,000%6 50 Z F
B A OB AR 2 A A T 4 — AR SR AT
& ZPE R (B EE29(d)) -

T YA AR A
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

(a) Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of the lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

15. ML

A SR 1 A Ty TR AL
(a) BEAR

LR A 2 M i S A 9 S B RSN

2025 2024
- Jant X 3 R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Carrying amount at beginning of year  JA4E#] Z W T i 255,111 263,620
New leases AL 67,539 54,792
Accretion of interest recognised FENCHERM BN E
during the year (note 7) (K it7) 12,029 7,553
Payments 3k (152,516) (135,650)
Lease modification & EK 41,405 73,566
Disposals it (6,563) (5,112)
Exchange realignment [ 56, 3 2% (124) (3,658)
Carrying amount at end of year A % 2 IR T 216,881 255,111
Analysed into: SR
Current portion i B A 111,943 114,656
Non-current portion I By 104,938 140,455

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note

39 to the financial statements.
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15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) The amounts recognised in the consolidated profit or loss

(c)

in relation to leases are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 it o B

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

15. fLE5 ()
A 455 B4 2 AR AL (A

(b) TR A1 145 gL A 1T Wi 2 & WA T

2025 2024
SR AR R4
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) MEABEZRHE (HiE7) 12,029 7,553
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i 1 RE 5 o 2 P B
(note 8) (HfiEs) 140,749 130,539
Expense relating to short-term leases L 91 R R A B 2
(included in selling and distribution GON T 1 e
expenses/administrative expenses) FTEBZA) 32,781 46,365
Impairment of right-of-use assets 5 FH A 2 T 1,646 1,550
Gain on derecognition of #e 1k TR R0 TR R 2 WA
right-of-use assets, net by | (224) (726)
Variable lease payments not included in A HAIFRFBHEABZ
the measurement of lease liabilities RN E
(included in cost of sales/selling and (FE A A8 8 K
distribution expenses) S8 N) 7,163 13,073
Total amount recognised in profit 18 25 T R A
or loss 194,144 198,354

The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows
relating to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed
in notes 34(b) and 35(b), respectively, to the financial

statements.

34(b) K 35(b) P & ©

(c) A ZBIAi AT W R B 4h 2 FHL B AH
B 2 R AR B4 3 HH 2 Tl R B A o B

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

15. LEASES (continued)

16

192

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 16) consisting of
one industrial property located in Mainland China, one industrial
property and one residential property located in Japan under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the
year was HK$2,959,000 (2024: HK$3,037,000), details of which
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2025, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating

leases with its associate and third-party tenants are as follows:

15. AL (&)

AC SR 1 A T LA

AREEMBE R B ERPHE LT (W
RE16) o ALFE AL B R B i — I T -
HAM—IEH T W R —HET W - A&k
R BB SRR AT AR A AR RER T
DU W0 B 4 o AR A ) O Z R4
WA £52,959,000% 76 (—F VU 4E & 3,037,000
WEoT) o FE I U B R MRS o

REFZHAEZHA=1H o ARG ARSI
Wi 2 24 ) B 5B =0 LR AT S 2 S T AR D] A
L7 AR 2A 300 T B Wi < oA B B AL B 3kl 1
T

2025 2024
e St X 2 R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BIEF o
Within one year —4E RN 1,583 1,537
After one year but within two years — 415 AH W AR Y 554 175
After two years but within three years MERME=ENRN 6 -
Total E 2,143 1,712
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. B EWE
2025 2024
- Jant X 3 R4
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT Vot an
Carrying amount at beginning of year AR H) 2 B T A 34,445 38,158
Net losses from fair value adjustments P E T B 2 s
(note 5) (K iEs) (483) (383)
Exchange realignment [ 56, i 3% 5) (3,330)
Carrying amount at end of year T AR & 2 B A 33,957 34,445
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B &P % (4)

The Group’s investment properties consist of one residential
property in Japan and two industrial properties in Mainland
China and Japan, respectively. The directors of the Group
have determined that the investment properties consist of two
classes of asset, i.e., residential and industrial, based on the
nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s
investment properties were revalued on 31 March 2025 based
on valuations performed by Cushman & Wakefield Limited and
Colliers International Japan KK, independent professionally
qualified valuers, at an aggregate valuation of HK$33,957,000
(2024: HK$34,445,000). Each year, the Group’s finance team
decides to appoint which external valuers to be responsible for
the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence
and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group’s
finance team has discussions with the valuers on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuations are

performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment property in Mainland China is leased to
an associate of the Group under an operating lease and the
investment properties in Japan are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in notes 15 and 36(a)(iv) to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment properties in Japan
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$16,245,000 (2024:
HK$16,234,000) were pledged to secure the banking facilities
granted to the Group as detailed in note 29(c) to the financial

statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are

included on page 208 of the annual report.

AR 2 B A — AR H AR Z ALY
T W T 43 AN 7 o IR K e e AR 2 T3 3 o
A 4 O LR A% S R R L o
EREYECTHEMBEEE > PEBRITE - K
HEZBENER R _AF=A=Z1T—HMR
52 o 0 v B A A L B SR 4T K Colliers
International Japan KK#E4T Z A {8 1 T 1% 44 %1
#533,957,000% € (ZF Z P94 : 34,445,000
JC) o FEAE > ACER ] 2 I T K A I A A
il 2 A 45 18 ) Ay S 0 R AR A o e e g
F6 70 35 k- R S WL D RO M
KA o A F i PR E A £ (B 4 B8 B 5 k4 P 5 T
HEAT A A R » A 5 1) v B S R K B L i R
JRE A B A AL P AR 3 B 5 R AT i o

oo KB 2 B EW AR E AR E TA
S Z W A R o i H A Z 4% 3 DL AR A
HIE XA E T 58 =07 > REAG SOR 0 i M
15536(a)(iv) °

W_Z_HEZA=Z+—H > KEHPNH
A W T 48 B 516,245,000 TC (. F T PU AR ¢
16,234,00095 75 ) 145 % 4y 3 OB 4 2 A 4R )
PEFZSRAT B Z AR > I U I 5 o MR R
29(c) °

ACHR B W 3 2 ARG RUR 4R SR 208 H o

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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Year ended 31 March 2025 &E R HAE=ZH=+—HILEE
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

16. BeE W ¥ (H)

BT
IET ULV BT PSS e TR

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2025 using
RORDHAEZAZ T HZ A PEEHEEN

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

5 WARWBE ERATHE

i 355 9t ] VN ] PN
(58—H) (58 =) GGE=M) A5t
Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
PLF CH W 886 Pk A P it i BT BT W T T BT T
Residential property ViYL E'S - - 8,615 8,615
Industrial properties TEWE - - 25,342 23,342
Total Hsk - - 33,957 33,957

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2024 using
PR IWE=ZJ =+ HZATFEGFERN

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

15 B HARWBE FHRATEE

T 45 4 i A B ¥ iy A\
(58—J&) (58— &) (5E=)g) At
Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
VAR IE H B REH A R R BT T ki BT T BT T
Residential property iect/E - - 8,582 8,582
Industrial properties T — = 25,863 25,863
Total HET - - 34,445 34,445

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2024: Nil).

154 FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B &P % (4)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AR ()
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within S ENFBEEEE=Z A B AT 2 EHE

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Residential Industrial
property properties
LR/ TEWE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2023 PR AN H—HZ R EAE 9,752 28,406
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments 18 25 #E 52 2 2 P {4 75 4%
recognised in profit or loss Wz, UE18) F5 54 (437)
Exchange realignment [ 5a, 5 (1,224) (2,106)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 and RIFZWNEZH=Z+H—H K
1 April 2024 ZRITNAEMH —HZ R E 8,582 25,863
Net loss from fair value adjustments 18 25 B R A T T 8
recognised in profit or loss Js 18 R - (483)
Exchange realignment FE 5, i 89 (38)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2025 N _E _HHFE=H=+—H
Z BT 8,615 25,342

P £ AR 2
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Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B &P % (4)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key

BTARE (4

B T 45 S W A T A A B0l B B

inputs to the valuation of the investment properties: i A A B W 2
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
A4 5% ol K A Y L5 1 A A R 19 o - 3
2025 2024
RN “ R4
Residential property Discounted cash flow Monthly rental value HK$111- HK$108-
In Japan method under income (per square metre) HK$128 HK$135
HARZAEEY ¥ approach A AAE (B J7 oK) 111% 7¢- 108 JC-
W 2 2 v B B B 128 78 135% 70
Discount rate 4.3% 4.4%
Y B R
Terminal capitalisation rate 4.6 % 4.7%
R EA LR
Industrial property in Cost method Building unit cost HK$5,709 HK$5,377
Japan B A B (per square metre) 5,709% 7 5,377# 0
HAZ T34 T B R (B F J5 K )
Land unit value HK$7,058 HK$6,928
(per square metre) 7,058% 7T 6,928 70
e i B AR A (45 F 7 K )
Industrial property in Direct capitalisation Market rental value HK$26 HK$26
Mainland China method (per square metre and per month) 264 5 2630
W ORBEZ TEWE  HEEARILE WG HAE (IR RBEA)
Term yield (per annum) 6.00% 6.00%
AW AR R (B4R )
Reversionary yield (per annum) 6.00% 6.00%
B W A R (4R
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B &P % (4)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group has determined that the current use of the industrial

properties is the highest and best use at the measurement date.

Under the cost method, a property’s fair value is estimated based
on the amount that would be required currently to replace the

service capacity of an asset.

A significant increase (decrease) in the market replacement cost
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value

of the investment properties.

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of
ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal
value. This method involves the projection of a series of periodic
cash flows to an operating property. An appropriate discount
rate is applied to the projected cash flow in order to establish the
present value of the income stream associated with the asset. The
periodic cash flow is typically estimated as gross income less
vacancy and other operating expenses and other outgoings. The
series of periodic net operating income, along with an estimate of
the terminal value, anticipated at the end of the projection period,

is then discounted at the discount rate.

A significant increase (decrease) in the monthly rental in
isolation would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the
fair value of the investment property. A significant increase
(decrease) in the terminal capitalisation rate and the discount rate
in isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase) in the

fair value of the investment property.

Under the direct capitalisation method, a property’s fair value
is estimated based on the normalised net operating income
generated by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation

rate.

A significant increase (decrease) in the market rental value would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property. A significant increase (decrease) in the term
yield rate and reversionary yield rate in isolation would result in a

significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment

property.

BTARE (4

A AR ) U A % T TR 36 H T & T wH
H Wz foe i Mot L O& -

MR A > W A FE TR B A
7 IR 5 68 3 P % B G LA T o

TH 35 FE A KR 3 (34 ) 1 B BCR 3
A 2 P-4 K 1 5 (A4

MRS BB & ik » AP 53R FI A B 2
A AN A R A R R R (AR IR
i B do A MRUAED) Z AR AT At o W07 W K
g bk e BB SRR Z U -
2 1 B AR P TR B G DL e S
SR A B 2 AR R 2 BUE - W Bl —
e i e A R 22 L~ A R B S e oA 32
H o % B S U AR A > TR T
R EFZ B A RE A wH T JLAR A B R AG
B o

R A AR W (W) G EBHE MR
ATFAEHEE R (D) o B A G AR R
BIRKWE LT (T W) 88 G2 AP
KWgE TR (ETE) -

MR E A E A » YA P TIOR3
Jife 8 20 2 B — A 3 A8 WO Bk DA AR b S
filiwt o

TG AL K BRI () & BB R S
AR RS (A ) o 18 47 3T W R % i
1 B KRB (D) o E BB E Y 3 AT
E R B (3m) -

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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17. GOODWILL 17. %

2025 2024
- G [ R
HKS$°000 HK$’000
W T T
Net carrying amount at beginning of year ) 2 M T 101,740 111,648
Exchange realignment [ 5o, ) 131 (9,908)
Net carrying amount at end of year AR % 2 MR TN EHE 101,871 101,740

At end of the year: R
Cost JE AR 105,163 105,032
Accumulated impairment ZHEHIRAE (3,292) (3,292)
Net carrying amount T R 101,871 101,740

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating

units is as follows:

43 WE 2 B 4 A A WAL 2 T R 2 R i AR A

T

2025 2024

- g [ o B Sy 11 =

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT Vodio an

Trading business I ES S 15,386 15,443
Lunch box and tuck shop services operation  fiR & K& /N & IR 7 3£ %

(the “Catering business”) ([BEREK]) 14,090 14,090
Restaurant operation in Mainland China e R P 4 S 11,056 11,096
Snack food and confectionery distribution T H AR 2 85 2 RobE R

in Japan (the “Miyata group business”) (T HEEER]) 59,358 59,130
Others H 1,981 1,981
Total At 101,871 101,740
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

17. GOODWILL (continued) 17. 28 (4)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Mainland restaurant operation, trading business, Catering
business and Miyata group business cash-generating units

The recoverable amounts of the trading business cash-generating
unit, the Catering business cash-generating unit, the Mainland
restaurant operation cash-generating unit and the Miyata group
business cash-generating unit have been determined based on
a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections are between 9.3% and 13.5% (2024: 10.7% and
14.0%). The growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows of
the cash-generating units beyond the five-year period is 2.0%
(2024: between 2.0% and 2.4%).

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
Mainland restaurant operation cash-generating unit, the trading
business cash-generating unit, the Catering business cash-
generating unit and the Miyata group business cash-generating
unit for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of

goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,

increased for expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Purchase price inflation — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to inventory price inflation is the forecast price indices

during the budget year from where inventories are sourced.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected
efficiency improvements, discount rates and purchase price

inflation are consistent with external information sources.

R =4 fikIEN

CE I EZ AR -CEZ AR J EX VAP E
1 S 5 B <2 A

B OHEBREEEY - BRREEBSEL W
AL~ PRt A o 3 5 B 4 WA R A [ 2
765 B 4 73 A S 2 WY R Il ek T U AR 4 A A A
RERT o 5 P FR ves A LI T i o Yok 25
AR 2 WA B P A B A T A - Bl A
AT Z B B R B9.3%%13.5% (ZF -
1 10.7%R14.0%) o 88 AR ) 2 B4
A AL 2 B A B R R W £ 2.0% (ZF Y
A F2.0%F2.4%) ©

MAHBEER-LFER R NE=A
=t —HILEEZ N EEEEB SR
fr - B O RBBEELERA - BRUCEHB &R
M AL DA e e T 48 I S8 5 B < A LA 2 S
R TS R A T B o DA it A L AR
H B 9 T 0 R R Ay 2 4% T BB A AT
oA B

HHEFF - MU RE HAE BN R HEZ 5
Ty RAE AR AT — A Z P B A R
S iy PRI RE TR 2% R B T 3

M B — PR 2 B BUR T BB > HLR e S
B S A B = 1 ) L e

TR #5 L 3 — A7 0 A% bk 2 P S e T 3%
FESTAE B A7 B 2R U 2 EL O (R A R A

P AR O - B BRI A% Bk &
A % AR B AN S R SRR AT — B e

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. JUfib 4 JE ¥ 7
Customer
relationships
% P 1%
HK$’000
T
At 1 April 2023: BEBRZZENA A
Cost A 67,367
Accumulated amortisation E¥igid] (13,808)
Net carrying amount R T Y0 53,559
Cost at 1 April 2023, net of accumulated amortisation MR ZZENA—HZ A
S e & 53,559
Amortisation provided during the year (note 8) ENERE (ML) (4,065)
Exchange realignment I 5% i 2 (6,518)
At 31 March 2024 REFZWEZA=Z+—H 42,976
At 31 March 2024 and at 1 April 2024: R-FNE=A=Z+—HEK
ZEZENA—H
Cost AR 59,042
Accumulated amortisation E¥igid! (16,066)
Net carrying amount MR T £ 42,976
Cost at 1 April 2024, net of accumulated amortisation REZFZWAENH—HZRA
B R A 5 42,976
Amortisation provided during the year (note 8) EREES (W Es) (3,840)
Exchange realignment [ Ja, 78 4 113
At 31 March 2025 REZFZREZA=Z+—H 39,249
At 31 March 2025: REFZREZA=ZT—H
Cost BAR 59,266
Accumulated amortisation HEM ey (20,017)
Net carrying amount I T 0 39,249
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 9. A BAEEIRE
2025 2024
TR R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Share of net assets JEAL B B A 12,362 4,558
The Group’s other receivable balances due from the joint A B WSS A A EWGRIE & TR
ventures are disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements. 7 B 7 4 B 24 o
Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: FTEAESOEDHBWT ¢
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ iK1
Particulars of registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name issued shares held and business interest power sharing activities
4 3L A
Eq AT B ik A Bk BRERE GRS BT AV 36 FEEH
Four Seas Astrapto F&B ILP, L.P. US$14,000,000 Cayman Islands 67% 67% 67% Investment
14,000,0003€ 75 B2 5 holding
BE
Four Seas Astrapto F&B Limited US$100 Cayman Islands 60% 60% 60%  Provision for
10078 BB RS investment
management
services
RERE
i AR
Four Seas Astrapto F&B (BVI) US$100  British Virgin Islands 60% 60% 60% Investment
Limited 10038 o i L T holding
i dgide
The financial year of about joint ventures is not coterminous with %A A 30 I B4R B AR AR R ]
that of the Group and has financial year ending 31 December. HMBEELEREI AT A=+ —H - &%
This joint venture uses 31 December as their financial year end TEA=T AR BAREATH 2 A8 &

S B JBe A W) 2 2 H Y ik R R MIAY o

date to conform with its holding companies’ reporting date or

statutory requirements.

P £ AR 2
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 9. A BRI BE ()
(continued)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information THEMAEREHMBENMEAERNEELES
of the Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material: At B E R
2025 2024
it 2t X 3 ZR UL
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Share of the joint ventures’ losses for the year MEfl A % 4 3 A4E B 5 17 (610) (2,299)
Share of the joint ventures’ total JEAG & 8 A 3 2 1 s 18 AR A
comprehensive loss (610) (2,299)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AL PGB EREN
investments in the joint ventures Y TR 12,362 4,558
20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. 7 WGk A Wl Z B
2025 2024
e Jant X 3 —FR UL
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Share of net assets FEAY & 2 186,995 181,046
The Group’s trade payable balances with the associates are A 45 1 BG4 N W] 2 A B 5 MRk & Bk S
disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements. B 75 i o B k28 o
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

20. BB A 2 B E (B

(continued)
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FERE AR FEHMT
Percentage of
Place of ownership
Particulars incorporation/ interest
of issued registration attributable Principal
Name shares held and business to the Group activities
BHO#AT [ v 7% 455 1M AV
W JBe £ i Hal RERNE  HAREERT AR FEEH
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 50.0 Manufacturing of
B AT RA W ik snack foods
/N RS
PO A P A s il BB A BIR 4 H=] Paid-up capital PRC/ 50.0 Manufacturing of
20 R A Mainland China snack foods
e IRk /N R
Want Want Four Seas Company Limited @ Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Trading in
HE IEE Y 9 A PR A W] @ W 58 F: snack foods
INEE G
Note: Wi at

(i)  The financial year of this associate is not coterminous with that

of the Group and has financial year ending 31 December. This

associate uses 31 December as their financial year end date to

conform with its holding companies’ reporting date or statutory

requirements.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the

year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The financial years of the above associates are coterminous with

that of the Group, except for associates as mentioned in note

(i) above, for which the consolidated financial statements are

adjusted for the material transactions between their financial year

end date and the Group’s year end date.

() W% ST A R BB B B AR B R A
HMBEEHAHBET AZT—H « &5
TZAE— H R LM BOE A H 2T A
R B B W) 2 BRI R R A o

TR T DA e A A S AR B SR
R B A R 2 ORI R AR
Wb AT > SRR W RE A AR T B A R e
ol WA A TR

e Mg A ) 2 A R B A AR S A
0t — R o M SRR G RO A 2 W 2 ) B
Bb o BB B R AN S T A4 I B B4R B
R H Z 2 KA 5y A i 8 o

T YA AR A
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. BB A 2 B E (B
(continued)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information THEHMAREHMANTSESAERNE S ATZ
of the Group’s associates that are not individually material: HEHI g R -
2025 2024
ZRTIAR ZR YA
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT o
Share of the associates’ profit for the year R A Bt 5 2 ) 48 1A i ) 6,932 12,606
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive — HEAf I 45 2 5] H Ath 4> i
loss i 18 (456) (2,102)
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive JRE A T 7 A ) 48 A
income W %5 6,476 10,504
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AREERTE AR ZHREM
investments in associates A8 0 I 186,995 181,046
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21 352 PR 08 3G b 2 v v A A Wik
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Z b A
INCOME
2025 2024
R TAAR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Listed equity investments at fair value iR > A TFE 8,617 16,515
Unlisted equity investments at fair value e bR AT 16,260 -
Total At 24,877 16,515
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at H R A AR B3R %y R A i RO » B
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group I TE 4R A W R e S A IR A T IE R
considers these investments to be strategic in nature. HoAth 2 TH WL AR AR o
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22. INVENTORIES 22. i1
2025 2024
- G [ TR
HKS$°000 HK$’000
W T T
Raw materials JE OB 113,573 82,065
Work in progress 2 B 17,762 23,533
Finished goods 2 198,792 163,682
Total Bt 330,127 269,280
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. ME W B B Mk
2025 2024
e S N ZERIYS
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT
Trade receivables FE R 5 IRk 597,426 628,205
Impairment VAL (5,022) (3,158)
Net carrying amount HE THI EHE 592,404 625,047

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally for a period
of one to three months, extending up to four to five months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade

receivables. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AREMEE P ZH SR DAE &R W&
P el A K o fE B R 2=
HoBMELEEPME > TERENERMNA -
AR % P30 15 S R o ACHR I ) SR B
) e AR M T 2 M ORI > 3 IR A R L i
IR o o A B R rE IAR R Y A AR o BB
T LR > DA B AR 5 T 2 M WA B Rk SRR
Z A Li R PR B > D TR fE AR
e\ B o A 5 S 0 g WA B MR K e A AT 4
SIS BT - B BIRRTIRE -

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows:

23, MR B Bk ak ()

T IR > AR EEST H O KA B R R

JE W B 5 MRk 2 MR ik A AT AN T

2025 2024
SR ZEINA

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT

Within 1 month MAH R 326,173 381,903
1 to 2 months 1528 H 110,462 89,312
2 to 3 months 231 H 68,909 66,949
Over 3 months 3fAH DL L 86,860 86,883
Total HEE 592,404 625,047

Included in the trade receivables are amounts from subsidiaries
of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, of HK$216,000 (2024: HK$87,000),
which are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the

major customers of the Group.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

JRE W B e K A R WO AR 4 W] — % R R R AT
WA B e A B A R BRI
216,0003 75 (& ZPU4E : 87,000%7T) » &
O AR [ T L R P 2 A BRI ] -

RE Wi B B L 2 A R 8% A < 5 ) 1 L A

receivables are as follows: T
2025 2024
ZRHAE R4
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT T T
At beginning of year AR 3,158 4,422
Impairment losses, net (note 6) WAL 1R » WA (Mfite) 3,068 1,625
Amount written off as uncollectable FT 7 S T 8 2 < (1,204) (2,889)
At end of year Tt AR 2% 5,022 3,158

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographic region and customer type). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

24.

the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2025

Notes to Financial Statements
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R _F_HAE=ZA=1+—H

23. JE B 50 Mk (A1)
T SR A S 5 O T 8 4
B £ L 6 R

Past due
k]
Less than 1to Over
Current 1 month 3 months 3 months Total
LS —% R
W —MH =MA ZMH A5t
Expected credit loss rate B EHE R 0.05% 3.06% 4.28% 20.36% 0.84%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) IR GBI F o) 532,484 30,358 19,878 14,706 597,426
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) M ESRE GEFFL) 247 930 851 2,994 5,022
As at 31 March 2024 N _WE=H=+—H
Past due
el
Less than 1to Over
Current 1 month 3 months 3 months Total
Bt —% eyl
B 459 —ffiA =M A =ZM|H Mt
Expected credit loss rate HHEERER 0.03% 1.84% 3.99% 6.28% 0.50%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) MR E GBWFFoL) 536,317 54,382 15,496 22,010 628,205
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) I RBE GERTT) 155 1,002 619 1,382 3,158

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 24. TEAF KB ~ W 4 B il e ek o
OTHER RECEIVABLES

2025 2024

e S N TR

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Prepayments TH A 3K 8 20,931 33,140

Deposits and other receivables (note) BT 4 B oAt HE Wk I (M EE) 166,769 123,228

Total A 187,700 156,368

Less: Portion classified as non-current assets i : #|2 A MBI & & Z# 4 (28,132) (28,281)

Current portion Vi B 4 159,568 128,087

Note: Balance included an amount due from joint ventures of
HK$5,873,000 (2024: HK$2,884,000) as at 31 March 2025. The
amount due from joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

- 58 R AREREE -

Mat : RBOHEZHZT—H o AR TR
B B A 3K IE 5,873,000 TC (TR T PY4E ¢
2,884,000% JG) ° ME WL A & 4 3 Ak JH & JE K

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

25

OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Impairment of deposits and other receivables

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default or by applying a loss rate
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the Group.
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the loss allowance was assessed
to be minimal.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

24ﬁﬁ%ﬁ*ﬂ$&§&@%ﬁﬁ

m

HE9 28 L e Fa 7

B H 7% R A A T R > 2 H
SR [0 A 30 A s 4R T 8 > PR B R R 5 W AT
WA - R R HER R DNEZA
= H o R R PR R AR o

25, A VA B M AR 4 RlE

i

e

2025 2024

TR TR

HK$’000 HKS$’000

T BT

Listed equity investments bR E 83,688 58,699

Other unlisted investments HAbIE EHIE

Equity investment RS G 2,800 7,888

School debenture =Y - 4,650 4,650

Club debentures LR e 1,200 1,200

Fund wraps RE&EAF 294 295

Securities income fund i o5 WA L 4 7,943 8,237

Total st 100,575 80,969
Less: Classified as non-current assets W AR EE E (16,964) (22,361)

Current portion i B ER 4 83,611 58,608

The above equity investments were designated by the Group as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as the Group
has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or loss through

other comprehensive income.

The above unlisted investments were equity investment in
Mainland China, securities income fund in Hong Kong, insurance
premium and fund wraps in Japan, a school debenture in Hong
Kong, and club debentures in Hong Kong. They were mandatorily
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as
their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal

and interest.
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. e RBL&SMHEH
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vediolun
Cash and bank balances Bl S AT A7 522,000 497,597
Time deposits with original maturity of FAZHH
less than three months when acquired HIR=M A 22 MEK 109,977 128,343
Cash and cash equivalents Bl& B &%EEH 631,977 625,940
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances PERR s REBED AR (TAR¥]D 5
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted H2Z B4 X RAT 451 #£5182,861,000 0 (&
to HK$182,861,000 (2024: HK$193,488,000). The RMB is TPY4E £ 193,488,000% 78) o ARG A
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under S0 2 O Al B R o AR o K e A1 I 4 B
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and B0 4k E ~ S TR R ) B A5 FHLRR o o A 5 [ 0 v
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign B R AT R E B Z BT AR
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB SR A AL B o
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank SRAT B & 38 H RAT I A 3 DL 3R] 3R Bk
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying AR o M EMERTIENPF—HE=ZMA
periods of between one day and three months (2024: one day and ZE _NE:—HE=ZMA) Z A F B EAE
three months) depending on the immediate cash requirements o P AREEZ B RS A R R > WA H
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time 20530 58 A R B IR L o SRAT BRI AR
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy 7 2 Sl e o A ek ) LA R A AR 2 RAT o
banks with no recent history of default.
27.NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED 27. 43 BBy K5 A i 25 0 b O B B
AS HELD FOR SALE
2025 2024
ZRAAR B Y 11 £ S
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
BT Vot an
Assets classified as held for sale SRR R BN E E - 12,442
As at 31 March 2024, the Group determined to dispose of certain N __WE=ZH=+—H  » KREHREH
property, plant and equipment of HK$12,442,000 (note 14(a)), BEFTWE - WE Kk H12,442,000% 50 (B 5k

which were reclassified as held for sale as at 31 March 2024.

14(a)) - HAEECR ZFWFE=ZA=+—
H O B et A

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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28. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

587
£

Mk ~ AU Ak S B

2025 2024

R ZR YA

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Mt W Fo Vidiowan

Trade payables AT B 5 IRk (a) 258,832 266,196

Other payables and accruals LAt JRE A5 K JE B HE T A 202,557 223,563

Contract liabilities A XA (b) 2,583 2,118

Total HEE 463,972 491,877
Less: Non-current portion of = A R A Ak T % M

other payables and accruals 48 2 JE U B A (2,182) (2,129)
Current portion Vi B 5 461,790 489,748

Notes:

(a) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the

Mt et

(a) IR » MR EE S A Z A R B IRR

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: R84 Hrin T -
2025 2024
ZRTHAE TR
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT T
Within 1 month IR(EDERD] 193,224 189,509
1 to 2 months 12218 H 51,425 57,589
2 to 3 months 2F3fA A 12,054 8,329
Over 3 months 3E ALk 2,129 10,769
Total Hast 258,832 266,196

Included in trade payables are amounts due to the Group’s
associates of HK$34,233,000 (2024: HK$38,762,000) and
subsidiaries of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company, of HK$855,000 (2024:
HK$426,000), which are normally settled on 30-day to 60-day
terms.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on 30-day to 60-day terms. Other payables are non-interest-bearing
and have an average term of three months.

110 FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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28. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER 28. MEAT B B Mk ~ Uil M A sk B
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) MEsE B AE ()
Notes: (continued) Mk : (%)
(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b)) HFHABZHBEEIIWT :
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 1 April 2023
ZRHAE Ry ZRER
=H=+—H =Z=H=+—H JWH—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
YT BT Vidi o

Short-term advances received from — SEHITHW % #TH

customers
Sale of goods BHER M 2,583 2,118 2,090
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver B H) ARG % 32 A A TR P 2 I K
products to customers. The increase in contract liabilities in 2025 JH o AR HAEZ A A RN B R E
was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received i 8 5 5 R B =2 I W S R TR B o

from customers in relation to the sale of goods at the end of the

year.

P £ AR 2
—TE-_REER 111
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 29. Z AT M) B Z S AT £
BORROWINGS
2025 2024
R THAE RN
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity HK$’000 interest rate Maturity HK$’000
TR M H BT BB 2 FHH BT
(Restated)
(FHF)
Current
LU
Trust receipt loans — unsecured 1.49%-6.21% Within 65,209 0.92%-7.15% Within 43,392
I HE AT A RO WL HE Bk 12 months 12 months
or on demand or on demand
12/ A K 1248 A ™
ok ER K
Bank loans — unsecured 1.33%-5.81% Within 805,974 4.70%-6.51% Within 609,787
AL SR AT B 12 months 12 months
or on demand or on demand
12 A K 1218 A P
kR SR E R
Bank loans — secured 1.80%-5.33% Within 108,658 1.25% Within 10,412
AR R AT HE R 12 months 12 months
128 A K 1218 A P
Total — current
) At 979,841 663,591
Non-current
Fh 3 8
Bank loans — unsecured 1.80% 2 years 107,051 1.25% 2 years 99,379
RGP SRAT B 24 24
Bank loans — secured 1.80% 2 years 164,180 1.25% 2 years 136,255
IR SRAT B 245 21
Total — non-current
Fe i B 4t 271,231 235,634
Total
A5t 1,251,072 899,225

112 FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS (continued)

29. ASAT P B Z 8447 Bk ()

2025 2024
ZRB AR ZR YA
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT BT T
(Restated)
()
Analysed into: A
Bank loans and trust receipt loans: SRAT B AR R K
Within one year or on demand 5B — A N BRI R 979,841 663,591
In the second year AR 271,231 235,634
Total i 1,251,072 899,225
Notes: V5

(a)  All the bank and trust receipt loans bear interest at floating interest

rates.

(b) The bank loans were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Japanese
yen and Renminbi at the end of the reporting period.

(c) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s land in Japan, which had an aggregate
carrying value of approximately HK$71,034,000 (2024:
HK$72,158,000) and certain of the Group’s investment properties
in Japan, which had an aggregate carrying value of HK$16,245,000
(2024: HK$16,234,000) at the end of the reporting period as
detailed in notes 14(a) and 16 to the financial statements.

(d) At 31 March 2025, certain of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment in Hong Kong with a net carrying amount of
HK$211,030,000 were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to
the Group.

(a)

(@

A SRAT e wt MR 0K DU B ARGt -

R IR > BAT SRS - H R A R
Hy HLAL

A 3 T RAT S AR M T AR H
AR 2Z A (M G 48 #40 %571,034,0009 00 (=%
ZIY AR ¢ 72,158,000 70) ) K AR 4 [ AR
H R Z $ % a3 R i 45 391 oK I i 48 18 40 %
16,245,0009 76 (2 —PU4E : 16,234,000 7C) )
AR G 5 0 T o 4 B R 14(a) B2 16 ©

WoZB_HEZAZ—H > REEET AR
T W W T TR 25211,030,0008 6 2 W 3% - W5
T T A OV AR o A S R A — A SR AT R 2
wER -

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group has unfunded defined benefit retirement plans which
cover all its qualifying MYC’s employees and executive officers
in Japan, depending on their length of service, salary in the final
years leading up to retirement and the retirement factor.

The plan is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of

which are detailed below:

30. 3t A R I

AR I H AR Z A & EAMY IR H & 478
NS s TN Il R
535 REA <5 2 M s 0] ~ AR AR i 1R 4 B 2 F

wt B 2 TR > H PR RE Z R

Risks Descriptions

e B ik

Change in bond yields A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be
partially offset by an increase in the value of the plans’ bond holdings.

150 9% W 2 A 52 ) A SE AR 2R WA 3 W 3w £ o MR 0 et ) £ 2 0 4 T IR o

Inflation risk The majority of the plans’ benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation
will lead to higher liabilities.

788 i JL B KR o3t S 4 A BT LA AR A B o A R R b TR 8 o LA

Life expectancy The majority of the plans’ obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member,
so increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the plan liabilities.

i KL WEHE AR TR R B A Z AR SRR A > RS o AR A R B A

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of the
defined benefit obligations was carried out on 31 March 2025
by IIC Partners Co., Ltd., an independent qualified professional
valuer, using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

B AR R 2 I8 BLAE Z B A RS S AN 48 b 8 or
BB HZEZMMAIC Partners Co., Ltd.Jj? =&
e S B el E R S NN R VA SR
44T -

T H A WUR B8R 2 B E BT

2025 2024

R TIAR R4

Discount rate (%) i B2 (%) 2.1% 1.5%
Expected rate of salary increases (%) AR 4 B R R (%) 2.0% 2.0%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on actuarial
advice in accordance with published statistics and experience.
These assumptions translate into an average life expectancy in
years for a regular employee and an executive officer of MYC
retiring at age 60 and 65, respectively.

114 FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as

at the end of the reporting period is shown below:

30. 5 5 A &I (A7)

FECE IR > BRAR % 2 R BB 4 SR
mE

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease)

in defined in defined

Increase benefit Decrease benefit

in rate obligations in rate obligations

R HA R ERA

R Im, R,

& kA (WAp) HBETFE (WA)

% HK$°000 % HK$°000

BT T BT T
2025 RN

Discount rate i B R 0.5 (300) 0.5 300

Expected rate of salary increases KRB AW ER 0.5 800 0.5 (800)
2024 R

Discount rate 5 B R 0.5 (300) 0.5 300

Expected rate of salary increases AR 4 = R 0.5 400 0.5 (400)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an
assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur. When calculating the
sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to the significant
actuarial assumption, the same method (present value of the
defined benefit obligations calculated with the projected unit
credit actuarial valuation method at the end of the reporting
period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability
recognised within the consolidated statement of financial

position.

The Group finances the funding requirements of the pension plan
by internal resources and does not have any funding arrangements

and funding policy that will affect future contributions.

S R B B T R e — SRR P 5 8 i B
A A AR B A R A A Y o R AR DL B
HOR R T R A o R RS A R R I S K
R AR e Z SRR B IR > T PR A st A 5 B
R DL 7 PR il 2 A A < R BT BR A 2 ) — T
(558 8 A AR 4 2 BLAE G 7 e 90 R 3% T
AL A5 BORS S AG (2 5T ) o

A 45 [ DL R RE AR fk 4wl 2 & R
2R o B IR I e G 7 AT A 5 R AR Bk
L BB BOR

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss in respect of the plan are as follows:

30. 5 5 R R I ()

TP A 4R 25 2 ) e R LB SR N

2025 2024

R TR

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT Vidioan

Current service cost 0 S A 608 810
Interest cost 83 77
Net benefit expenses & A BY 32 R 691 887
Recognised in administrative expenses EL A AT B BH 3 s 691 887

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in respect of the plan is as follows:

TP A A 2 T WA A R R R AKBTN F

2025 2024

SR TAAR TR

HKS$°000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Actuarial gains recognised [ERIELY RN & 286 459

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit

obligations are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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30. 5 5 A &I (A7)

FUE A RIEBEZ BT

2025 2024
R A “R YA
HKS$°000 HK$°000
BT BT
At beginning of year )| 5,759 6,740
Current service cost B IR B AR 608 810
Interest cost F B B AR 83 71
Benefit paid AT 18 (307) (572)
Actuarial gain arising from changes in PRI ik 265 At i 52 1) iy A Y
financial assumptions N & (347) (304)
Actuarial loss arising from experience PR A8 B ) 2 i 2 2R
adjustments UEECN E 61 395
Actuarial gain arising from demographic BN 10 8 8 s A P RS 5
adjustments W 2 = (550)
Exchange realignment [ 5, it 2% 24 (837)
At end of year Tt AR 2% 5,881 5,759

The average duration of the defined benefit obligations at the end

of the reporting period is 9.5 years (2024: 9.5 years).

SR AR R T A 0 OR P 2 4 A T A

954 (E Y4 : 9.54E) o

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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31. DEFERRED TAX 31. Y& %t B
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the MRENEEHREABELEEZESHWT
year are as follows:
2025 TR TIAE
Deferred tax liabilities WE 4t B¢ £ 45
Fair value Financial assets
adjustment at fair value
Accelerated ~ arising from through other
fax acquisiton ~~ Revaluation ~ Withholding ~ comprehensive  Right-of-use
depreciation o subsidiaries  of properties faxes income assefs Others Total
BAYHEE
RO L
WERE AR I\ 74
i ZAVHME  BRER Bl eEEE HMENE L1 it
HE§ 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000
e T #FTr #Tr #FTr #FT #FT #FTH
At Apel 204 REZZWERA-H 705 UI% $54 1,006 333 11491 296 4894
Deferted tax chargedi(credited) to the statement of ~ KEEREXE RN/
profit or loss during the year (nofe [1) (tA) AR (Wit (865) (4,660) (108) (319 - U - (5,928)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of KEER2RUEFER
comprehensive income for the year N EERA - - - - (1,170) = = (1,170)
Exchange realignment Ejie (84) (1,40) - ) (130) (26) 1 (1,489)
(Gross deferred tax liabilites at 31 March 2025 REFCHEZRZE-H
ZEERRARAR 6056 19,033 146 683 203 11489 W W03
Deferred tax assets W %t B %
Losses
available for
Impairment ~ Decelerated offsetting Retirement
of financial tax  against future henefit Lease
assefs  depreciation  taxable profits obligations liabilities Others Total
pLEE v
1) (3 WERA  EREEA Bk
W nE o KHZER B L T it
HES$000 HES000 HES'000 HES'000 HES'000 HE$'000 HES$000
# T # T #W T #Wir #W i # T # T
At April 204 REBZMERA-H 552 2819 26,116 1974 13,043 13m 47476
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the KEERERENTA/
statement of profit or loss during the year (note 11) (W) 2 BEEBE (Ha211) 30 (10) (3.839) 141 153 495 (2,530)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of REERATRGER
comprehensive income for the year M EBERA - - - (%8) = - (%8)
Exchange realignment ERae - - (3,444) u (20 (1) (3444)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2025 R-BZAE=F=1—H
EERESEAR 862 2809 1943 2038 13,176 3,066 41,384
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31. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31. ¥EHEBLIH (4)
2024 TR
Deferred tax liabilities R FiE 58 IE £ 4K
Fair value Financial assets
adjustment at fair value
Accelerated  arising from through other
tax  acquisiionof  Revaluation ~ Withholding ~ comprehensive  Right-of-use
depreciation ~ subsidiaries  of properties taxes income assets Others Total
HATEER
RN LY e
mERE  AdmEE N %4
WE ZAVERE  BEEH BNl cEEE  ERELE LA it
HKS 000 HKS$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS$'000 HKS$ 000 HKS$000
#HFr #HFr #ifr B #hFr #ifr i #hFr
At April 2023 REZZZENA-A §,135 31,155 973 958 1,357 11,393 338 54309
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the REERBEE R %/
statement of profit or loss during the year (#N) ZEEHE
(note 11) (Wit (930) (2,58 (109) 94 - 1,045 - (2443)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of KEBER2TREE
comprehensive income for the year Nz ELHA - - - - 2,242 - - 2,242
Exchange realignment EAHR (200) (3,679) (10) (d6) (260) (947) (42) (5,184)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 March 2024 R-Z-WEZA=F—H
ZEERES AR 7,005 193 854 1,006 3399 11491 296 494
Deferred tax assets E 4E Bl JH
Losses
available for
Decelerated offsetting Retirement
[mpairment of fax  against future benefit Lease
financial assets depreciation  taxable profits obligations liabilities Others Total
AR A
SHkE WERE  ERBEN ik
b4 1 g EHER R s HEAHK i &t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$000 HKS'000
#H T #H T #H T #h T #H T #H T #H T
At April 2023 RZZZZENH—A 993 2497 21,044 229 12,455 1,949 41,230
Defered tax credited/(charged) to the statement ~ AEJE AR FE A/ ()
of profit or loss during the year (nore 11) IR (W) () k) 7863 14 1,660 V| 10,063
Deferred tax charged 1o the statement of AEER2THEER
comprehensive income for the year Nk ELERRA S = - (157) - - (157)
Bxchange realignment Ee (14) = (2,191) (265) (1072) 99) (3,660)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2024 REZZNEZHZ1-H
EERERELR 552 2819 2,716 1974 13,043 237 41416

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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31. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31. ¥EHEBLIH (4)

For presentation purpose, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the

BB > 2 T IERE AL A & F TR
BEAR LA P HRE o 2 1R 1 B 2 8 H Ah i A SR
) 2 98 S 5 A A AT E

Group for financial reporting purposes:

2025 2024
ZRAAR ZR Y4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vidioan
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the R A BB AR R 2
consolidated statement of financial position % %iE B JE & 7 1§ %0 10,810 9,413
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the R &AM BRI EHER
consolidated statement of financial position  #E % F¢ JE £ 5 15 %1 (9,763) (10,861)
Net deferred tax liabilities HE A VE A A 1,047 (1,448)

180

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$205,240,000 (2024: HK$195,830,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has
unrecognised tax losses arising in Mainland China and Japan of
approximately HK$169,558,000 (2024: HK$155,490,000) and
HK$79,108,000 (2024: HK$77,964,000) that will expire in one
to five years and three to ten years, respectively, for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as, in the opinion of the
directors, it is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The
applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

At 31 March 2025, except for the deferred tax recognised for
certain PRC subsidiaries that will distribute dividends, no other
deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China that are subject to withholding
taxes. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$108,370,000 (2024: HK$111,714,000) at 31
March 2025.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

AEBMEEARTHEEZ RBERHAEEELD
205,240,000 7¢ (& - PY4E : 195,830,000
JC) W RR W AR IR Z S M BE R Z AR Z
R ERBGR o REEFAH B PR ARERH
REESHNER-EHER=ZFTERH
A W 5 B TE S 18 49 169,558,000% 08 (= F W
4F 1 155,490,000% JC) }79,108,000% ¢ (=&
Z VU 2 77,964,000% 06 ) A FAE AR H 1% Z HE
PR Vi P o 5% 2 T W 4 S 0 e R 2 O AE B IE
B FERED R ARG E A R MARKE
PR A R R RGBS 4 o

PRI > A58 TR0 e 1 K e ko7 = i Jig 2 ]
“EENFE A -HRBELEZBAMNFIRZ
JBe B Ak FH AN B o A SR 1 A T B R Ay 5 9% 8%
10% -

M-FZHAEZHAZ+—0 BRETH T
TR E S =2 e (2 O R 2 ) T R A B IE A o 3
ok A S )R Hp B O e B oE 2 B R A ) RE A =2
R o R o L T
TH o WRER L » %5 MHE A R AT RS AR K
WEEMIRA AR c R B HAE=A=1+—
H>BRhEREZIHBARZRERRZ
RERBEEHHABR L TR EEZHAG AL
108,370,000% JG (= WY 4 = 111,714,000%
JG) °

A0y VIR M S T M R 2 Ak I A A B A
B 5% B o



32. SHARE CAPITAL

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 it o B

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

32. e AR

Shares BBy
2025 2024
ZRTHAE RIS
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Authorised: R
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000/8 45 fi% T {4
HK$0.10 each 0.10% JG 2 3% 48 B 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BT AR -
380,123,640 (2024: 384,221,640) 380,123,640/8 (=& U4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 384,221,640/8 ) 4 B 1hi {4
0.10%5 0 Z % 48 it 38,012 38,422
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as AN E A SRR R
follows:
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
Vil e B By ¥ H W 728 ) i L
HK$’000
T T
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and B E_Z4AFENH—H
1 April 2024 ZECONEZHAH=Z1+—H K
R ZUEMA—H 384,221,640 38,422
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note) [0l i K O 5185 = B Ay (M 7) (4,098,000) (410)
At 31 March 2025 MN_FZ_HE=H=+—H 380,123,640 38,012

Note:

Wit

The Company purchased 4,122,000 of its ordinary shares on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange at a total consideration of HK$10,600,000, of
which 4,098,000 purchased shares were cancelled during the current
year and the remaining 24,000 purchased shares were yet to be cancelled
but would be cancelled subsequently. The consideration paid on the
repurchase of 24,000 shares not yet cancelled as at 31 March 2025 was
debited to the capital redemption reserve. The total amount paid for the
purchase of the shares cancelled as at 31 March 2025 of HK$410,000
and HK$10,130,000 have been charged to retained profits and the share

premium account of the Company, respectively.

ARy H] BT W I A 38 5 BT i 11 344,122,000/8 % 38
Bt > BEARAE %510,600,000% 76 » F H14,098,000/8 B =
JBe Ay TR ARAE BERESY > 8 F 24,0008 B =1 B4 1 AR
BEA R HETS  R-F_HE=ZA=ZT—HE
[5124,000 ¢ 14 A 585 B4 BT 3 A4 B AR A8 T R A B AR
Bl fEf - ER - F_HAE=ZH=+—HEE# R
A it 32 A A 48 42 %4 10,0003 78 5 10,130,0009 76 2.4
T A AR 2 ] 1 R B da R B B Ay v £ R P B

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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33. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 78 and 79 of the

financial statements.

The Group’s share premium account includes (i) the credit of
HK$19,900,000 which represents the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and the
aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii)
the debit of HK$51,108,000 arising from the repurchase of shares
during the years ended 31 March 2025, 2023, 2015, 2013, 2011
and 2010.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries and the Group’s associates operating as Foreign
Investment Enterprises in Mainland China has been transferred
to the reserve funds. The reserve funds are non-distributable in
nature and can be utilised to offset the losses incurred.

The capital reserve represents the Group’s share of capitalisation

of retained profits by an associate.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s shares

and treasury shares held by the Group.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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33, fili i

A P 7 A P9 B0 A A B A A e LA i A B
BHOE RIS H RTIR Z AR AR B RN 25 o

AR SR [ B O i AR R SRS ¢ ()% $19,900,000%%
JUZHEMRER » JHA A W) OB AT B AS T i B AR 95
— U = A A AT O 2 B e A R 2 B
AT A8 B T 2 258 5 k(i) 51,108,000%
TS TRBEZ A4 R
N ZRHE S DR SE S SR ER
R FEZH =4 B kA R B E
H oo

HLAEAT B A v 15 A 38 B B A ik A > i ACAR
P 7 v R K e DA A7 v 8 S A 3 T AR 2 B i
O3 ) R g O ) R A A L A5 438 4 v A 2 A
AT SRR A B > IR P ARG B A A Z e o

A M A i A A I O A — T A R 2 AR AR
B ¥ A o

A I ok 4 DT A 2 ) JBE 0 AR 8 o B
Be A5 W 5 A B A7 e A 2 A



34.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

34. 34 Bl 4 G 5 Mk
(@) EERBEXS

During the year, the Group had additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$67,539,000
(2024: HK$54,792,000) and HK$67,539,000 (2024:
HK$54,792,000), respectively, in respect of lease

arrangements for property, plant and equipment.

AR AREE R E - R KSR
B2 PR 43 N A G A5 P AR O R B A
67,539,000% JC (=& 94 : 54,792,000
W ot) X67,539,0008 00 (& Y4 ¢

54,792,000 JC)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) WREGE T EAAEZES)
2025 “RIHAR
Lease Interest-bearing
liabilities = bank borrowings
MMM Z
AL £1 4% #7 £
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
At 1 April 2024 BFUENMH—H 255,111 899,225
Changes from financing cash flows il B 4 A B A ) (140,487) 350,572
New leases AL E 67,539 —
Termination of leases #ak M (6,563) =
Reassessment and revision of lease terms T ARAN T B wT R K 41,405 -
Foreign exchange movement e 50, 5 55) (124) 1,275
Interest expense (note 7) BB (M E7) 12,029 46,074
Interest paid classified as operating SRR EHE B &R Z
cash flows [BEER DS (12,029) -
Interest paid classified as financing SEBBMEFEHBERZ
cash flows oA FE - (46,074)
At 31 March 2025 RoBoFEE=H=1—H 216,881 1,251,072

T YA AR A
“E_AFFER

183



184

Notes to Financial Statements

S 285 i o B ik

Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

34.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

M. A B R R R ()

(continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b)  TlE 3G W 9T Ak A 2 BE ) ()
(continued)
2024 ZE A
Lease Interest-bearing
liabilities bank borrowings
HBAT R R Z

L £ AT K

HK$’000 HK$°000

e xi BT
At 1 April 2023 BB ZFEMNA—H 263,620 1,096,174
Changes from financing cash flows RlE B 4 E) (128,097) (156,566)
New leases B 54,792 -
Termination of leases HwILME (5,112) -
Reassessment and revision of lease terms TR AL BB R AL B K 73,566 -
Foreign exchange movement [ 5a, 58 @) (3,658) (40,383)
Interest expense (note 7) F BB 32 (M iE7) 7,553 41,093
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows 433 % & EHE LR Z

[SXE DS (7,553) -
Interest paid classified as financing cash flows SR AEMEFRHBRASRZ
[EXER D - (41,093)

At 31 March 2024 H_E _WEZH=+—H 255,111 899,225

(¢) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

() RIEEZBLLU M AH

HABESRBERAFBEIHEZ B WA

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: BHEIWT ¢
2025 2024
ZRTHAR e S 1t S
HK$’000 HK$’000
i3 BT
Within operating activities AN 51,973 66,991
Within financing activities REET N 140,487 128,097
Total 4t 192,460 195,088

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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35. COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

The Group had the following contractual commitments at

the end of the reporting period:

35. 7RI

(a) ARHBEPHEHRZ GHREDT

2025 2024

ZRB AR ZRIA

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Property, plant and equipment LERN Y] 1,155 1,810

In addition, the Group had the following commitments
provided to joint ventures (including the Group’s share of
commitments made jointly with other joint venturers), which

are not included in the above:

BEAb > ACHR B IR i) 5 A SE PR DL R ORI (B
5 A4 [ B AL At £ A S () AR 008 P A D)
% SR IEAR WA LA R R

2025 2024
ZR AR ZR Y4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT o
Commitments in respect of capital M E TR ST
contribution to the investment private fund AR 31,553 40,121

The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 March 2025. Nil (2024: HK$3,124,000)
future lease payments for these non-cancellable
lease contracts due within one year, and nil (2024:
HK$4,546,000) due in the second to fifth years, inclusive.

b)) AEEARETHR _F_HLHE=ZH=1—
H i oA B4R WAL B A 40 o 3% RN WT B AL
BORHZREMENZZEBIC (2T
A 2 3,124,000% 00) H I — W AT R=E
Wt (B U4 : 4,546,000 50 ) H
TEBHAE (BB RWAE) XA

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed

elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

36. A LR Y

(a) O 45 B 5 o S At b Oy P sl 2 22 5
REERAL > AR ARG I B L B 2 A RT LT

the following material transactions with its related parties FIERR 5 :
during the year:
2025 2024
R ONAE R4
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
M 7t BT Vit an
Associates: W AT
Purchases of goods W& 5 @) 324,448 362,863
Sales of goods 8B B (ii) 1,896 1,774
Promotion expenses reimbursed W& A w R R
by associates =LY (iii) 21,418 25,416
Rental income AR A (iv) 2,039 1,744
Subsidiaries of a substantial AREMEERRZ
shareholder of the Group: itk g 2w
Sales of goods BEE 5 (v) 1,162 1,139
Purchases of goods HEEE 5 (vi) 2,839 1,647
Marketing service expense 28 RS BH 32 (vii) 1,946 1,640
Consignment commission income FEMHEWA (viii) 573 617
Rental expenses FH 4 BH 32 (ix) 678 805
Handling income Ji BRI A (x) = 319
Purchase of items of property, WEWE - WEK
plant and equipment wEEE (xi) 2,800 -

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a) (continued)

Notes:

®

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The cost of purchases from associates was made at pre-
determined prices agreed between the parties.

The selling prices of the goods sold to associates were
determined by reference to prices and conditions similar to
those offered to other major customers.

The promotion expenses reimbursed by associates were
determined by reference to the costs incurred by the Group.

The rental income from an associate was determined between
the Group and the associate.

The selling prices of the goods sold to subsidiaries of a
substantial shareholder of the Group were determined by
reference to prices and conditions similar to those offered to
the major customers.

The cost of purchases from subsidiaries of a substantial
shareholder of the Group was made at pre-determined prices
agreed between the parties.

The marketing service expense was determined between the
Group and the subsidiary of the substantial shareholder of the
Group on normal commercial terms.

(viii) The consignment commission income was determined

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

The

between the Group and the subsidiaries of the substantial
shareholder of the Group on normal commercial terms.

The tenancy agreements were entered into with the
subsidiaries of the substantial shareholder of the Group
on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be extended and
renewed until terminated by either party.

The handling income was determined between the Group and
a subsidiary of the substantial shareholder of the Group on
normal commercial terms.

The purchase of items of property, plant and equipment from

the subsidiary of the substantial shareholder of the Group was
agreed between parties.

related party transactions in respect of items (v) to

(x) above constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the
amounts in respect of items (v) to (x) are below de minimis
threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing

Rules, items (v) to (x) are fully exempt from shareholders’

approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements

under the Listing Rules.

36. BN LR 5 (%)

() TG A VR 2 SR A T AR T 45 TS
i A Z AR A T A

(i) 1T O A B A R i 2 SRS 2 IR A
FEE P Z B A R R

(i) HBh 2 Al B IR B S T R AR AR [ 2
W22 5 A HEAE o

(v) 2B 4 T 2 LS WO T v A 4R [ SR
BN EAE

() FAEE LB Z WA RS
VAR IRk Y (VL E )3
WAk HE -

(vi) AR AR B 3 ORI 8 W R R
A TR RT 4 75 TG R E AR AR T FHEAE o

(vii) 5 8 RS B 32 77 P AR 4% ) LA 48 3
N WO I 2 ) 45— I T SR AR B E o

(viii) A7 E I B MO T by A 4 P B A A0 ) o 2 i
2 W I 2 R 45— f v SRR R o

(x) L T e 7 o A 44 0 2 I o I )
M B W) TR Z RTS8 o AHA T DLRE R K
HHE BT —J5 &1k o

(x) BB phy AR 452 () B A 4 T 2 R AR A —
T B G A ) i R T 6 P SRR o

(xi) I AR ) o B R 2 A Jag 2 ) R A 3
% e B i M L B T3 REET #048J5 B o

EXEWEEZ AN+ 5
THRAE 4AE TR EZFHERER S -
7 55 (V) F (x)TH Z 4 BRI vk Al A6
14A. 760 Z B AR # K PR > B E
()T 2 i A0 S bl BRI R 2 B
e ~ AR PR B KA BB HLE o

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group’s trade balances with its associates at
the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 28 to

the financial statements.

(¢) Commitments with related parties:

On 1 September 2024, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into one-year agreement with an associate, to lease the
Group’s investment property in Mainland China to that
associate. Details of the undiscounted lease payment
receivable are disclosed in note 15 to the financial

statements.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the

36. BN LR 5 (%)

(b) B BN 22 0 R R A B

TR AKHE ] 2 B A T 5 A B
FE B A A M 28 B R o

(c) BLBHEA 127K :

/S 11 K 51 1 Rl & B N/ Rl il
O3 ) B — [ 2 W T S AR bk > DA
HhRELAS 5 0 v O e 2 4 3 T % T
Bl o A7 B EOR B B B Ak AN
7 B 2 i o7 B R 159 o

(d) AR AR ZHM :

Group:
2025 2024
R ONAE R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Short term employee benefits 55 08 B 1A 18,347 17,891
Pension scheme contributions RAR 4 T3 4t 3% 213 206
Total 5 18,560 18,097

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial

statements.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

37. &M T H2 %8

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

PHEBIAR > AR e THZIRTENT

2025 TR HAE
Financial assets SV
Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
Financial assets at fair value /A FHEE
through profit or loss b2 w2
A FHE B H Mkz
NEZ & ¥ SHEE
Designated Financial
assuch  Mandatorily assets at
upon initial designated Equity amortised
recognition as such investments cost Total
B A
TR B [} £4
G Wbk g Wa Y SHWE st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HKS$000
W T #W T #W T #W T #W T
Trade receivables T B 50 ek - - - 592,404 592,404
Financial assets included in prepayments, AHFREMNHE T2 R
deposits and other recervables ik sz A g - - = 166,769 166,769
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATFHBERESEARZ
SHEE 2,800 97,775 - - 100,575
Financial assets at fair value through other BATHERE b2 T RS
comprehensive income AEZ &G E - - 24,877 - 24,877
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEEA - - - 631,977 631,977
Total Mt 2,800 97,775 24877 1,391,150 1,516,602
Financial liabilities 4 SR
Financial

liabilities at
amortised cost

9 ¥ 8% S i B
ZE A%
HK$’000
BT

Financial liabilities included in trade payables, LG A AT B 5 MRk ~ At A kI
other payables and accruals B 2 ) =2 4 b A 440,034
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH AT R B Z BRAT A B 1,251,072
Lease liabilities L &% 216,881
Total Ha st 1,907,987

T YA AR A
“E_AFFER
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

2024

Financial assets

37. & TR 2 5 ()

SR
7l

Financial assets

at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
Financial assets at fair value WA THBR
through profit or loss b2 mlss
WA TFHER RS N >4
MNEZ R HE B THEE
Designated Financial
as such Mandatorily assets at
upon initial designated Equity amortised
recognition as such investments cost Total
/3 35117
TR0 6 2 Rz
iy d il E HERRY B at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
BT BRTT EWFI e BN T
Trade receivables TE W 5k - - - 625,047 625,047
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits OHRRERRE T4 R
and other receivables AR HZ A RE - - - 123,228 123,228
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss EAFHERBESEARZ
SMEE 7,888 73,081 - - 80,969
Financial assets at fair value through other BATHER A2 W s
comprehensive income ANEZ &g E - - 16,515 - 16,515
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHSFHEH - - - 625,940 625,940
Total @t 7,888 73,081 16,515 1,374,215 1,471,699
Financial liabilities 4 i £
Financial

liabilities at
amortised cost

92 4 G AT
Z R
HKS$’000
BT T

Financial liabilities included in trade payables, BEEI AT B 5 MRk ~ Al JE A k0
other payables and accruals BB 2 4 il 464,476
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH AR Z SRAT B K 899,255
Lease liabilities MERME 255,111
Total At 1,618,842
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38, Ak T H.2 AV %A R

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income were carried at fair value.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in trade payables, other payables and accruals and
interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these

instruments or with floating interest rates.

The Group’s finance team is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The finance team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the executive directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and

annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced

or liquidation sale.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted

market prices.

The fair values of school and club debentures are based on

market observable transactions.

ACHR ) 2 A PB4 AR 2 S b A
TN (725 08 A 2 i W 2 A\ MR = 4 i DA
AFAAFI -

P AR RE A > R A B L A A B
BB IFH ARG R > B kBESHEEA -
JE WA BT 2 Mk~ B R TR RO~ R 4 S A
FE WK IE < 4 b - LS A B 5 MR
Al 8 A R I e M T U6 < < i L R LB
IS Z SRAT A B 04 2 P K B b B R v e A

b

ﬁo

7SR [0 B 2 R I TR A i L P
HAEOR KRR o BB KB B W AT E S &
AT BT M o R H 0 B I X
o3 M 4o i R P A B o Sl e A E P A
P 2 B AL o Ak Fl AT B T B St ol
Al (603 2 % 5 SR A TS P 0 M 2 A B 5
R B AL & B oL o

S E KRR AP TR E AL S
7 (i 5 78 i M ) T2 5 T T A2
AL -

v i G P DA T 3 AR A R

B B T P R B P DL AT L T 5 28 5
HeiE -

T YA AR A
“E_REER
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

192

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair value of the insurance premium classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy which is measured based on
significant unobservable inputs and has been estimated based
on the surrender value of the insurance. The fair value of the
insurance premium is mainly affected by its surrender value as
the directors expected the other unobservable inputs such as
insurance risk would not have a significant impact on the fair
value of the insurance premium. The surrender value of the
insurance premium was obtained from the insurance company
without any adjustment. The directors believe that the estimated
fair value and the related changes in fair values are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of
the reporting period. In the opinion of the directors, since the
quantitative unobservable inputs are not developed by the Group
when measuring fair value of the insurance premium and the
quantitative unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair
value measurement are not reasonably available to the Group,
the Group is not required to create quantitative information to
disclose the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement under HKFRS 13.93(d).

The fair value of the securities income fund is based on the fair
value of the underlying investment portfolio provided by the fund

manager.

The fair value of the fund wraps is based on the price quoted by
brokers.

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss has been estimated using a discounted cash
flow model. The valuation requires management to make certain
assumptions about the model inputs, including forecast cash
flows, discount rate, credit rate and volatility. The probabilities of
the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed
and are used in management’s estimates of the fair value.

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income has been estimated by
reference to the issued prices of recent transactions.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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R o IRBRE B AR A B PRBR 2 R
o> REEATHEE - FEHB L > 5HEAFH K
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the

valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

3&&%1%2&?@&&¥ﬁ%ﬁ

s

UTHREZA=Z+T—HEEmMTAMEZER
A ] BB 5% s A\ AL T ) R AR B O3 i 2 B

sensitivity analysis as at 31 March:

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value
technique unobservable input Value to the input
M 5% EAATBEBAME B B PR MA 2 BB
Unlisted equity Discounted cash Discount rate 2025: 14% 5% increase in discount rate will result in

investment at fair value  flow model

through profit or loss

EAVFEERBBR AR MBB WA
fy 2 L i 2 4

Unlisted equity Market approach
investment at fair
value through other

comprehensive income

TATFHEERIA
R i 2 A KR 9
e L a5 4 B

i 55

BB

Discount for lack of

marketability

2 1 B

Issued price of recent
transactions

I3 5 B AT

(2024: 16%)

ZERTE  14%
(ZEZNE  16%)

2025: 30%
(2024: 30%)

TR 30%
(ZZR 4 2 30%)

2025: HK$1.084
(2024: Nil) per share

ZROHHE:
15 1,084 7T
(ZRNE )

decrease in fair value by approximately
HK$324,000 and 5% decrease in discount
rate will result in increase in fair value by
approximately HK$324,000

B 550 S 9ot 2 B0 A1 #0324,000
VETE o T B BU A S %ol 2B B AT 8
#1324,000% 7C

5% increase in discount for lack of
marketability will result in decrease in fair
value by approximately HK$74,000 and 5%
decrease in discount for lack of marketability
will result in increase in fair value by
approximately HK$45,000

I 2 708 B O B 48 5 9 s SR BT
#174,0009 7C » Tk 2 108 84 1 B 5%
B M #145,0009 7T

5% increase in issued price of recent
transactions will result in increase in fair
value by approximately HK$813,000 and 5%
decrease in issued price of recent transactions
will result in decrease in fair value by
approximately HK$813,000

W32 5 0 BEAT L0 IS 0ot S B0 T B
M #1813,0009 75 » T 42 11 28 5 ) 58 47 Rl
5% BB T #1813,0003 7T

T YA AR A
“E_REER

193



- Notes to Financial Statements

S 285 i o B ik

Year ended 31 March 2025 B2 _F _HAEZA=+—HILEE

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2025

BT
T SR A 4 T B0 24 A

e 2T B ¢

REZFZHF=H=+—H

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2025 using

BEFTHEZAZ 4 HZA T RRA

AN B 2 SRS

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
i X EXAT
il 35 3 B A L 24 IN i
(%—H) (%=H) (%=H) At
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000
#W T #W T T #W T
Financial assets at fair value through BAFHER b2
other comprehensive income: Wt A MR 2 4 b
Listed equity investments L g 8,617 - - 8,617
Unlisted equity investments FEHHERRE - = 16,260 16,260
Financial assets at fair value through A TEBRRAR AR
profit or loss: B E
Listed equity investments L& 83,688 - - 83,688
Unlisted equity investments FEH R R - - 2,800 2,800
School debenture BR R - 4,650 - 4,650
Club debentures R R - 1,200 - 1,200
Fund wraps Bedls - 294 - 294
Securities income fund Febd % - 7,943 - 7,943
Total At 92,305 14,087 19,060 125,452
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ANNUAL REPORT 2025




Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 it o B

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE B _HAEZA=1+—HILEE

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38. A iph T H 22 A PH B A P28 R
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%8)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AV R (4)
As at 31 March 2024 RZEZPE=H=4+—H

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2024 using

REZRZNEZA =~ HZ AP RRA

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

i o PN HRAT

i 55 B BB BEaAE
(%—) (GEZJg) (=) Fisk
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

EH T EH T EH T T

Financial assets at fair value through WA TFHE R

other comprehensive income: Woti Ak 2 AT 2

Listed equity investments bR RE 16,515 - - 16,515
Financial assets at fair value through BAFHEBRBEARZ

profit or loss: SMEE

Listed equity investments FHERRE 58,701 - - 58,701

Unlisted equity investments JE R RE - - 7,888 7,888

School debenture BRER - 4,650 - 4,650

Club debentures & 2% - 1,200 - 1,200

Fund wraps bt ke - 295 - 295

Securities income fund B A - 8,237 - 8,237
Total gt 75216 14,382 7,888 97,486
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair MR HAEZHAZT—H > A 5 AT
value as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). HAPER B2 SR A (SR 4E ) -

P £ AR 2
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38.

39.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation for financial assets carried at fair value based on

significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as follows:

38, i L H 2 AV B A PR
(%)
B PSR (5
HRR R A W B A (=) B AT
AR Z 4 b A 2 HIRESI T -

Equity investment
at fair value Equity investment

through other at fair value

comprehensive through

income profit and loss

WA FHIE B %A CFIE B

JC i 2 i B¢ 2 A MR #HaEAMRZ

ZHEa B Bl 2 B

HK$’000 HK$°000

W T o BT T

At 1 April 2023 W_E_=4NH—H - 17,979

Disposal of insurance premium R B2 H - (525)

Remeasurement of unlisted equity investment i 5l B IE b1l BE 35 & = (9,500)

Exchange realignment [ 58, 7 % - (66)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 W OWE=ZHA=+—H K&

SRTPENA —H - il

Investment in equity investment BHERRERRE 16,260 =

Remeasurement of unlisted equity investment 5 i 5l B IE b 1l BE 35 0 & - (5,049)

Exchange realignment [ i, i 8 - (39)

At 31 March 2025 MN_FZ_HHE=H=+—H 16,260 2,800

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, trade payables and other payables, and lease
liabilities which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.
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39. SV 75 L B 4% BI H B B 8 (7))

(continued)

Interest rate risk ) B

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest AR 4R B 28 R0 i 3 R R A A 2 e B A AR
rates relates primarily to the Group’s short and long term debt LR E ARG B E A R EH S A -
obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using variable A 42 ) B SR P T ) R A A 5 A B R R

rate debts, which is regularly reviewed by senior management.

A s 3 p R AR A B S BT AR A o

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably T 2R A A A [ 2 R iR A (O A VR BN K
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held P B2 2B ) T AR 45 ) B £ 3R 3R 2 5 BT RE A Y
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on (s HAb w5 R R M de A58 ) 2 UK -

floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis points before tax in equity*
£ 31 B BE i 6k A B g+
Bm/(W4)  Hm/ (RA)  Hm/ (85)
HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT BY T
2025 SRR
Hong Kong dollar ot 25 (1,934) -
Japanese yen H &l 25 (697) -
RMB NG 25 (41) -
Hong Kong dollar ot (25) 1,934 -
Japanese yen H & (25) 697 =
RMB N (25) 41 -

T YA AR A
“E_AFFER
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

39. SV 75 L B 4% BI H B B 8 (7))

(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) 3 B (4)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis points before tax in equity*
HE B I A I 6 ) HE 25
B/ CwA) B (A B, ()
HK$’000 HK$’000
B W For oo
2024 —Z LR
Hong Kong dollar ot 25 (1,331) -
Japanese yen H &l 25 (1,043) -
RMB NE# 25 (20) -
Hong Kong dollar ot (25) 1,331 -
Japanese yen H &l (25) 1,043 -
RMB N (25) 20 -
*  Excluding retained profits * LG R B

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currency. The Group’s monetary

assets, financing and transactions are principally denominated in

Hong Kong dollar, Japanese yen and RMB.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Japanese yen and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and equity (due to

changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. Sk 5 B B 4 B B R BOSRE (A)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) A B JRl B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in rate before tax in equity*
[ 3 B3 B Wi 5 A B A
B,/ (84)  ¥m/ (WA B/ (H4)
% HKS$’000 HKS$’000
B W For oo
2025 - e K
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens P TN EEE
against Japanese yen 1 (1,612) =
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens Ve 0 5 N R 59 3
against RMB 1 2,304 -
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens At b H Bl 5 A
against Japanese yen 1 1,612 =
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens EER T N L
against RMB (0V) (2,304) -
2024 R
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens oo i H A3 E
against Japanese yen 1 (1,525) -
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens Fon i N R 5
against RMB 1 2,132 -
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens W0 5 H [E i 3
against Japanese yen (1) 1,525 -
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens o0 i N R il 3
against RMB (D (2,132) -
& Excluding retained profits N AEERE A

P £ AR 2
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. SV 75 L B 4% BI H B B 8 (7))

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing

1 £ e B

A B M B A R ORE BT SRR P AT R
By o IR M Z B » A B AR AT
RHWEF > bASBBEEGERET - It
Bb > ACHR I 2 B R A R 2 A DL > T AR

basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. P - SR g i A H K o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging It A B e A 4% B

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross

carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2025

T RMBIE R ALE W ERBORNERERE R
e R AR B B o IR R (BRI A
R A S A R B B ) W DL
B » RIR=H =+ — HEA BB -
Fiv 22 3 PR A R 4 A 4 Tl O 19 A MR T -

REEHAEZA=1T—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12/ A
N
i SR 2 39 B8 £ SRR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
WREB W RIBR BERB fiiifb i Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BWTC BWTIT B¥TIT B¥FTT B¥FTIT
Trade receivables* HE W & 5 B ik + = = = 597,426 597,426
Financial assets included in FEATA RIE - 5T &K
prepayments, deposits and JL il JE Wik T 2
other receivables 4 il R
— Normal*# — IF f* 166,769 - - - 166,769
Cash and cash equivalents B&ERB&FEEE
— Not yet past due — I A 7 631,977 - - - 631,977
Total A5k 798,746 = = 597,426 1,396,172
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. W5 M Be 4% BEL OB R BOSR (7))
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) i £E B (48
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) 15t A B D A A B (B
As at 31 March 2024 W _Z_WE=ZH=1—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 H
I
fHRHEE 2 W S SR R
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

BoRB BRSO RERR fiifb ik Rt
HK$°000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$°000  HKS$000
BT BT W T BN Tor BETT

Trade receivables* HE W & 5 g ke - - - 628,205 628,205
Financial assets included in FEATHA ZKIE ~ 5T &K
prepayments, deposits and other Ho At E WK T 2
receivables 4 b
— Normal** — JE o 123,228 - - - 123,228
Cash and cash equivalents B& kB 4&FEEE
— Not yet past due — I A 381 9 625,940 - - - 625,940
Total At 749,168 - - 628,205 1,377,373
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * Tk A 4 [ S 9k 11 A 3 v R K BE ) MR R T
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix T oo B A R Y EORE A B S 0k M R34
is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements. e
#%  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, w o FEANTEATERIE ~ BT 4 K b M WOk TE I 4 b
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when FE P AR 8 301 e % I 4 R B e 1 A 4 e R DA
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the 2R 11 i B T B AT KR B B % A 4 L A Y
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial HREEBGEATER] - BRI > ZEEMEE
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is MERERWE S RE] -
considered to be “doubtful”.
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to AEEPFE A EKRYE SESESREZSHME

credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 23 B Pl 3 BB R B 23 o
to the financial statements.

P £ AR 2
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. The
Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2025

39. SV 75 L B 4% BI H B B 8 (7))

i B 2 4 B B

ACER [0 725 30 R P AR R e ) TR B
B A R B o b LB B R L TR R
Sl A (o HE W RE B ek ) B2 Rk E AR
BB MY B R o ALENHELERE
8 8 ZE B A Z SR AT B e LB R o R

R UAT A0 R B K » DT 81 A 4 1
WK 2 G LGB B

BEZ-HEZH =+ HILERE

On demand
or less than 1to5 Over
12 months years 5 years Total
W BR
Ak 12 H 15542 WS4 M
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BYWTC #WTIEX EBWTIC #B¥FT
Financial liabilities included in 55 7 e B 5 MR K
trade payables, other payables Al JRE A5 2k JEL %
and accruals JE ST AR 2 4 il 440,034 = = 440,034
Lease liabilities MEAH 126,466 118,510 4,426 249,402
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B Z SR AT &k 986,904 271,231 = 1,258,135
Total A 1,553,404 389,741 4,426 1,947,571
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39, B s b B 4% B H BE B R (48)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) L ) 4 R B (A

Year ended 31 March 2024 BRE_F_WE=H=+—HILHEE

On demand
or less than lto5 Over
12 months years 5 years Total
R EOR
A 1248 H 1254 R SAF k|
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT EWTFoL EW T WL
Financial liabilities included in 355 7 M A B2 5 MR
trade payables, other payables Al JE A5} K JE K
and accruals HE St £16% 2 4l £ 6 464,476 - - 464,476
Lease liabilities ME A H 125,267 144,052 4,497 273,816
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH SR B Z SR AT Bk 665,580 235,634 - 901,214
Total #EE 1,255,323 379,686 4,497 1,639,506
Equity price risk Be 2 1 K Jl, B

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (note 25) and financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income (note 21) as at 31 March 2025.

If the prices of the respective listed equity investments
had been 3% higher/lower, with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s profit after tax for the year would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK$2,096,000 (2024:
HK$1,470,000), while the Group’s equity at the end of the year
would have increased/decreased by approximately HK$170,000
(2024: HK$326,000) as a result of the changes in the fair value
of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and the changes in the fair value of the Group’s financial assets at

fair value through other comprehensive income, respectively.

I S5% M A% L e A 4 K1 P i K ~F B M ) i o
Z A5 ) T A BORE 25 T R 4 T fH AR L
o RFBZHAZA=Z+T—H o AEEARZ
PR B0 A 5 o P28 0 4E 2 AR 2 il o (A
RE25) B # OA SF- M 725 3% HC At 2 TG W 2 MR 2 4
e A (PR k21 ) < {1 o A 2 43 8 i 5 | 80 e 5 A
A% JE B

i 45 bl R AR B Z A WA 3% >
b v 588 PR K AR AN > AR AR [ 2 ARAE B R BEAR
i ) 1 4 S0 R A A T R A R P EE IR AR 2
AR 1 4 R A 2 A P A A B R R A T B
F At 2 TG W 25 A BR A A R A F A )
i 34 m 98D #12,096,0009 76 (& T PULE
1,470,000 JC ) S A< 55 [ i 42 i Z B 25 34~
WA #1170,000% 7C (ZF Z P94 : 326,000%
JG) o

T YA AR A
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, issue new shares or repurchase shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable to
the equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end

of the reporting periods were as follows:

39. SV 75 L B 4% BI H B B 8 (7))

HAEH

ACHR M A B R R AR AC SR A R
3 AR A R S5 DR ) T A A AR
Vo 3R DL S 7 S0 S 0 e RAG B R AE i -

A 5 1 L2 280 P R A1 2 S A A B R AR A5 I
VAR BE o o #E F olO B S AC A M 5 A 4R 0 T
B ROR Z IR ~ FATH I g Tl e Ay o A K
ERCHAFEAZTHE SR INEES
Zh—HIREER > BAEEZ HEE - BURSK
PR S B ) -

ACHE 0 R E AR R DU A > MR
R P B 2 BRAT K Bk DA AR 2 W 5 i A %
A 1 25 T 14 B R o 0 400 AR b 6 ol e A A
JEERIRA o REGEIR » AREA RN

2025 2024

ZR AR ZRIA

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT Vedioun

Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B Z BRAT B K 1,251,072 899,225
Equity attributable to equity holders B0 S AR A R RE 25 I A B I RE 25

of the Company 1,197,129 1,223,618

Gearing ratio AEE AR H 105% 73%
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
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POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

40. A 2y il 2 3 851K DL

TP AR A B AR 2 ] B R L A < RS

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: W :
2025 2024
ZRB AR TR
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik 8 B ¥t e
Investments in subsidiaries TS A E 2 G 143,098 143,098
Financial assets at fair value through WA T EBEBRBERARY
profit or loss 4 il A 77 94
Deferred tax assets A 90 A 1,105 1,105
Total non-current assets F IR B B A 144,280 144,297
CURRENT ASSETS R ) %
Due from subsidiaries JRE WAe R ) A ] 771,317 764,872
Prepayments and other receivables FE AT 3k TE B At E Wt 3k TH 25,167 25,154
Cash and bank balances B4 R SRAT &5 17 1,173 1,640
Total current assets A AR 797,657 791,666
CURRENT LIABILITIES it ) £ 4%
Due to subsidiaries JRE A i i 2 ] 637,460 616,355
Accruals REFF & E 3,451 4,877
Total current liabilities i B £ A AR 640,911 621,232
NET CURRENT ASSETS R ) % U 156,746 170,434
Net assets G AR 301,026 314,731
EQUITY HE 23
Issued capital CEE AT B AR 38,012 38,422
Reserves (note) fEHE (M E) 263,014 276,309
Total equity WE 25 4844 301,026 314,731

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen £ !
Director # %

WU Wing Biu #J &8
Director #HH

P £ AR 2
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

40. A 2 i) 2 3 B 5IR Bi A ()

(continued)
Note: Mfak :
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR T ZHBEELF -
Share Capital
premium redemption Retained
account reserve profits Total
¥k
JBe 33 ¥k A e I Il i A PR 18 i Hsk
HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
bidi o BT BT Vidi e
At 1 April 2023 REFZ=4HMA—H 233,031 1,534 47,764 282,329
Total comprehensive income AR P 48 2 I 2
for the year - - 30,482 30,482
Final 2023 dividend ZRIEZFERBIBE L - - (24,974) (24,974)
Interim 2024 dividend R PR R - - (11,528) (11,528)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R TR PHUE=H=+—H K&
TR TYAENH—H 233,031 1,534 41,744 276,309
Total comprehensive income AR 4 2 i 2
for the year - - 33,335 33,335
Repurchase of shares i ] A (10,130) 350 (410) (10,190)
Final 2024 dividend declared BRI AR R - - (24,974) (24,974)
Interim 2025 dividend ZERIAF PR - - (11,466) (11,466)
At 31 March 2025 W -HEZA=Z+—H 222,901 1,884 38,229 263,014

The Company’s share premium account includes (i) the credit
of HK$53,719,000 which represents the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) the debit of
HK$51,108,000 arising from the repurchase of shares during the
years ended 31 March 2025, 2023, 2015, 2013, 2011 and 2010.
Under the Company Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, a
distribution may be made from the share premium account in

certain circumstances.

The difference between the share premium account of the
Company and that of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries and their combined net assets acquired, pursuant to
the group reorganisation in 1993, as detailed above.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of

the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s shares.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AR 24 7] B e R MR AL G () 4% #453,719,000% 76
ZHEMRAE > JIA A B OB AT AR Z T BLAR 9%
—hWAEFEEEARTREZMEARZE
P 2 16 W o T 2 25 80 5 J(ii)51,108,0009%
TCZMEH > IINBRE _F _HE S “EF =
s TR R DR EE S R R
TR -FEZH =1 Bk AE R B
Ao ARERPH RS A E S (BIERT) - TS
DL AT A JBe 4y i A R b AR AT B4R o

VARSI NE L B R e WAR S
=R EEA > W B SCR  AiZ
Wi J 2 ) < T A T i AR R B A S 2 A B
fE 2 291 -

A R I ok A D DA 2 ) JBE A AR 8 R B
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COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2(b), due to the implementation
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 during the current year, the
presentation and disclosures of certain items and balances in the
financial statements have been revised to comply with the new
requirements. Accordingly, certain comparative amounts have
been restated to conform with the current year’s presentation and

disclosures.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 27 June 2025.

41. W] Jofgs % 2

HTHBREFCERS B URAAFEEZE
F1J5 K o $MEEE2.2(b) B bt > dRARAE B T i
HWE RS (BTA) » MBEHRENE
TIH B R A8 i 2 50 i i i T AR A8 T DL AE
WRLE o NIk > CEFE T MBI AR &
AAE B 25 J e 55 o

42, Y 5 o 2 b

AMBERECR -FZ_HAENH -+ LHEE
B At ol Sl A T B

T YA AR A
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Particulars of Properties
BTSN

31 March 2025 2 _HAE=HA=1+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location Use

i B ik

Bk

Tenure

A0

Percentage of
attributable
interest of
the Group

74 455 180 A
L E-Yipidia

Levels 1 and 2 (West Portion) Industrial
of Four Seas Group Guangdong
Headquarter Building Complex,
Yuepu South Industrial Zone,
Shantou, Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
LI IN BT T3
i 58 il BE T H R 3K
7O Y 4 B R A AR
Ao B KM — g e M (W )

Miyata No. 2 Building, Residential
1-31-11 Kinshi, Sumida-ku,
Tokyo, Japan

EHSEORE g
HACHOS # 38 F X B R 1T H31-11

Nagoya Center, Industrial
1-197 Hira, Nishi-ku,
Nagoya City, Aichi, Japan

Hl B T%
A 5 0 0 4 B T P X BB R 1-197
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Medium term lease

THIALA

Medium term lease

IR

Freehold land

IRAERE 3

100

100

100

100

100

100
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